Phil Norrey
Chief Executive

To:

County Hall
Topsham Road
Exeter
Devon
EX2 4QD

The Chair and Members of the
Cabinet

(See below)
Your ref :
Our ref :

Date : 6 March 2018
Please ask for : Karen Strahan, 01392 382264

Email: karen.strahan@devon.gov.uk
:

CABINET
Wednesday, 14th March, 2018
A meeting of the Cabinet is to be held on the above date at 10.30 am in the Committee Suite - County
Hall to consider the following matters.
P NORREY
Chief Executive

AGENDA
PART I - OPEN COMMITTEE
1

Apologies for Absence

2

Minutes
Minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2018 (previously circulated).

3

Items Requiring Urgent Attention
Items which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered at the meeting as matters of urgency.

4

Announcements

5

Petitions

6

Question(s) from Members of the Council

FRAMEWORK DECISION
NIL

KEY DECISIONS
7

Budget Monitoring: Month 10 (Pages 1 - 4)
Report of the County Treasurer (CT/18/03) on Budget Monitoring and the Month 10 position,
attached.
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

8

Flood Risk Management Action Plan – Update on the current year’s programme and approval of
schemes and proposed investment in 2018/19 (Pages 5 - 16)
Report of the Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment (PTE/18/8) on the Flood Risk
Management Action Plan 2018/2018, attached.
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

9

Strategic Review of Special Educational Needs Provision (Pages 17 - 122)
Report of the Head of Education and Learning (CS/18/10) on the Review of Special Educational
Needs Provision, attached.
Also attached is an Impact Assessment.
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

10

Sponsorship of Highway Assets (Pages 123 - 142)
Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste (HIW/18/17), on a
proposed policy for sponsorship and advertising on Highway assets and associated infrastructure,
attached.
An Impact Assessment is also attached.
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

11

Department for Transport Consultation on Proposals for the Creation of a Major Road Network:
Devon County Council response (Pages 143 - 158)
Report of the Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment (PTE/18/9) which provided a
proposed consultation response to the Department for Transport’s proposals for the creation of a
Major Road Network. It also outlined the desirability for the formation of a South West Peninsula
Sub-National Transport Body (STB), attached.
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

12

Health and Care Integration in Devon (Pages 159 - 166)
Report of the Chief Executive (ACH/18/81) on Health and Care Integration in Devon, attached.
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

MATTERS REFERRED
13

Notice(s) of Motion referred from Council (Minute 81 and 82 of 15 February 2018) (Pages 167 170)
Report of the County Solicitor (CSO/18/11) on the Notices of Motion referred to the Cabinet by the
County Council on 15 February 2018, incorporating relevant briefing notes to facilitate the
Cabinet’s discussion of the matters raised.
(a) Accountable Care Systems; and
(b) Sunset for the Royal Marines and Future Resilience
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

STANDING ITEMS
14

Question(s) from Members of the Public

15

Minutes (Pages 171 - 182)

Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

Minutes of the bodies shown below are circulated herewith for information or endorsement as indicated
therein:
Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education – 6 February 2018
Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee - 7 February 2018
Farms Estate – 12 February 2018
[NB: Minutes of County Council Committees are published on the Council’s Website:
Minutes of the Devon Education (Schools) Forum:
Minutes of the South West Waste Partnership
Minutes of the Devon & Cornwall Police & Crime Panel
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

16

Delegated Action/Urgent Matters (Pages 183 - 184)
The Registers of Decisions taken by Members under the urgency provisions or delegated powers
will be available for inspection at the meeting in line with the Council’s Constitution and Regulation
13 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012. A summary of such decisions taken since the last meeting is
attached.
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

17

Forward Plan (Pages 185 - 192)
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Cabinet is requested to review the list of
forthcoming business (previously circulated) and to determine which items are to be defined as key
and/or framework decisions and included in the Plan from the date of this meeting.
[NB:
The
Forward
Plan
is
available
on
the
Council's
http://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=133&RD=0&bcr=1 ]

website

Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

PART II - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
NIL

at:

Notice of all items listed above have been included in the Council’s Forward Plan for the required period,
unless otherwise indicated. The Forward Plan is published on the County Council's website.
Notice of the decisions taken by the Cabinet will be sent by email to all Members of the Council within 2
working days of their being made and will, in the case of key decisions, come into force 5 working days after
that date unless 'called-in' or referred back in line with the provisions of the Council's Constitution. The
Minutes of this meeting will be published on the Council's website, as indicated below, as soon as possible.
Members are reminded that Part II Reports contain confidential information and should therefore be treated
accordingly. They should not be disclosed or passed on to any other person(s).
Members are also reminded of the need to dispose of such reports carefully and are therefore invited to
return them to the Democratic Services Officer at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal.

Membership
Councillors J Hart (Chair), S Barker, J Clatworthy, R Croad, A Davis, S Hughes, A Leadbetter, J McInnes and
B Parsons
Cabinet Member Remits
Councillors Hart (Policy & Corporate), Barker (Economy & Skills), Clatworthy (Resources & Asset Management),
Croad (Community, Public Health, Transportation & Environmental Services), Davis (Infrastructure Development
& Waste), S Hughes (Highway Management), Leadbetter (Adult Social Care & Health Services), McInnes
(Children’s Services & Schools) and Parsons (Organisational Development & Digital Transformation)
Declaration of Interests
Members are reminded that they must declare any interest they may have in any item to be considered at this
meeting, prior to any discussion taking place on that item.
Access to Information
Any person wishing to inspect the Council’s / Cabinet Forward Plan or any Reports or Background Papers
relating to any item on this agenda should contact Karen Strahan, 01392 382264. The Forward Plan and the
Agenda and Minutes of the Committee are published on the Council’s Website and can also be accessed via the
Modern.Gov app, available from the usual stores.
Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings
The proceedings of this meeting may be recorded for broadcasting live on the internet via the ‘Democracy
Centre’ on the County Council’s website. The whole of the meeting may be broadcast apart from any
confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the press and public. For more information
go to: http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/
In addition, anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and public are
excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so, as directed by the Chair. Any filming
must be done as unobtrusively as possible from a single fixed position without the use of any additional lighting;
focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and having regard also to the wishes of any member
of the public present who may not wish to be filmed. As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film proceedings
is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic Services Officer in attendance so that all those present may be
made aware that is happening.
Members of the public may also use Facebook and Twitter or other forms of social media to report on
proceedings at this meeting. An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC) is normally available for
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall. For information on Wi-Fi availability at other locations,
please contact the Officer identified above.
Questions to the Cabinet / Public Participation
A Member of the Council may ask the Leader of the Council or the appropriate Cabinet Member a question about
any subject for which the Leader or Cabinet Member has responsibility.
Any member of the public resident in the administrative area of the county of Devon may also ask the Leader a
question upon a matter which, in every case, relates to the functions of the Council. Questions must be
delivered to the Office of the Chief Executive Directorate by 12 noon on the fourth working day before the date of
the meeting. For further information please contact Karen Strahan on 01392 382264 or look at our website at:
http://new.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/
Emergencies
In the event of the fire alarm sounding leave the building immediately by the nearest available exit, following the
fire exit signs. If doors fail to unlock press the Green break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect personal
belongings, do not use the lifts, do not re-enter the building until told to do so.
Mobile Phones
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council Chamber

If you need a copy of this Agenda and/or a Report in another
format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other languages),
please contact the Information Centre on 01392 380101 or
email to: centre@devon.gov.uk or write to the Democratic and
Scrutiny Secretariat at County Hall, Exeter, EX2 4QD.
Induction loop system available

NOTES FOR VISITORS
All visitors to County Hall, including visitors to the Committee Suite and the Coaver Club conference and meeting rooms
are requested to report to Main Reception on arrival. If visitors have any specific requirements or needs they should
contact County Hall reception on 01392 382504 beforehand. Further information about how to get here can be found at:
https://new.devon.gov.uk/help/visiting-county-hall/. Please note that visitor car parking on campus is limited and space
cannot be guaranteed. Where possible, we encourage visitors to travel to County Hall by other means.
SatNav – Postcode EX2 4QD
Walking and Cycling Facilities
County Hall is a pleasant twenty minute walk from Exeter City Centre. Exeter is also one of six National Cycle
demonstration towns and has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes – a map can be found at:
https://new.devon.gov.uk/travel/cycle/. Cycle stands are outside County Hall Main Reception and Lucombe House
Access to County Hall and Public Transport Links
Bus Services K, J, T and S operate from the High Street to County Hall (Topsham Road). To return to the High Street
use Services K, J, T and R. Local Services to and from Dawlish, Teignmouth, Newton Abbot, Exmouth, Plymouth and
Torbay all stop in Barrack Road which is a 5 minute walk from County Hall. Park and Ride Services operate from Sowton,
Marsh Barton and Honiton Road with bus services direct to the High Street.
The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High Street) and St David’s and St Thomas’s
both of which have regular bus services to the High Street. Bus Service H (which runs from St David’s Station to the High
Street) continues and stops in Wonford Road (at the top of Matford Lane shown on the map) a 2/3 minute walk from
County Hall, en route to the RD&E Hospital (approximately a 10 minutes walk from County Hall, through Gras Lawn on
Barrack Road).
Car Sharing
Carsharing allows people to benefit from the convenience of the car, whilst alleviating the associated problems of
congestion and pollution. For more information see: https://liftshare.com/uk/community/devon.
Car Parking and Security
There is a pay and display car park, exclusively for the use of visitors, entered via Topsham Road. Current charges are:
Up to 30 minutes – free; 1 hour - £1.10; 2 hours - £2.20; 4 hours - £4.40; 8 hours - £7. Please note that County Hall
reception staff are not able to provide change for the parking meters.
As indicated above, parking cannot be guaranteed and visitors should allow themselves enough time to find alternative
parking if necessary. Public car parking can be found at the Cathedral Quay or Magdalen Road Car Parks (approx. 20
minutes walk). There are two disabled parking bays within the visitor car park. Additional disabled parking bays are
available in the staff car park. These can be accessed via the intercom at the entrance barrier to the staff car park.

NB

A

J

Denotes bus stops

Fire/Emergency Instructions
In the event of a fire or other emergency please note the following instructions. If you discover a fire, immediately inform
the nearest member of staff and/or operate the nearest fire alarm. On hearing a fire alarm leave the building by the
nearest available exit. The County Hall Stewardesses will help direct you. Do not stop to collect personal belongings and
do not use the lifts. Assemble either on the cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car
park behind Bellair, as shown on the site map above. Please remain at the assembly point until you receive further
instructions. Do not re-enter the building without being told to do so.
First Aid
Contact Main Reception (extension 2504) for a trained first aider.

Agenda Item 7
CT/18/03
Cabinet
14th March 2018
BUDGET MONITORING 2017/18
Report of the County Treasurer

Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and
determination by the Cabinet (and confirmation under the provisions of the Council's
Constitution) before taking effect.
Recommendation: That the position based on Month 10 is noted.
1. Introduction
1.1. This report outlines the financial position and forecast for the Authority at month 10
(to the end of January) of the financial year.
1.2. The total underspend at month 10 is forecast at just over £6.0 millions This figure
must be viewed with caution as it does not reflect the additional financial pressures
associated with the very adverse weather conditions experienced at the start of
March. At the time of writing this report the financial impact of that adverse weather
was still being assessed. There is potential that the magnitude of the response
required to manage the impact of the snow and storms could be sufficient to trigger a
claim under the Bellwin scheme for financial recompense.

2. Revenue Expenditure Adult Care and Health Services
2.1. Adult Care and Health services are forecast to underspend by £6.5 millions, an
increase of £1.8 millions from the underspend reported at month 8. This is being
driven by the operational position being influenced by recent reductions in client
numbers, additional staff vacancy savings and further savings on contracts. This
position reflects £77,000 of management action yet to be achieved.
2.2. Adult Care Operations is forecasting to underspend by £5.4 millions, primarily
attributable to a consolidation of better contract negotiations and demand
management (£3.3 millions), and benefits arising from a successful Promoting
Independence approach to new and existing cases.
2.3. Older People and Physical Disability services are forecast to underspend by £2.5
millions primarily driven by a lower number of care packages than budgeted (580) a
reduction of 163 since month 8.
2.4. Sensory, Community Enabling, Social Care Reablement and other operational
budgets are showing an underspend of £767,000. In-house services are forecast to
underspend by £460,000 due to lower running costs and staffing vacancies.
2.5. Learning Disability services, including Autistic Spectrum Conditions, is forecast to
overspend by the end of the year by £1.6 millions, the result of higher numbers of
care packages than budgeted (208).

Page 1

Agenda Item 7
2.6. Adult Commissioning and Health is forecast to underspend by £1.1 millions primarily
due to staff vacancy savings in commissioning teams, project savings, and savings on
central contracts.
3. Revenue Expenditure Children’s Services
3.1. Children’s Services are showing a forecast overspend of £3.4 millions; this is an
increase on the month 8 position of £50,000
3.2. Children’s social care is forecast to over spend by £2.6 millions (£2.4 millions in
month 8). The key factors causing the cost pressures have not changed from those
previously reported. The shortage of market sufficiency (locally and nationally)
particularly for children with high levels of complex needs continues to drive up costs
with significant increases in the average unit rates for independent and supported
accommodation placements.
3.3. The placements budget is forecast to overspend by £3.3 millions (£2.6 millions in
month 6). Within this external residential and supported accommodation over spends
total £4.8 millions, partially offset by under spending in other placement types
including fostering and post 18 placements of £1.5 millions.
3.4. Disabled Children’s Services are forecast to over spend by £387,000. As previously
reported there are more packages of care/ services being accessed by children and
families than budgeted whilst average costs of packages have also increased.
3.5. The overspends within Children’s Social Care have been partially offset by other
savings across the remaining budgets including vacancy management, lower legal
disbursement charges and other variations of £1.1 millions; (£926,000 at month 8).
3.6. The non DSG element of Education and Learning is forecasting an overspend of
£801,000, a decrease of £104,000 since month 8. Personalised transport and the
unplanned Special Educational Needs (SEN) contract cost & route increases remain
a pressure and have been increasing marginally. Improvements in forecasts for core
services and the Home to College element of School transport are reducing the
financial pressures experienced within the service.
3.7. The Dedicated Schools Grant is currently forecast to overspend by £2.7 millions.
High Needs is currently forecasting to overspend by £2.5 millions at year end. The
remaining £200,000 relates to the Growth Fund. It was agreed at Devon Education
Forum that these overspends would be rolled forward to 2018-19.
4. Revenue Expenditure Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste
4.1. Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste are forecasting an underspend of
just over £1.0 million, an improvement of £794,000 from month 8.
4.2. The underspend forecast within Infrastructure Development and Waste services
accounts for the forecast underspend. Waste tonnages are lower than expected
which impact on disposal and landfill tax costs, energy from waste costs and costs
associated with recycling contracts.
5. Revenue Expenditure Other Services

Page 2

Agenda Item 7
5.1. Communities, Public Health, Environment and Prosperity (COPHEP) are showing a
forecast underspend of £502,000 an improvement of £268,000 against month 8. This
reflects additional savings on staffing and non-recurrent benefits associated with the
sale of surplus equipment within Trading standards and lower activity levels
associated with the national travel scheme.
5.2. Corporate Services are forecasting an underspend of £315,000 against a month 8
break-even position. This improvement is the result of reduced staffing costs and
additional income generated by the registration service and Scomis.
5.3. Non service items are forecast to underspend by just over £1.0 million. This is mainly
due to additional investment income of £462,000, additional grant income and
savings on Provisions and Pension costs of £580,000.

6. Capital Expenditure
6.1. The approved capital programme for the Council is £165.2 millions. The year-end
forecast is £133.2 millions, producing slippage of £32 millions. Significant areas of
slippage have been identified in respect of the following schemes:








Marsh Barton station (£3.7) millions, further talks ongoing with Network Rail,
Department for Transport and the Local Enterprise Partnership to secure
funding, and in addition value engineering underway to reduce scheme costs;
South Devon Highway (£2.5) millions, land payments less than anticipated and
whilst a number of compensation claims have been submitted they will not be
settled in this financial year;
A361 Gornhay to M5 (£3.2) millions, grant funding confirmed in August 2017
with work commencing September, resulting in the project now spanning
financial years;
Connecting Devon & Somerset (£2.0) millions, the Accountable Body,
Somerset County Council, have advised that external funding will be utilised in
the first instance therefore Devon County Council’s contribution not required in
this financial year; and
Street Lighting improvements (£2.4) millions, Contractor advised unable to
complete the installation programme in 2017/18 and will slip into 2018/19.
The balance consists of minor slippages on numerous other projects.

7. Debt Over 3 Months Old
7.1. Corporate debt stood at £2.8 millions, being 1.7% of the annual value of invoices,
within the annual target of 1.9%. We will continue to pursue the balance of debt
owed, including the use of legal action where appropriate. It is anticipated that yearend debt will be below the annual target.
8. Conclusion
8.1. It is pleasing that a relatively small underspend is being projected so close to the end
of the financial year. It is difficult to control costs and forecast financial out-turns.
However, it is impossible to forecast or control the weather. The Council has had to

Page 3

Agenda Item 7
deal with significant levels of snow and a storm. It is now dealing with the aftermath
of the adverse weather. The cost of dealing with the emergency is still being
assessed but it is likely that it will significantly reduce the overspending detailed in
this report.

Mary Davis, County Treasurer
Electoral Divisions: All
Cabinet Member: Councillor John Clatworthy
Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries: Mary Davis
Tel No: (01392) 383310 Room: 199
Background Paper Date File Ref: Nil
Date Published: 21st December 2017

Page 4

Agenda Item 8
PTE/18/8
Cabinet
14 March 2018
Flood Risk Management Action Plan 2018/19
Report of the Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and
determination by the Cabinet (and confirmation under the provisions of the Council's
Constitution) before taking effect.
Recommendations: It is recommended that Cabinet:
(a)
approves the implementation and associated financial allocations of the County
Council’s 2018/19 Flood Risk Management Action Plan;
(b)
delegates to the Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment, in consultation with
the Cabinet Member for Community, Public Health, Transportation and Environmental
Services, any changes to the programme and related expenditure of less than £50k.
1.

Summary and Purpose of Report

The aim of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update of the ongoing development and delivery of
essential flood improvements, as set out in the current year’s Flood Risk Management Action Plan and
to gain approval for the 2018/19 Action Plan relating to our role as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA).
The report will also show how Devon County Council’s (DCC) Flood and Coastal Risk Management
Team has worked in partnership with other Risk Management Authorities (RMAs), including the
delivery of collaborative schemes, in implementing the functions and principles set out in the Devon
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and the level of external funding that has been drawn down
from Defra, Local Levy and other RMAs.
2.

Update on Achievements for 2017/18

The Flood and Coastal Risk Management Team has delivered another successful year fulfilling the
role of LLFA by: resolving local issues brought to our attention by the public or other RMAs; reviewing
and approving Land Drainage Consents, as appropriate; successfully taking an enforcement case to
court; investigating and reporting on flood incidents; and dealing with consultations on over 700
surface water management proposals for new developments.
As well as the statutory responsibilities, detailed above, the Team has overseen the delivery of a
programme of flood improvements set out in the 2017/18 Flood Risk Management Action Plan. In
total, over £2m has been invested in reducing the risk of flooding to at least 209 homes and
businesses across Devon. Further schemes, such as those planned for Uplyme and Bideford, will be
underway when this report is presented and will be completed during 2018/19, providing benefit to a
further 58 properties, which will be formally accounted for in next year’s figures.
Unfortunately, a number of small schemes programmed for delivery in 2017/18 have been delayed
due to negotiations with the landowners. It is important to note that the successful delivery of our
planned flood improvements is reliant upon the agreement, cooperation and understanding from
relevant landowners, who will not, necessarily, benefit from these, but will be affected by the works.
The implementation of the new DCC Property Level Resilience (PLR) grant scheme has been
successful, with over 20 properties each benefitting from the installation up to £5k worth of flood
resilience measures. The recent flood incident experienced in the North Devon area in late January
and further promotion of the grant scheme through local communities and parish councils has resulted
in an influx of new applications.
A fuller update on achievements, including an illustrated summary of the work and projects delivered
by the Flood and Coastal Risk Management Team in 2017/18, is included as Appendix I.

Page 5

Agenda Item 8
3.

Proposed Action Plan for 2018/19

The proposed Flood Risk Management Action Plan for 2018/19 is attached as Appendix II. Much of
this Plan consists of high priority projects already underway, either under construction or soon to
commence on site. The completion of these schemes, costing in the region of £3m, should reduce
flood risk to over 300 properties, including dwellings and businesses. New studies are also to be
progressed to consider design options for future investment.
The use of sustainable Natural Flood Management (NFM) techniques is being encouraged through all
flood management activities to assist in future-proofing schemes by taking account of climate change
and to provide ecological enhancement. Significant partnership projects are, already, underway and
will continue through 2018/19 to provide government and other flood management practitioners with
key lessons learnt and methods of good practice. Examples include a Defra-funded scheme at Ottery
St Mary, which is being undertaken in partnership with the East Devon Catchment Partnership and the
‘Culm Grassland Project’, based on a partnership with Devon Wildlife Trust, the Environment Agency
and the University of Exeter.
Making Devon more resilient to flooding is a strategic aim for DCC and this Action Plan continues to
focus on supporting communities, not only through the delivery of capital flood improvements listed on
the Action Plan, but also by contributing towards the successful operation of the Devon Community
Resilience Forum and through further development and delivery of the Property Level Grant Scheme.
Also critical is the provision of appropriate advice to Local Planning Authorities through our statutory
consultee role on surface water management proposals for new development; this should ensure
those new properties and existing properties nearby are not placed at greater risk of flooding because
of the development.
4.

Options/Alternatives

Flooding experienced over recent years and the number of properties affected, together with the
ongoing flood risk, results in a high level of political and public expectation of the delivery of flood
improvements. So, ‘do nothing’ or ‘do minimum’ options have been discounted. Instead, the
recommended approach continues this Authority’s commendable and proactive investment in
improved flood protection and resilience across Devon.
Each project on the Action Plan, already prioritised in accordance with the criteria set out in the Local
Flood Risk Management Strategy, will undergo a full options appraisal to deliver the most cost
beneficial solution within the available budget. At times, due to issues outside of our control, there
may be the need to adjust the proposed Action Plan and reprioritise schemes. It is, therefore,
proposed that approval for any necessary changes to the Plan, up to the value of £50k, is delegated to
the Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for
Community, Public Health, Transportation and Environmental Services; beyond this level, Cabinet
approval would be sought.
5.

Consultations/Representations/Technical Data

The level of consultation on the schemes covered by the Action Plan will depend on the scale of
improvements being delivered. Minor property level improvements are only likely to involve the
individual property owners; in contrast, larger community schemes will require public exhibitions and/or
attendance at town/parish council events.
It is essential that all relevant landowners are consulted with throughout scheme development and are
fully engaged with the works. Regular consultation with residents, local businesses, community flood
groups, parish/town councils, elected members and other relevant RMAs is also of paramount
importance to ensure expectations are managed and all concerned feel involved and part of the
decision-making process.
Sharing of current and future programmes with other RMAs will help to identify opportunities for
collaborative working or partnership contributions and the sharing of technical data. This will reduce

Page 6

Agenda Item 8
overall scheme costs, reduce disruption and show a joined-up approach between the RMAs, in line
with the expectations of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.
6.

Financial Considerations

The delivery of the 2018/19 Flood Risk Management Action Plan is reliant on both internal and
external sources of funding available for flood management activities. Total DCC budgetary provision
of approximately £1.5m is proposed through the dedicated Planning, Transportation and Environment
flood risk management budget and the associated corporate budget for flood prevention works.
Where necessary, allocations will be capitalised to support delivery of major projects. Wherever
possible, further funding will also be secured, subject to justification of a cost beneficial scheme being
deliverable, through Defra’s Flood Defence Grant in Aid (FDGiA), Local Levy and contributions from
other RMAs. There may, also, be limited opportunities for achieving contributions from private
beneficiaries and businesses.
Based on the proposed DCC Action Plan for 2018/19, it is estimated that over £3million will be
invested in flood management activities across Devon, compared to an anticipated spend of
approximately £2m in the current year. An over-allocation of approximately 16% has been
programmed, to account for efficiencies and any delays in delivery. Throughout the financial year the
budget will be monitored to ensure the programme remains on target and within the available budget.
7.

Legal Considerations

The flood improvements listed in the 2018/19 Action Plan and general duties in fulfilling the LLFA role
will be carried out using the appropriate powers available to DCC, as defined in the Flood and Water
Management Act 2010, the Land Drainage Act 1991 and other statutes. Entry onto land, consenting
to works on ordinary watercourses, negotiations with landowners and, when necessary, the need to
take enforcement action will all be undertaken with due regard to relevant legislation.
8.

Environmental Impact Considerations

A Strategic Environmental Assessment was produced to support the Local Flood Risk Management
Strategy and it identified that all schemes, during their development, would need to be assessed to
ensure the proposals have due regard for the environment and, where possible, enhancements are
incorporated. Each review of the potential environmental impacts would be carried out using the
corporate integrated assessment tool and ‘Environmental Review’ process at the appropriate time.
9.

Equality Considerations

As schemes are progressed an equality impact assessment will be carried out in accordance with
DCC’s corporate procedures to ensure that all equality and socio-economic considerations are
adequately addressed.
10.

Risk Management Considerations

The risk of flooding to communities in Devon is rated as high and is, therefore, recognised on the
Corporate Risk Register. The Action Plan for 2018/19 aims to address the highest priority
communities at risk of flooding in accordance with the identified risks. During the development of each
scheme it will be assessed to ensure that all essential actions are taken to safeguard the Council’s
position.
A review by the Corporate, Infrastructure & Regulatory Services Scrutiny Committee carried out in
2017 provided evidence of the diminishing resources available through District Councils in Devon to
assist in delivering flood mitigation; some authorities reported less than half a day per week of staff
resource for such functions. This reduces scope for collaboration in joint schemes and can increase
risks to DCC in the delivery of its own projects.

Page 7

Agenda Item 8
11.

Public Health Impact

The effects of flooding on individual properties and their owners, and in some case the whole
community, is devastating and can cause much stress and anxiety as well risk to life or illness
through drowning or contamination of water from sewage and agricultural runoff. The continued
delivery of flood improvements will reduce the risk to public health and improve the wellbeing of
Devon’s residents.
12.

Discussion

We are now entering the fourth year of Defra’s 6-year £2.5 billion programme to reduce the risk of
flooding to 300,000 homes across the country. Since the start of this programme period in 2015, DCC
has reduced the risk to over 256 properties and, with many schemes on the 2018/19 Action Plan
either at or close to the construction phase, it is expected that over 300 further homes and businesses
will benefit from these proposed flood improvements. In addition, many more properties will have
benefited from increased flood protection as a result of the financial contributions made by DCC to
schemes led by other RMAs. This illustrates the significance of this Authority’s role, working alongside
other RMAs, in addressing flood risk management in Devon.
It is worth noting that for many of our flood schemes involve works upstream of the at-risk area; this
means that those worst affected by the scheme delivery are least likely to benefit from the resulting
flood improvements. This adds further challenges in agreeing terms with the landowners and, for
current projects, has resulted in programme delays and increased costs. Such issues complicate
budget management, with the risk of end of year underspend, despite ongoing commitments to
scheme delivery. More positively, we have been successful in drawing down higher levels of external
funding than originally anticipated, which has facilitated scheme delivery and reduced risk to DCC
budgets.
13.

Conclusion and Reason for Recommendation

The risk of flooding continues to be a threat to the communities of Devon, which is predicted to worsen
with climate change and changing patterns of rainfall. The most recent incident in North Devon, this
January, highlighted the unpredictability of surface water flooding and the ongoing risk to locations that
have not been identified as priority areas or experienced flooding in recent years. This future risk,
considered alongside the 2000 properties in over 200 locations that have already suffered internal
flooding in Devon since 2012, justifies this Authority’s ongoing investment through a prioritised
programme of flood improvements and associated collaboration with other RMAs. This approach will
help to make the communities of Devon more resilient, prosperous and safe.
Dave Black
Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment
Electoral Divisions: All
Cabinet Member for Community, Public Health, Transportation and Environmental Services:
Councillor Roger Croad
Chief Officer for Communities, Public Health, Environment and Prosperity: Virginia Pearson
Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers
Contact for enquiries: Martin Hutchings
Room No. Lucombe House, County Hall, Exeter. EX2 4QD
Tel No: (01392) 383000
Background Paper

Date

File Reference

Nil
mh260218cab Flood Risk Management Action Plan 201819
hk
05
050318

Page 8

Agenda Item 8
Appendix I
To PTE/18/8
Update on Achievements for 2017/18
Review of Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA)
In accordance with the Flood Risk Regulations 2009 there was a requirement to review the Devon
PFRA, six years after the original document was prepared in 2011. This was submitted to the
Environment Agency in June to review, prior to its formal submission to Europe in December 2017.
A key area of the review was the number of significant flood events that have occurred since the
original PFRA report; this noted that Devon County Council (DCC) has published 15 Section 19 Flood
Investigation Reports, covering 186 flooded locations, many of which suffering on numerous
occasions. It also highlighted that the manner in which Devon's Annual Local Flood Risk Management
Strategy Action Plan reflects the significant flood incidents which have occurred in this period, in
addition to the ‘at risk’ areas identified in the 2011 PFRA and Strategic Surface Water Management
Plan.
Flood Studies
DCC is currently undertaking a number of flood studies in order to better understand the level of flood
risk. In accordance with the 2017/18 Action Plan, studies have commenced in Barnstaple, Beeson
and Broadhempston. Other investigations are, also, ongoing in Exmouth, Kingsbridge, Ottery St Mary,
South Pool and Ugborough. The results of the these will help us produce future action plans and
manage our resource going forward.
Flood Improvement Projects
DCC’s Flood & Coastal Risk Management Team has continued to develop a number of high priority
flood improvement schemes, as well as the delivery of minor works and local resilience measures.
These have been progressed in accordance with the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and in
line with the indicative funding allocations of the Defra 6-year programme. Where practical, a number
of minor flood improvements and resilience measures have been delivered through local funding
opportunities; however, the larger capital schemes have been included in Defra’s 6-year programme to
take advantage of national Flood Defence Grant-in-Aid (FDGiA) funding.
Axminster
The Axminster Millbrook Flood Alleviation scheme is now complete and fully operational. The £1.3m
scheme reduces flood risk to over 160 properties up to the 100-year flood event and includes channel
widening, a flood defence wall and major culvert alterations to convey the flow more efficiently away
from those at risk of flooding.
This challenging project, due to its interaction and proximity to the main Waterloo railway line and
residential property, was delivered by our contractor South West Highways following detailed design
by DCCs in-house Engineering Design Group.

Night working in Axminster adjacent to the railway and the new culvert including improved fish
passage, prior to the lid being cast - May and July 2017

Page 9

Agenda Item 8
Braunton
Phase 2 of the Braunton Surface Water Flood Improvements is now complete. This second phase
included the provision of a pumping station that will supplement the vastly improved highway drainage
works that took place earlier in 2017 as phase 1. When the pumps are called into operation, flood risk
in the area will be reduced up to the 50-year flood event. Final accounts are being drawn up, with
early indications of being close to the available budget of £213k, which is made up of £188k from DCC
and £25k from the Local Levy.

Works underway showing the installation of the pumping station and outfall structure in Caen Street,
Braunton, September 2017

Uplyme
Following the extensive flooding in July 2012, minor improvements have been implemented by DCC to
alleviate some of the flood risk in Uplyme. A series of silt traps have been installed on the stream
entering the town from the north along Carswell Lane. These traps should hold back much of the
material that was building up in the downstream systems and contributing to blockages and reductions
in capacity.
DCC commissioned a study to check the capacity of the existing watercourse and culvert sections
through the Court Hall and Cookmead area of Uplyme. The culverts through the village were shown to
restrict the flow to varying degrees, some as low as only conveying up to the 1 in 2-year flood event.
A successful business case for FDGiA was submitted to the EA prior to Christmas and a report to
DCC Cabinet was presented on 10th January 2018, gaining approval to deliver the scheme. Works
are to be carried out from February through to May and will reduce the risk of flooding to at least 12
properties.
Modbury
Following the successful business case submission to the Environment Agency, full funding has been
obtained for the construction of the flood alleviation scheme in Modbury. The total estimated scheme
costs, including fees and site investigations, were approved at Cabinet for £1,132k, of which the
estimated construction costs are in the region of £935k, funded by £435k FDGiA, £100k Local Levy,
£100k from South West Water, £50k from South Hams District Council and almost £450k from DCC.
The scheme proposes to reduce the risk of flooding to 50 residential and 32 commercial properties up
to the 100-year flood event.
The proposed works include the construction of three large earthwork bunds to attenuate flood water,
interception ditches and local drainage improvements. The contract has been awarded and works are
scheduled to commence in March and likely to be completed by September 2018

Page 10

Agenda Item 8
Stokeinteignhead
The final modelling exercise and options assessment for the proposed Stokeinteignhead Flood
Alleviation works has now been completed. The report has identified that storing water in the upper
catchment is the most beneficial option in terms of reducing the risk of flooding.
DCC’s in-house Engineering Design Group has developed the design of two water storage areas (one
on the eastern catchment and one on the southern catchment). This has required specialist
investigations, including geotechnical investigations, a landscape assessment, ecological baseline
studies and an historic environment desktop study. A critical element of the proposal is to construct
large earth dams on privately owned land and, as such, is reliant on third parties to agree the works.
This is proving challenging and may affect the final design and scheme delivery.
Bideford, Moreton Park
This project came to the attention of DCC’s Flood Risk Management team after a meeting was called
by South West Water following a flooding incident, when the flood water backed up and escaped
through the public combined sewer. SWW fitted a non-return valve at the end of their CSO discharge
pipe to prevent a re-occurrence from their system, but did not resolve the issue.
As the culverted watercourse runs under private land, it is the responsibility of the riparian owners to
ensure that the watercourse is free flowing and clear of blockage and, therefore, there is no
responsibility on any local authority, government body or water company. However, as the complexity
of works to be undertaken is quite high and the culvert crosses under multiple land ownerships, it is
unrealistic and unsafe to expect the riparian owners to undertake these works in isolation. DCC, as
the Lead Local Flood Authority, has agreed to manage the culvert repair and to reduce the risk of
flooding to 25 properties.
The works are estimated to cost over £200k and this is being funded by £99k from FDGiA,
approximately £62k from landowner insurance and up to from £74k DCC. No other Risk Management
Authorities are prepared to offer any additional funding or support. A contractor has been appointed
through the DCC Minor Works Framework and works commenced in February 2018.

Sidmouth Surface Water Improvements
Final scheme details are being prepared for Sidmouth to reduce the risk of flooding for the maximum
number of properties. The preferred options include surface water drainage improvements in the town
centre to convey flows towards the River Sid and storage attenuation at the Knowle, to control the flow
entering the town centre, which will be constructed as above ground features.
The business case for scheme justification is to be developed over the coming months and, subject to
funding approval, it is proposed that works will be phased. It is hoped that the surface water drainage
improvements can be delivered during 2018/19 and storage at the Knowle, which will be subject to
landowner agreement and planning approval, to be created in the latter stages of 2019/20. Further
investigations are also being progressed to consider potential improvements that could be achieved in
the Woolbrook area.

Page 11

Agenda Item 8
Chillington
The village of Chillington has suffered frequent internal flooding of properties over recent years, with
13 properties affected in December 2012 (8 residential and 5 commercial). Investigations have proved
that an inadequate surface water sewer, which is also in a poor condition, requires upsizing. The
detailed design of the preferred option has been prepared and a scheme, estimated at £130k. This
was presented to Cabinet in January and approval given to proceed and the business case was
submitted to the EA with the outcome of £65k FDGiA being approved.
Landowner and tenant negotiations are underway and if all resolved it is anticipated that works will
commence early in the 2018/19 programme.
Property Level Resilience
Following the introduction of the PLR scheme, which is open to Devon residents, 20 properties are
being progressed for essential property level resilience measures and over 20 additional applications
have been received for consideration. The ongoing programme means that all of the applications are
at various stages from initial survey through to installation and some with the final post surveys having
been completed.
Ivybridge, Stibbs lane
The detailed design of the proposed flood relief culvert that will benefit 20 residential properties in
north west Ivybridge is well underway and soon to be completed. This includes ground radar scans to
locate buried underground services, so that any potential clashes can be designed out before getting
to site in 2018. The business case for scheme funding will be prepared and submitted for Defra
funding once the design has been finalised.
In addition to the flood relief culvert, natural flood risk management measures are proposed upstream
to reduce the flow getting to the properties at risk. Subject to land owner agreements, baseline
monitoring will be installed early 2018.
Ottery St Mary
A flood investigation study has been completed with an emphasis on natural flood management and a
list of options has been recommended. Following an initiative released by the government for pilot
studies to test NFM techniques, DCC is working collaboratively with the East Devon Catchment
Partnership, who have secured £50k under this initiative. The project is to run over the next 2 years to
test NFM measures and prove, against current baselines, how these different techniques can support
and enhance hard engineered flood defences and help to reduce the surface runoff being conveyed
towards properties.
Lympstone
A flood study has been carried out for the catchment and a number of options are being explored with
the newly-formed flood action group and the EA. Some initial works to be carried out by DCC are to
help improve the conveyance of flows through the village with some repairs and relining of an existing
culvert proposed. These works, estimated to be in the region of £35k, are scheduled to commence in
April 2018.
Frogmore
DCC has been working in partnership with the Parish Council to deliver a new surface water culvert to
convey increased flows away from properties. Minor works, in the region of £20k, are to be funded by
DCC and delivered locally in 2018/19.
Natural Flood Management
DCC is currently working in partnership with the EA to progress Natural Flood Management pilot
studies in a few selected locations across Devon.
DCC have been engaging in ongoing discussions with the EA and Dartmoor National Park regarding
proposed measures just north of Ivybridge on Hanger Down. This will likely encompass a number of
stone leaky dams as well as other measures. These works will enhance the standard of protection to
be provided by the culvert improvements which DCC are due to implement in Ivybridge in early 2018.

Page 12

Appendix II
To PTE/18/8

Projects/Works/Schemes

Devon
Flood Risk Management Team

Lead
Authority

Study, Design
or Works

Devon County Council Action Plan for 2018/19 to
Support the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy

DCC

-

250,000

-

25,000

Miscellaneous Expenditure

2018/19
DCC (PT&E)
FRM
Contribution
£

Page 13

DCC/Others

W

50,000

Minor Flood Investigations/Studies

DCC/Others

S

50,000

Property Level Protection

DCC/Others

W

50,000

DCCH

W

30,000

Community Resilience and support

DCC

W

20,000

North Devon Nature Improvement Area

NIA

W/S

20,000

DCC/Others

W/S

50,000

DCC Highway related flood improvements

Natural Flood Management

Other
Funding
Sources
£

Details of Proposal

Resources required to deliver the Flood Risk
Management functions as the Lead Local Flood
Authority and Statutory Consultee for SuDS
Meetings, venues, scheme maintenance, subscriptions,
printing and internal recharges etc.

70,000

Delivery of minor flood improvement works, subject to
resources and in accordance with the DCC priority list
and opportunities with other Risk Management
Authorities (Beeson, South Pool and Broadhempston)
Delivery of flood investigations, surveys and studies,
subject to resources. Priority areas include:
(Buckfastleigh and Woodbury Salterton)
Allocation of funds to support Property Level Protection
Grants and supported with additional Flood Defence
Grant in Aid and Local Levy
Contributions from the FRM budget to support various
minor highway improvement works where the risk of
flooding to property can be reduced
To provide assistance to communities for the delivery
and provision of Flood Resilience Measures
DCC contribution to support the Culm Grassland Project
and benefits of Natural Flood Management
To develop best practice and progress opportunities for
delivering natural flood risk management techniques in
partnership with other RMAs and key stakeholders.

Agenda Item 8

Minor Works and Improvements

2018/19
DCC
FPW
Contribution
£

SWW

S

10,000

Sidmouth Surface Water Improvements Design

DCC

D

50,000

50,000

200,000

Uplyme Flood Study

DCC

S

20,000

20,000

90,000

EDDC

W

10,500

EA

W

15,000

DCC

W

36,000

SWW/DCC

S

30,000

Ottery St Mary NFM

DCC

W

50,000

50,000

20,000

Colaton Raleigh

DCC

Delivery of Natural Flood Management measures in
partnership with the East Devon Catchment Partnership
and to progress hard engineered improvements as
recommended in the flood study.
Catchment study and consideration of options including
the proposal of upstream natural flood management

Exeter
Exeter Surface Water Improvements Design

DCC

D

50,000

100,000

Topsham Flood Improvements

ECC

W

Preparation of Business Case for Phase 1 Flood
Improvements on the Northbrook catchment with start of
construction, subject to funding approval.
Contribution to Exeter City Council towards surface
water element of proposed flood improvement works.
This is a long-standing commitment carried over from
previous years and subject to a cost beneficial scheme
being deliverable.

Mid Devon
Cullompton Flood Improvements

DCC

D/W

75,000

Progression of recommendations from catchment study
in partnership with the EA and potential opportunity with
Highways

Kerswell
East Budleigh
Lympstone
Exmouth

Scheme optioneering and business plan preparation in
partnership with South West Water

Page 14

30,000

50,000

20,000

25,000

50,000

Detailed design of preferred options, preparation and
submission of Business Case for FDGiA and
commencement of Phase 1 improvements
Completion of flood improvement works commenced in
February 2018
Contribution towards flood improvements being
progressed by EDDC
Surface water/Highway drainage improvements in
partnership with DCC Highways
Repairs and relining of ordinary watercourse culvert
under Long meadow
Continue to work in partnership with SWW and develop
surface water improvements as identified in flood study.

Agenda Item 8

East Devon
Old Feniton

North Devon
Bishops Tawton

W

20,000

Barnstaple

DCC

S

30,000

Ilfracombe

DCC

S/D

30,000

South Hams
Modbury Flood Management Scheme

DCC

D/W

40,000

37,500

625,000

SHDC

D/W

50,000

75,000

150,000

Chillington

DCC

W

40,000

25,000

65,000

Kingsbridge Study

SWW

S

20,000

Dartmouth

EA

S

10,000

Ugborough

DCC

D/W

30,000

PC

W

25,000

East Allington Asset Designation

DCC

-

1,000

Teignbridge
Stokeinteignhead

DCC

D/W

50,000

Ivybridge Flood Improvements

Page 15

Frogmore

Teignmouth

30,000

Further contribution from DCC to EA towards detailed
hydraulic model and optioneering of flood improvements
to reduce risk from the main rivers and surface water
Continuation of surface water management study,
commenced in 2017/18. Potential to contribute towards
EA main river FDS
Review of SWMP and consider flood improvement
options

20,000

25,000

50,000

330,000

Construction phase of essential flood improvements.
Works to be completed within 2018
Completion of detailed design and business case to
secure FDGiA and deliver construction phase for the
essential flood improvements
Delivery of construction phase to provide improved
drainage and reduction in flood risk
Ongoing study and hydraulic modelling in partnership
with other RMAs. Develop options and progress to
detailed design.
Ongoing investigations and scheme optioneering in
partnership with SWW and EA. Contribution set aside to
support further modelling by the EA
Finalise detailed design of flood improvements and
subject to funding approval for cost beneficial scheme,
deliver construction phase for catchment.
Contribution towards flood improvements being led by
the Parish Council in partnership with the local
landowner
Designation of weir structure to prevent rebuilding of
wall

Finalise detailed design, develop and submit Business
Case to secure Defra FDGiA and commence
construction of the essential flood improvements
Review of SWMP and consider flood improvement
options

Agenda Item 8

EA

D/W

24,000

151,000

Continue and finalise construction of the culvert
replacement works to reduce the risk of flooding.

West Devon
There are currently no ordinary watercourse, surface or
ground water schemes identified in the West Devon
area on the DCC priority list. Other schemes relating to
Main River or tidal flooding may be considered by the
EA or minor drainage issues by the Borough Council
Total Budget Allocation

1,247,500

471,500

1,901,000

The above budget allocations (based on a mix of revenue and capital) are estimates that are subject to change or maybe deferred as other priorities and
opportunities arise. The total expenditure currently shows approx. 16% over-budget spend to allow for delays and efficiencies. This will be monitored
throughout the year to ensure the budget is not exceeded and will defer incomplete projects as required.

Page 16

Anticipated Budgetary Allocations and Income
DCC (PT&E) Flood Risk Management
Budget (FRM)
Miscellaneous Income
DCC Capital Flood Prevention Works
Budget (FPW)
DCC Revenue Flood Prevention Works
Budget - 2017/18 carry forward (FPW)
Potential carry forward from 2017/18 DCC
(PT&E) Flood Risk Management Budget
(FRM)
FDGiA / Local Levy / Other Contributions
Total Budget

Includes grant to fulfil requirements as the LLFA as
defined under the Flood and Water Management Act
Fees for consents and recharges etc.

951,000
1500
250,000
169,000
100,000
1,901,000
1,052,500

419,000

1,901,000

Estimated based on current predictions and may
change as schemes progress. Will be subject to
approval through the budget outturn process.
Estimated based on current predictions and may
change as schemes progress. Will be subject to
approval through the budget outturn process.
Defra Grant in Aid and Local Levy administered by the
SW Regional Flood & Coastal Committee

Agenda Item 8

Torridge
Bideford, Moreton Park

Agenda Item 9
CS/18/10
Cabinet
14 March 2018
2017-18 STRATEGIC REVIEW OF SEND PROVISION
Report of the Head of Education and Learning
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and
determination by the Cabinet (and confirmation under the provisions of the Council’s
Constitution) before taking effect.

Recommendation: that the Cabinet


Endorses the recommendations in the 2017-18 SEND Strategic Review and
Development Plan;



Approves to increase the 2018-19 Planning Transportation and Environment
Capital Programme by £749,285 and the allocation of this grant as set out in
Appendix B;



Approve, where required, the commencement of the statutory consultation on
the support centres as detailed in Appendix C;



Note proposals for Marland School Day provision and Charlton Lodge,
Tiverton in 2.4 and 2.5 respectfully.
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

1.

Background

1.1

Devon’s Multi-Agency Strategy for Children and Young People with Special
Education Needs and Disability (SEND) 2017-2020 sets six strategic priorities
to improve outcomes for children and young people with SEN & disabilities
and their families.

1.2

The Plan confirms the overarching aspiration that learners with SEN will have
access to good or better provision in their local community and commits to
reviewing SEN provision annually to ensure it is in the right location, of
sufficient quality and that there is a good match between demand and supply.

1.3

Alongside this, the Department for Education has required all Local
Authorities to undertake a strategic review and allocated capital funding to
support recommendations arising from this piece of work

2.

Proposal

2.1

The 2017-18 Strategic Review of SEND Provision is attached in Appendix A
and will be published on the SEND Local Offer website.

Page 17

Agenda Item 9
2.2

The Plan details the specific work that has been undertaken to formulate the
final recommendations and the reasons why they are considered priority
areas for future work.

2.3

The Department for Education has allocated Devon the Special Provision
Fund, a three-year allocation of £2,247,854, £749,285 per year. It is proposed
that these funds will sit within the PTE Capital Programme and be allocated
as summarised in Appendix B. To support schools, it is proposed in the first
year to allocate £350,000 for schools, in partnership with the 0-25 team, to
bring forward proposals to support learners with Special Education Needs.
These projects will be subject to further Member approval as and when
required.

2.4

The Plan highlights the review undertaken on Resource Bases within Devon’s
schools to ensure they are meeting the needs of Devon learners and
represent good value for money. It can be seen that due to low numbers, little
or no parental preference and the intention to support learners in their local
schools there is no longer demand for some centres. The future of these on
the basis of decommissioning in 2019 will be subject to consultation, where
required, as detailed in Appendix C.

2.5

The Plan provides the evidence to increase provision to support students with
Social Emotional and Mental Health needs. Discussions are ongoing with the
Governing Body of Marland School, a Trust School, and they are able to bring
forward proposals to expand Marland Day provision in North Devon and
extend the age to support primary aged students. The final decision, following
the consultation, will sit with the Local Authority.

2.6

In respect of new provision, the Plan confirms the proposal to increase
Special School provision at Charlton Lodge in Tiverton which is already
funded within the capital programme. There are ongoing discussions with
existing special school providers regarding the potential delivery model for
that provision. However, it may be there is a need to bring in a new provider
via a presumption Free School proposal and therefore an approval to
commence this process may be brought forward early in the Spring through a
Cabinet Member Decision.

3.

Consultations

3.1

The Review details the consultation undertaken to support its development as
well as recommendations for future engagement, in particular with young
people and parents/carers. The consultation engaged with children,
parents/carers as well as providers with the findings published on the SEND
Local Offer Website

3.2

In addition, Children’s Scrutiny and the SEND Improvement Board have been
briefed on the plan’s development. Over and above direct consultation with
schools, the School Organisation Capital and Admissions have been briefed
on developments

4.

Financial Considerations

4.1

Revenue: There are no direct implications on revenue funding although the
plan highlights the financial challenges on the High Needs Block and how

Page 18

Agenda Item 9
recommendations are aligned to reducing the pressures on this fund.
Proposals are also targeted at reducing the costs of Home to School
Transport.
Capital: The DfE has allocated Devon £2,247,854 capital funding over three
years.
5.

Sustainability Considerations

5.1

Proposals within the plan are targeted at providing, where possible, local
provision for local children as well as support students become independent
and into employment.

6.

Equality Considerations
Where relevant to the decision, the Equality Act 2010 Public Sector Equality
Duty requires decision makers to give due regard to the need to:


eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
prohibited conduct;



advance
equality
by
encouraging
participation,
removing
disadvantage, taking account of disabilities and meeting people’s
needs; and



foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and
promoting understanding.

taking account of age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and
Travellers), gender and gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation,
pregnant women/ new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage/civil partnership
status in coming to a decision, a decision maker may also consider other
relevant factors such as caring responsibilities, rural isolation or socioeconomic disadvantage.
An impact assessment has been prepared, a copy of which has been
circulated to Cabinet Members and is available at TO BE INSERTED
7.

Legal Considerations
There are no specific legal considerations.

8.

Risk Management Considerations
This policy/proposal has been assessed and all necessary safeguards or
action have been taken/included to safeguard the Council's position
No risks have been identified.

10.

Public Health Impact
The proposals take into account the requirements and health and wellbeing of
its local community. In addition, the report takes into account the

Page 19

Agenda Item 9
recommendations contained within the public health and the engagement
report from the Community Health & Wellbeing Services for Children & Young
People in Devon – ‘Shaping Future Services’ (draft engagement report,
October 2017) and responses from Social Care, Education and Health
professionals.
11.

Summary

11.1

The Strategic Review of SEND Provision has provided a targeted focus for
delivering the objectives within the Devon’s Multi-Agency Strategy for
Children and Young People with Special Education Needs (SEND) 2017 2020.

11.2

The specific recommendations in this report are those that require Cabinet
approval for them to be implemented.

Dawn Stabb
Electoral Divisions: All
Cabinet Member for Childrens Services and Schools: Councillor James McInnes
Chief Officer for Childrens Services: Jo Olsson
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972: LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
Contact for Enquiries:
Simon Niles
Email: simon.niles@devon.gov.uk
Tel No: 01392 383419
Room: 131
BACKGROUND PAPER

DATE

Page 20

FILE REFERENCE

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B

Proposed Allocation of Special Provision Fund
2018-19 Budget

£749,285

Proposed Allocation
Marland Day – expansion of provision

£150,000

Ratcliffe School – Design Feed Expand to
190 Design Fees

£100,000

Charlton Lodge – Additional Allocation

£149,285

Schools Fund – to be allocated

£350,000

Total

£749,285

Page 21

CONSULTATION PROPOSALS ON RESOURCE BASES
Resource
Base

School

Speech and Orchard Vale Primary,
Language
Barnstaple

Page 22

Speech &
Language

Newtown Primary,
Exeter

Proposal

Rationale

Consult on Closure
2019

No children currently on roll and lack of parental choice/preference due to
location. Equity of provision and need to support learners in local school rather
than bespoke centre.

Consult on Closure
2019

Due to lack of demand and equity of provision, in particular parent’s concerns
of travel distance for KS1 students. Services to support children in their local
school being developed

Specific
Learning
Difficulties

Queen Elizabeth
Community College,
Crediton

Consult on Closure
2019

Equity of service, only students in locality have benefitted from provision. Staff
now providing outreach through Babcock.

Hearing
Impairment

East the Water Primary,
Bideford

Consult on Closure
2019

Due to lack of demand. Advisory teacher element of service incorporated into
Babcock service.
No children currently attending

Hearing
Impairment

Bideford College,
Bideford

Consult on Closure
2019

Hearing
Impairment

Clyst Vale Community
College, Broadclyst

Consult on reduced
Lack of demand for Hearing Impairment together with need to provide more
numbers increased
multi-sensory services. Outreach for Hearing Impairment managed through
offer to support MultiBabcock, equity of service
Sensory.

Due to lack of demand. No children attending centre.

Agenda Item 9

Appendix C

Strategic Review of Special
Educational Needs Provision
2017/18
Review Report

Page 23
1

1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

Devon’s Multi-Agency Strategy for Children and Young People with Special
Education Needs and Disability (SEND) 2017-2020 sets six strategic
priorities to improve outcomes for children and young people with SEN &
disabilities and their families. A copy of the Strategy is available on the Local
Offer website at:
https://new.devon.gov.uk/educationandfamilies/special-educational-needsand-disability-send-local-offer

1.2

Priority 2 of this Strategy confirms the overarching aspiration that learners
with SEN will have access to good or better provision in their local
community and commits to reviewing SEN provision annually to ensure it is
in the right location of sufficient quality and that there is a good match
between demand and supply. The SEND Implementation Plan, also
available on the Local Offer website, highlights the role of the SEN Strategic
Review and Plan in the delivery of this priority. Alongside this Strategy, the
Department for Education (DfE) has also required local authorities to
undertake a strategic review. It is intended this will be kept under constant
review to ensure it continues to deliver the outcomes set out in the MultiAgency Strategy.

2.0

BACKGROUND

2.1

Devon County Council has responsibility for over 4,000 learners aged 0 to
25 with special educational needs identified through a statutory plan. At the
time of undertaking this review, Devon County Council is in the final stages
of converting learners with statutory plans onto Education, Health and Care
Plans within the prescribed timescales as set out by the Department for
Education.

2.2

An Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plan is for children and young people
aged up to 25 who need more support than is available through special
educational needs support. EHC plans identify educational, health and
social needs and set out the additional support to meet those needs.

2.3

Although it is expected that a review of SEN provision will be undertaken
each year, 2017 is the first time, at least in recent years, that such a review
has been undertaken and provides a baseline for future reviews. The review
has concentrated on the educational outcomes, quality of provision
commissioned and the long-term need and strategy for meeting that need.
The review makes clear recommendations for future areas of work to
support the strategy for learners with statutory plans.

2.4

During the Autumn of 2017 the review has:
i)

Undertaken a desktop analysis of available data, updated where
possible, including home to school transport;

ii)

Commissioned a detailed Asset Management Review of Devon’s
Special Schools;

Page 24
2

iii)

Supported the review of Support Centres in mainstream schools;

iv)

Commissioned an external demographic review of Devon’s SEND
future needs;

v)

Reviewed Out of County Placements and learners in Alternative
Provision;

vi)

Undertaken surveys of children/young people with complex SEN,
their parents and providers of education (mainstream, special and
independent schools).

The findings from the review will inform capital investment priorities.
3.0

NATIONAL AND LOCAL POLICY CONTEXT
3.1 Children and Families Act 2014 SEND and the Code of Practice are the
main statutory requirements of provision for children and young people
aged 0-25 years with Special Educational Needs. The Act, together with
a range of related legislation, placed significant new duties on local
authorities and other partner agencies including schools, post-16
providers and independent providers. The main challenges arising from
the impact of the Code are:
i)

Increased responsibility for post 19 learners without an appropriate
increase of additional High Needs Block to meet this new priority;

ii)

Pressures on school funding in Devon, and in particular the High Needs
Block against an increasing demographic;

iii)

The lack of capital funding to meet need;

iv)

Increased demand and expectations on the local authority.

3.2

Locally, challenges highlighted above are all pertinent to but there are
challenges at a local level that impact on our ability to support SEND. Firstly
of course, Devon is a large rural authority and as a result home to school
transport is a significant issue and cost, in particular for those with SEND.
Access to services can be difficult in rural areas and the geographic spread
of specialist provision is predominately in and around our larger urban
areas.

3.3

As per the national picture, funding from the High Needs Block remains
under increasing pressure which is unlikely to relent in the future years.

3.4

Devon is still reliant on both provision in other local authorities as well as the
independent sector to deliver its statutory responsibilities. The independent
sector has been subject to market failure in recent years and remains an
area of risk. Costs of the Independent sector continue to rise due to lack of
capacity and increased regulation.

Page 25
3

3.5

Devon County Council’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)
suggests a correlation between pupils living in the most deprived areas and
the likelihood of the need for a statutory plan. The prevalence of SEN in all
age groups changes over time but the gap between the most and least
deprived remains consistent. North Devon and Torridge have higher
proportions of children with SEN. South Hams, East Devon, Mid Devon &
West Devon have lower proportions.

Table 1: Distribution of SEN and Areas of Deprivation
District
East Devon
Exeter
Mid Devon
North Devon
South Hams
Teignbridge
Torridge
West Devon

% SEN
(2016)
16
16.7
16
18.9
14.6
17.1
23.1
15.7

Source: JSNA 2017

Page 26
4

4.0

DEVON’S OVERARCHING STRATEGIC AIMS

4.1

Devon’s SEND Strategy 2017-2020 confirms a graduated response to
ensure each student, where possible, is educated in their community in
provision that meets their educational needs and aligns directly with Devon’s
Education Infrastructure Plan 2016, principally Local Schools for Local
Children: The Strategy therefore:




4.2

Has a presumption that learners with SEND will be able to access
mainstream education;
Ensures there are sufficient special school places to meet demand from
learners whose educational needs cannot be met in a mainstream
setting;
Uses specialist independent providers only when the special educational
needs or broader non-educational issues require a level of specific
provision which can only be provided in the independent sector and
cannot be met in mainstream or special schools.

Specifically, the SEND Strategy envisages an inclusive education culture,
removing barriers to learning for every child by:






Ensuring all education settings serve the children & young people in
their local community and create a change of culture that presumes
mainstream education at every phase;
Minimising the number of children who do not have a school place & not
being electively educated at home
Monitor the provision made by all settings that provide statutory SEN
provision, intervene when necessary and support the sharing of good
practice
Support the acquisition of specialist skills & expertise within and across
local mainstream settings & communities;
Review SEN provision annually to ensure it is in the right location of
sufficient quality and there is a good match between demand and
supply.

At the heart of the Plan is ensuring the voice of children and young people
with SEND & their parents and carers are heard more clearly in education
settings & actions taken accordingly.
5.0 EDUCATIONAL OUTCOMES / INDICATORS
5.1 Devon County Council produces a SEN Annual Report on education
outcomes for learners with statutory plans and the report for 2015-16 is
detailed in Appendix A and has underpinned the Strategic Review.
5.2 The report highlights education outcomes for the 3,035 learners who attended
a state funded provision (Mainstream and Special, the overarching majority
being Devon students with EHC plans). The Annual Report shows a positive
position on educational outcomes when comparing Devon’s performance to
the national picture and with our statistical neighbours. The headlines for
learners with statutory plans include:

Page 27
5



In Year 1, phonics learners who met the expected standard in Year 1
(23%) continues to be significantly higher than both the national picture
(18%) and statistical neighbours (17%);



By the end of Year 2, 42% of Devon children with Statements/EHCPs
met the expected standard in phonics compared to 29% nationally;



Against a more challenging curriculum at Key Stage 1, there has been a
drop in educational outcomes when compared to previous years, which
reflects the national picture, however, the percentage of pupils with
Statements/EHCPs in Devon meeting the expected standard is better
than national comparisons. Devon is performing significantly better in
Science (23% compared to 17% nationally) and in Maths (19%
compared to 14% nationally);



At Key Stage 2 the percentage of pupils with Statements/EHCPs in
Devon meeting the expected standard is higher than the national
average in each subject area. However, progress made by pupils with
SEN in Devon was not as good as nationally within each of the subject
areas;



At Key Stage 4, learners in Devon achieve 5 A*-C including English and
Maths which is higher than the national average: 11.1% of pupils
compared to all English county local authorities average of 9.2%. For
comparison, of pupils with no SEN, 66.2% in Devon and 65.9% in all
English county local authorities achieve 5 A*-C including English and
Maths at Key Stage 4. However, the percentage of learners achieving
Level 2 at age 19 is lower compared to English Counties: 11.5%
compared to 13.8%.

The 2016/17 annual SEN report will be published in March.
5.3 When reviewing the percentage of Devon SEN pupils in education,
employment or training, fewer pupils with SEN remain compared to their
peers who have no SEN. 90% of Devon pupils with Statements remained in
education or employment in 2014/15 compared to 91% nationally. The
percentage of Devon SEN pupils with employment destinations has increased
and is greater than national averages. 6% of pupils with Statements moved
on to employment compared to 3% nationally. Devon pupils with SEN were
more likely to have a destination which was not sustained when compared to
their peers with no SEN, 10% compared to 3%.
5.4 Exclusions and absence are barriers to educational outcomes for all children
and young people, in particular for those with SEND. It is well documented
that regular school attendance contributes to attainment.
5.5 The percentage of all enrolments in state-funded primary, secondary and
special schools in 2014/15 that were classified as persistent absentees was
3.7% nationally and 3.7% for the South West. Nationally, the percentage of
enrolments with EHCP/statements classed as persistent absentees was 14.8%
- four times higher than for all children. In Devon, this figure was lower for the
same time period, at 2.9% for all enrolments. Persistent absence amongst

Page 28
6

pupils in Devon with EHCP/statements was 8.7%; three times higher than for
all Devon children but significantly lower than the National average.
5.6 Nationally, the percentage of pupils with statutory plans receiving a fixed term
exclusion is significantly higher than learners with no additional SEN needs,
approximately 7 times higher. Despite the year on year reduction in the
percentage of pupils with statutory plans receiving a fixed term exclusion, in
Devon the comparative figure is nearly 11 times.
5.7 Devon’s rate of permanent exclusions for pupils with SEN is significantly
higher than for pupils with no SEN. For those pupils with a statement/EHCP
the rate is also greater than the national average and is increasing.
5.8 To meet Devon’s statutory responsibilities, students are often admitted to
Alternative Provision (AP), predominantly at provision in North, Central
(Exeter) and South Devon (Dartington). Where a child with SEN is excluded
the significant majority of learners primary SEN need is Social, Emotional and
Mental Health, followed by Autism Spectrum Condition. AP provision is not
intended to be the long-term education placement for the majority of learners
and therefore is considered short stay provision (two terms) before
reintegration into an appropriate setting. Most exclusions are from
mainstream schools.
5.9 There are, at the time of drafting, 13 learners with statutory plans in Devon
AP provision who have been permanently excluded. Of the learners in Devon
provision, as at 24 January 2018, the average number of calendar days
students have been on roll total 247 with learner being on roll since
November 2016, 442 calendar days. There were a further 22 learners with
draft statutory plans, 17 with an assessment in progress and 3 where an
application for assessment has been received, all but 1 of these learners is
within Devon provision. It is clear that the numbers of learners in AP
provision and, for some, the time they are on roll in this provision is too high
although there is no comparative data to benchmark Devon’s position.
5.10 As a consequence of the above and recent changes at Devon’s
commissioned AP provision, there is an ongoing review of learners on roll to
ensure there is a strong move towards reintegration including a specific
protocol. The annual recommissioning of Alternative Provision will also need
to identify a strong focus on these learners. Alongside these specific actions,
due to increasing numbers of exclusions across the sector, the Council, in
partnership with schools, has commenced the Devon Inclusion Project (DIP)
which will include identifying opportunities for recommissioning, intervention
and reintegration. While the Project is concerned with the whole cohort of
pupils in Devon, the higher prevalence of permanent exclusion for learners
with a statutory plan is a key consideration in the DIP. The project will identify
the barriers to inclusion currently being experienced, their underlying causes
and solutions. The DIP findings will be implemented in time for the start of the
2018/19 academic year. Progress in undertaking the Project and the resulting
outcomes will be overseen by the Early Help Improvement Board.

Page 29
7

6.0 DEMOGRAPHICS/NEED
6.1 Devon’s Education Infrastructure Plan 2016 – 2033 includes a projection of
student numbers up to 2033, factoring in the expected growth through house
building and migration in to the County. Based on this demographic
modelling, there is forecast to be a 22% increase in the 0 – 19 population
between 2013 and 2033, an increase of approximately 36,000 students.
Based on this modelling, it is prudent to plan on the basis that statistically
there will be an increase in the numbers of learners requiring a statutory plan.
The need is likely to be in areas where there is significant and concentrated
house building.
Table 2: Devon’s Education Infrastructure Plan (EIP) 2016 identified the
current projections:
Age

2013

2018

2023

2028

2033

0-2

22,990

24,300

24,510

24,440

24,470

3-4

15,530

15,680

17,110

17,120

17,030

5-11

53,310

59,880

62,080

64,240

64,180

12-16

40,900

39,910

45,440

47,090

48,970

17-19

27,110

25,750

26,480

29,660

30,370

Total

159,830

163,515

175,630

182,540

185,020

6.2 Within Devon, housing led populations indicate the largest increases in the 019 population will be in East Devon, Exeter and the South Hams, due
principally to new towns in Cranbrook and Sherford and sustained housing
development in or on the borders of Exeter. However, across North Devon
and Torridge, significant expansion is proposed and outside of the current
local plan and a new garden village in Mid Devon. The EIP sets out the broad
infrastructure requirements for SEND provision to meet the needs of Devon
but will need to be reviewed following this review.

Page 30
8

6.3 The introduction of the new Code of Practice initially saw a drop in the
number of Devon young people with statutory plans but this trend has
reversed in recent years:
Table 3: Numbers of Statutory Plans
Year
Number of
statutory plans
Percentage
change

2014
3765

2015
3570

2016
3510

2017
3718

-5.2

-1.7

6.0

Source: SEN Annual Report 2015/16 plus data for 2017

In the last year Devon has seen a very significant increase in the number of
requests for new assessments being made. This has subsequently led to a
99% increase in the number of assessments which meet the statutory
threshold and need a full joint assessment.

Source: High Needs Block Briefing October 2017

The assessments that were made between September 2017 and January
2018 increase this number further, in particular due to the decision to phase
out non-statutory funding.
The number of pupils in Devon with statutory plans supported by the Council
has increased and is forecast to exceed the 4,000 mark by the end of March
2018.
6.4 In Devon, the most common type of primary need is Social, Emotional and
Mental Health, with just over one fifth of the SEN cohort, closely followed by
Speech, Language and Communication need with just under 20% of pupils
having this as their primary need. The table below illustrates the more
prevalent need types and compares Devon against the national picture.

Page 31
9

Source: SEN Annual Report 2015/16

6.5

SEN needs also vary with age. When reviewed by school type, the most
common need in primary schools is Speech, Language and Communication,
followed closely by Social Emotional & Mental Health. In secondary schools,
the most common need is Specific Learning Difficulty followed by Social,
Emotional & Mental Health. Social, Emotional & Mental Health Needs are
prevalent across all school types however. In special schools, the most
common categories of need are Severe Learning Difficulty and Autistic
Spectrum Condition which reflects the specialisms of these schools.

Page 32
10

Source: SEN Annual Report 2015/16

6.6

There are no national forecasts of what might be expected regarding future
prevalence of SEN. Whilst the number of children with SEN in schools in
England has fallen by one fifth in the last decade, the Council for Disabled
Children’s 2017 report highlighted the large increase in school children with
‘complex needs’ (defined as having SEN primary need of Profound and
Multiple Learning Difficulties, Multi-Sensory Impairment, Autism Spectrum
Disorder) – a rise of almost 50% since 2004.

6.7

It can be seen that the population of Devon is forecast to grow, especially in
areas with targeted and sustained housing development. The numbers of
learners with statutory plans will increase and inevitably a proportion of
these learners will require a specialist place.

7.0

EDUCATIONAL PROVISION / SETTINGS

7.1

Education for those with SEN in Devon is largely provided directly through
state schools. Other provision includes specialist residential schools and
colleges and independent schools. SEN Support and assessment provision
is commissioned by Devon County Council from Babcock Learning and
Development Partnership (Physical Disabilities Team; Communication &
Interaction Team, Education Psychologists, Sensory Teams) and Virgin

Page 33
11

Care (Portage, Occupational Therapy, ROVIC, Multi-Sensory Impairment
enabling).
7.2

Table 4 provides a summary of pupils with statutory plans as a proportion of
the 2–18 population. Devon has a slightly higher proportion of learners with
Statutory Plans compared to other regional/comparable authorities and the
English average (2.9% compared to 2.8%), and this is likely to increase
marginally due to the position outlined above but there has nationally been
an upward trend on previous figures.

7.3

It can be seen that a significant proportion of this cohort are educated in
mainstream provision. Throughout the review process, there have been
assertions that Devon commissions a high number of places in the
independent sector, however, the use of the independent sector is
comparatively low and on a par with England as a whole. The use of
Independent and Non-Maintained provision is considered later in this
Review and the reduction in the need to use this provision remains a priority
where appropriate.

Table 4: Numbers per 1000 of age 2-18 population with SEN Statement or EHC
plan & placement (2017-18).
Devon

Somerset

Dorset

Cornwall

Wiltshire

Shropshire

England

No. EHCP
/Statement

27

13.8

23.6

23.4

27.5

30.5

25.9

% Mainstream
schools or
academies

44

25

37

50

32

53

36

2

7

4

7

20

0

6

30

42

35

16

25

31

36

6

11

8

4

5

7

6

1

1

0

1

0

0

1

% Post 16

13

13

12

16

16

8

11

% Other

4

2

3

6

3

1

3

% Resourced
provision or SEN
units
% Special
schools or
academies
% NonMaintained
Special Schools
or independent
schools
% Hospital
schools or
alternative
provision

Source: Department for Education High Needs Benchmarking Tool

May not total 100% due to rounding

Page 34
12

7.4

Resourced provision support children and young people who have
difficulties related to specific areas of SEND. Provision is funded from the
High Needs Block and directly attached to mainstream schools enabling
these bases to develop high levels of expertise in supporting children with
different categories of SEND. Specialist bases should also provide outreach
support for other schools so that expertise can be shared.

7.5

There are currently 17 specialist centres across the County, including 7
Communication and Interaction Resource Bases, 3 Hearing Impaired Units,
3 Physical Disability Units, 2 Speech and Language Units, 1 Sensory
Impairment Hub and 1 unit supporting Specific Learning Difficulties.

7.6

A review of these centres has been undertaken to ensure they remain fit for
purpose based on changing demand. The review considered:
1. Equity of Provision - the current location and its ability to support
learners within a reasonable distance and whether an outreach model
providing an offer locally is preferable.
2. Parental Preference – where parental choice has resulted in a change in
numbers.
3. Mainstream Offer – where a learner with a particular need can fully
access a mainstream curriculum with appropriate support and
adjustments.
4. Value for Money – an assessment of cost to the High Needs Block of
maintaining places where planned places are not needed due to change
in demand or in some cases no demand.

7.7

The review has been led by commissioning managers from the 0-25 SEN
team within Devon County Council, supported by colleagues from Babcock
Learning and Development Partnership. The proposals have been
developed in consultation with headteachers and individual schools as well
as through the Schools Forum. Alongside this process, a review has also
taken place of the information available to parents and professionals through
the Local Offer website in particular where there are proposals to
decommission provision.
The outcome is summarised in Appendix B and approval will be sought from
Devon County Council to formally consult on the proposed changes where
required.

7.8

DEVON MAINTAINED SPECIAL SCHOOLS: to attend a special school a
child needs to have a statutory plan. There is a high demand for special
school places in Devon and some children must travel a significant distance
to attend a special school, in part due to the rural nature of Devon’s
geography but also with a concentration of provision around Exeter,
Barnstaple and neighbouring local authorities.

7.9

Devon has recently increased the capacity of its special schools to meet the
demand from population change as well as managing the implications of

Page 35
13

market failure in the independent sector. The majority of our special schools
are at capacity or forecast to be at capacity within the foreseeable future. In
addition, Devon is a net ‘exporter’ of learners to Torbay and Plymouth
Special School provision with 57 and 37 learners in their maintained
provision versus 13 and 3 in Devon provision respectfully, a net export of 78
learners. The provision commissioned from other Local Authorities in the
main supports learners with SEMH and ASC needs.
Table 6: Details of Devon’s Special Schools
DfE
No

School

SEN Type

Day/
Residential

Boys/
Girls

Age
range

7008 Barley Lane

SEMH

Day

Boys
and
Girls

7-16

7044 Bidwell Brook

SLD &
Profound &
multiple
learning
difficulties
SLD/PMLD/
Complex
Needs

Day

Boys
and
Girls

3-19

110 wef
Sept.17

109

Day

Boys
and
Girls

3-19

174

7020 The Lampard
Community
School

Complex
needs and
ASD

Day

Boys
and
girls

5-16

180
wef
Sept.
2017
120 wef Sept.
2016

7088 Marland

SEMH

Res (weekly
boarding)

Boys
only

10-16

40

73

SEMH

Day

Boys
and
girls

8-16

36 places wef
April 2016

SLD, PMLD
and
Complex
Needs

Day

Boys
and
Girls

3-19

100
wef January
2015

7002 Ellen
Tinkham

Marland
(Spring Field
Court)
Roundswell
Industrial
Estate
7006 Mill Water
Bicton

Page 36
14

Places
available;
Public Notice
(unless
indicated
otherwise)
72 wef
Autumn
2016

NOR –
Autumn
2017

66

121

112

7043 Oaklands
Park*

SLD,
Complex
Communica
tion and
Interaction
Difficulties
and ASC.
Communica
tion and
Interaction
Difficulties
(ASC) and
Social
Developme
nt Needs

60 places –
of which 17
residential

Boys
and
Girls

3-19

60
July 2016

56

96 places –
of which 40
residential.

Boys
and
Girls

5-16

96
October 2016

104

7005 Southbrook
(day)

MLD/Compl
ex Needs
and ASC

Day

Boys
and
Girls

11-16

120 wef
Sept.17

121

7021 Pathfield

SLD

Day

Boys
and
Girls

3-19

137
Sept.
2016

132

7087 Ratcliffe*

*Schools will amalgamate 1/9/18

7.10

Devon County Council is still placing over the number of planned places
allocated through the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA), planned
places being funded at £10,000 per place with a top up from the High Needs
Block for each learner attending. The number of planned places are limited
by the ESFA and as such any additional places will need to be funded in full,
i.e. £10,000 plus the top-up. The number of planned places are included in
the table above. It is therefore considered there is insufficient ‘day’ capacity
in Devon’s Special schools to meet current and projected numbers.

7.11

In the Autumn of 2017 the Council undertook detailed Asset Management
reviews of all Devon special schools to identify whether there were
opportunities to increase capacity and/or improve the suitability of each
provision. The plans have been completed and released to the schools to
support their short, medium and long-term planning.

Page 37
15

Table 9: Summary of Asset Management Plans
School
Marland Day &
Residential
School

Registered
Capacity
76
40
Residential
36 Day

Capacity
to
Expand
Yes

Other
Develop feasibility to increase Marland Day provision
and to ensure access to the vocational kitchen on the
Springfield premises.

Pathfield

137

Yes

No immediate need to expand. Minor maintenance
works for School to address. School fundraising for a
new sports hall.

Lampard

120

Yes

Ellen Tinkham
School,
including
Bodley House
Southbrook
School

180

Yes

No immediate need to expand. Within the mediumlonger term school may need to provide an additional
20 places to meet the needs of housing growth. A
number of improvement projects identified.
Potential 19-25 offer at Bodley House which forms a
part of the capital investment proposals.

120

Yes

Southbrook to remain at 120 for now, school
undertaking own scheme to improve facilities/replace
accommodation.

Barley Lane

72

Yes

There is a need to increase offer in Exeter for younger
pupils with SEMH needs. Potential to consider at
Barley Lane or off site local provision.

Mill Water

100

No

Bidwell Brook

110

Yes

Potential to review post 16 offer on-site aligned to
expanded provision in Exeter.
No immediate need to increase this provision.

60 Oaklands
105 Ratcliffe

Yes

Oaklands &
Ratcliffe

Feasibility to expand to 190 places to address
increasing need as well as alternative curriculum Post16 offer.

7.12

Special schools become registered to take a specific number of children,
based on physical space within the school, and/or local authority
requirements for places. This is agreed through consultation. It is
reasonably expected that schools can admit up to 10% over this registered
number in agreement with the local authority. As can be seen from the
above, many of our special schools are already at capacity and up to 10%
over their registered number of places.

7.13

In some cases, a school may be able to accommodate an additional child
within a class group over this number, having considered the age and needs
of the child and the impact admitting an additional child to the class will have
on the class and school as a whole. In such situations, it is not practical to
begin a formal consultation due to timescales involved, though the
frequency of needing to place a child through this process will be considered
through future place planning within our special schools.

Page 38
16

7.14

Where there is such a short term need to place a child at a school which is
already at the registered number plus 10% then due consideration must be
given to ensure the child can be placed safely. Discussions with other Local
Authorities have highlighted in this scenario, where it is in the best interests
of the learner, schools have undertaken a risk assessment to ensure the
admission is fully risk assessed. It is therefore recommended that Devon
schools use a defined risk assessment template identified in Appendix C, to
evidence consideration of their ability to take a child over number when
requested to do so by the local authority. The template will enable a school
to evidence the rationale for the admission. This, however, should not be
used as normal practice and any such admissions should trigger a review of
provision.

7.15

In respect of residential provision, there has been an ongoing review of the
needs to the County Council for education provision solely due to the
education needs of the learners. Inevitably in a large rural authority, there
are occasions where provision is not located near enough for learners to
access day provision, however, the need for residential places due to
education needs has reduced and as such the number of residential places
available in Devon’s Special schools has reduced. There has also been a
national shift away from termly boarding to weekly provision which has been
reflected in recommissioning of maintained residential provision, e.g.
Marland Special School and more recently in Dawlish. Devon has, however,
invested in improving the residential accommodation with a live project
ongoing at Marland Special School and past investment at provision in
Dawlish.

7.16 COMMISSIONING PROVISION OUTSIDE OF DEVON / HOME
EDUCATION: Devon commissions in the region of 6% (220) of special
places outside of the County’s administrative border, less than 1% is outside
the peninsula (Torbay, Plymouth, Somerset & Cornwall). In respect of
places commissioned outside of the peninsula, the majority of places are for
and 19 in independent settings, the latter being discussed later in the Plan.

Page 39
17

Devon children with an EHCP or Statement by different types of provision and national
curriculum year outside the Peninsula Authorities

12
Number of
Children
&
Young
People

10
Early years (-1 yrs)

8

Primary (0-6 yrs)

6

Secondary (7-11 yrs)

4

12, 13, 14 (16-19 yrs)
15 - 19 (19+ yrs)

2
0
MSS

NSS

INS

ACD (APA)

ISP

Type of Provision
Analysis @ 1/9/18

7.17

The majority of places commissioned within the peninsula are from either
Plymouth and Torbay, as highlighted previously, which is consistent with the
pattern of provision prior to Local Government Reorganisation in 1998 which
saw Plymouth and Torbay move to Unitary status.

7.18

Within the Peninsula, it can be seen, that Devon is principally
commissioning provision at Secondary and post 16 which both reflects the
location of provision in relation to Devon population and market towns and
the Further Education offer in both Torbay, Plymouth and Somerset.

Table 7: Commissioning across the Peninsula

National Curriculum Year
Early years (-1)
Primary (0-6)
Secondary (7-11)
12, 13, 14

Devon
10
408
752
284

Local Authority
Plymouth Torbay
Cornwall
1
0
0
15
9
1
21
43
1
8
39
4

Analysis @1/9/18

Page 40
18

Somerset
0
3
15
10

Table 8: Overview of the primary needs to places commissioned across the
Peninsula
Primary need
Autistic Spectrum Condition
Hearing Impairment
Moderate Learning Difficulty
Multi-Sensory Impairment
Not Known
Physical Disability
Profound & Multiple Learning
Difficulty
Social, Emotional & Mental
Health
Speech, Language &
Communication Difficulty or
Need
Severe Learning Difficulty
Specific Learning Disability
Under assessment
Visual Impairment

Plymouth

Torbay

Cornwall

Somerset

Total

8
0
3
0
0
4

19
0
17
0
1
11

0
0
3
1
0
1

12
0
2
0
1
1

39
0
25
1
2
17

1

1

0

1

3

18

15

2

14

49

5
8
1
0
1

24
6
1
0
1

1
0
1
0
1

0
5
0
2
0

30
19
3
2
3

Analysis @1/9/18

7.19

It can be clearly seen that the need for place from within the Peninsula are
directly aligned to the need identified within the strategic plan, specifically
SEMH, ASD and Speech, Language and Communication Difficulty.

7.20

Devon works closely with Local Authorities within the Peninsula and have
throughout the review liaised on proposals and outcomes. It has been
confirmed that neighbouring Local Authorities, particularly Torbay and
Plymouth are in the short to medium term, planning on the basis that Devon
will continue to commission the number of places it has recently required.
Similarly, Devon is planning on the basis that neighbouring authorities will
continue to require places at DCC Special Schools.

7.21

It has also been recognised that new provision proposed on or near the
borders of Somerset and Torbay will reduce our reliance on their provision
and offer additional provision for them to commission to meet their needs.

7.22

In the short term, the neighbouring Local Authorities have factored in
Devon’s needs when considering their broader growth plans. However, it
should be noted that both Torbay and Plymouth are Authorities with
aspirations for significant housing growth in and around their borders and as
such, in the longer term, it would be prudent to assume their capacity to
continue to support Devon’s learners may be diminished. Devon will in the
future need to ensure that response to Local Plans in neighbouring Local
Authorities include an oversight of special school provision and Devon’s
needs.

Page 41
19

7.23

HOME EDUCATION: The number of Elective Home Educated (EHE)
children with a Statement/EHCP is rising. However, as the overall number of
Elective Home Educated children has increased the percentage with a
Statement / EHCP has gradually reduced in recent years.

Academic
Year

Number of
EHE
students
with
statement

Number of
registered
EHE
students

% of
students with
Statements /
EHCPs

2016/17

44

1275

3.5%

2015/16

37

1018

3.6%

2014/15

37

766

4.8%

2013/14

44

750

5.9%

2012/13

33

521

6.3%

2011/12

36

560

6.4%

Source: SEN Annual Report 2015/16 updated for 2016/17 data (provisional).

7.24

There are several reasons why children become home educated. Data for
2016/17 are expected to show that 1.6% of students cited “Problems with
SEN Provision” as the reason for home education, a small increase on the
previous year (1.3%); 7.1% were home educated due to medical reasons,
which is slightly higher than the previous year (6.9%). 3.9% of students
cited “Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties” as their reason for home
education which is a significant increase on the previous year (1.6% in
2015/16). (Source: provisional SEN Annual Report 2016/17).

8.0

ANALYSIS OF OUT OF COUNTY/INDEPENDENT SPECIAL SCHOOL
PLACEMENTS

8.1

Under the Devon SEND Strategy, the SEN policy for commissioning SEND
provision is to first consider mainstream schools, then Devon special
schools, before we seek provision in the independent sector. It should be
noted the majority of placements in this sector are costly due to their
specialist nature but also due to market forces.

Page 42
20

Table 10: Number of SEN Placements in Independent Settings
Independent Placements
DAY
RESIDENTIAL
Pre 16 Post
Pre
Post 16
16
165
107
28
42
167
78
34
47
133
71
27
47
161
62
33
46

TOTAL

2017/18*
342
2016/17
326
2015/16
278
2014/15
302
* Schools Finance Group High Needs Report. Data recorded at 01.09.2017
8.2

Table 10 provides an overview of places commissioned, pre- and post-16 as
well as day and residential placements in the past 4 years.

8.3

Whilst numbers have remained broadly consistent across most areas, there
has been a significant growth in the need for post-16 day placements. This
can be explained in part to the increased number of post-19 placements that
have needed to be commissioned.

8.4

At the start of the 2017-18 academic year, there were 265 places
commissioned from Independent Sector Providers. An analysis of 101
independent sector placements made since the 1st April 2017 confirms the
areas of unmet primary need are as follows:

Table 11: Areas of unmet need from placement made.
Primary Need
Communication and
Interaction
Cognition and Learning
not recorded
Physical Disability
SEMH
Visually Impaired
Hearing Impaired
Grand Total

Primary

Secondary

16-19

Post-19

5

21

4

3

2
1

1
1
2
25
1
1
52

1

12
1
1
1
1

12
1
1
22

Source: Data recorded October 2017

Page 43
21

1
2

8

19

Grand
Total
33
16
3
4
40
3
2
101

8.5

The reasons for the use of the Independent Sector for these 101 learners is:

Table 12 Reasons for using Independent provision
Reason Code
Special School unable to meet need
Post 19
Other/Not recorded
Parental Preference
Medical – Pre 16
Social Care/Joint Agency
Safeguarding Concern
Capacity not Available in Mainstream
Tribunal Direction
Medical – Post 16
Grand Total

Learners
44
19
11
6
6
6
3
3
2
1
101

Source: Data recorded October 2017

8.6

The reasons for placements aligns to the increased need across the sector
for additional provision to support SEMH and Communication/Interaction.
Initial analysis indicates that a number of these learners have a very high
level of need or require a curriculum offer not currently offered in maintained
special school provision. It is clear there is insufficient capacity to support
primary learners, particularly those with SEMH as their primary need. North
Devon and Torridge is a particular hot spot.

8.7

Further analysis of the 44 students where Special Schools could not meet
need has been commissioned to understand better how packages for these
learners could be commissioned in maintained provision and how the
curriculum offer from new provision needs to fill this gap to reduce the
reliance on the independent sector.

8.8

Managing the extension of age range to encompass 19-25 is clearly a
significant issue for Devon. Whilst numbers initially fell in 2014-15, there has
been a significant rise since then with a 44% growth since 2014-15. Devon
has experienced an increase in demand for residential options post-19,
despite there being a local offer in Further Education Colleges and seeing
an increased demand for Supported Internship courses. The challenges
around can be summarised into the following:
- Consultation suggests there is a difference in young peoples and parent’s
aspirations in terms of future employment opportunities;
- Parent’s aspirations at 19 -25 are for full time education and consider this
to be the optimum choice however this means that transition into
adulthood at 25 can result in a cohort of adults without the necessary life
skills to be independent;
-

Requests for residential placements suggest a perception of a lack of
confidence in a local care offer and support post 19; further work is
required to support young adults locally across education and care;

Page 44
22

- There is a lack of bespoke provision within Devon, especially full-time
education resulting in the need to commission from the Independent
Sector, especially from direction at tribunal.
8.9

There is currently no clear strategy for meeting the needs of these learners
although there is an intention that development of a local offer through our
special schools and FE colleges together with better transition planning,
including parents, to ensure decisions post-16 and post-19 are targeted at
independence and transition to adulthood. Officers from Social Care,
Education and Employment and Skills, through Devon’s Purposeful Systems
work, have researched current practice and are looking at a test for change
to improve the transition from child to adulthood with a strong focus on
independence and employment. The intention is that through better support
and relationships prior to transition, combined with strong collaborative work
at transition, this will help individuals be ‘steady and ready’ for their next
steps in becoming as independent as they can be including employment.

8.10 The costs of the independent sector are significantly higher than provision
commissioned through mainstream and maintained special provision. Due to
the specialist nature of the provision and the needs of some learners, this is
to be expected. Inevitably, there will always be a need to use the
independent sector due to either the specific educational needs of the
learner or wider social care issues but the delivery of additional provision will
reduce the likelihood over time.
8.11

An analysis of costs per learner has been undertaken which has identified
that ASC and SEMH are the areas where we have had to commission out of
county placements. There are currently in excess of 200 students where
their placements costs exceed £50,000 a year. The majority of the high cost
provision is directly attributable to provision to support learners whose
primary need is SEMH and ASC. A detailed review of the high cost
placements has commenced.

9.

QUALITY OF PROVISION

9.1

As highlighted earlier, learners with statutory plans are educationally
performing well. The following section considers the quality of provision
commissioned for learners with statutory plans. The following table identifies
the learners in Devon mainstream schools and aligns to the current OfSTED
rating of that provision. It can be seen that the numbers of learners in good
or outstanding schools broadly aligns with the pattern of Devon’s provision.

Page 45
23

Table 13: OfSTED rating in mainstream schools
Ofsted rating and
number of pupils

% of pupils
in good or
outstanding

% of Devon
Mainstream
Schools with
good or
outstanding
Ofsted Rating

Ofsted
Phase

1

Primary

112

457

55

11

635

89.61%

89.20%

Secondary

106

476

137

7

726

80.17%

82.35%

TOTALS

218

933

192

18

1361

84.57%

88.47%

2

3

4

Totals

Source Data CSET 01 dated 24/01/2018 which holds information on all Devon Children with Statements/EHCPs in both
Devon schools and Other Local Authority Schools. Monthly Ofsted information dated 31/01/2018 which is based on
establishments that have been inspected.

Page 46
24

9.2
Further analysis of non-mainstream provision identifies the following:
Table 14: No. of Learners with statutory plans across provider types
Number of Devon learners with an EHCP or Statement placed across provider types

Provider type

Outstanding

Good

Satisfactory

Requires
improvement

Inadequate

ISI

Total

Inspected

Maintained
Special
Schools
(MSS)
Resource
Base

166

819

0

54

0

0

1039

14

34

0

43

2

0

93

Mainstream
Total

180

853

0

97

2

0

1132

Mainstream
%

16%

75%

0%

9%

0%

0%

100%

0

13

0

0

12

0

25

59

148

0

0

0

0

207

Mainstream
Independent
(IND)

4

9

14

0

0

13

40

Independent
Special
Post
16/College
(ISP)
Independent
Special
Schools (INS)

0

20

0

0

0

0

97

10

30

0

77

0

0

40

NonMainstream

73

220

14

77

12

13

409

NonMainstream
%

18%

54%

3%

19%

3%

3%

100%

253

1073

14

174

14

13

1541

16%

70%

1%

11%

8%

1%

NonMaintained
Special
Schools
(NSS)
Further
education/
apprenticeship

All

Analysis @ 1/9/17

Page 47
25

9.3

It can be seen that in the main, learners with statutory plans attend provision
that is considered good or outstanding although it can clearly be seen that
places commissioned from state funded provision is of higher quality than
within the independent sector. This further strengthens the underlying
commissioning strategy highlighted at the beginning of this plan.

10.

HIGH NEEDS BLOCK (HNB) FUNDING

10.1

The high needs funding system supports provision for pupils and students
with SEN and disabilities (SEND), from their early years to age 25. The
Education Funding Agency (EFA) makes an allocation to local authorities for
high needs funding as part of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). High
needs funding is intended to provide the most appropriate support package
for an individual with special educational needs in a range of settings.

10.2

The HNB for 2017-18 at month 10 monitoring stood at £64m with a project
outturn of £66.5m, a total projected overspend of £2.5m. Approximately
£1.8m of this overspend is attributable to the Independent Sector costs, a
12% overspend on a budget of £15m. Of the projected spend, £4m relates
to post-19 provision.

10.3

As highlighted previously, numbers of placements with independent
residential providers have remained relatively stable in recent years but
there has been a significant increase in demand and costs of day
placements. Overall, costs per place in the independent sector have
increased by 33% in the last three years. These increases are market led
and the Education Funding Agency allows only limited commissioning
powers for local authorities with national Independent providers; planned
places are determined centrally for these rather each local authority.

11.0

CAPITAL FUNDING

11.1

The Education Infrastructure Plan 2016 highlighted that the funding sources
which supported investment in infrastructure to support Special Education
needs are no longer available with the funding from the Government either
linked to mainstream demographic growth and building condition.

11.2

Despite the reduction in capital funding sources, Devon has been able to
continue to invest in provision to support SEND through allocation of basic
need and maintenance funding as well as securing Devon County assets,
such as former care homes, to support additional places. More recently,
requests for contributions from housing development have been sought and
will in the medium term be able to be committed to schemes, potentially
retrospectively applied to current schemes.

11.3

However, the continued pressure on capital funding means the potential for
further investment without major capital announcements from Central
Government. Devon has worked with providers through the Free School
programme and in partnership with a local provider secured the potential for
new provision in Newton Abbot having offered a former school site to

Page 48
26

support the proposal. However, the future of the Free School programme, at
the time of writing, is uncertain.
11.4

However, linked to this strategic review, the Government has identified a
three-year capital fund for all Local Authorities to support proposals. Devon
will receive circa £2.2m over three years. Proposals to allocate these funds,
linked to the review’s recommendations are attached in Appendix D.

12.0

HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT

12.1

Devon County Council currently transports approximately 14,500 pupils per
annum of which around 1,500 have additional needs. The SEN transport
budget for the 2017/18 financial year stands at £9,643,000 per annum, an
increase of £2.3m since 2015-16. Despite the increase in budget, the
outturn for 2017-18 shows a potential shortfall of over £0.8m and remains
under pressures due to a number of factors including:

12.2

•

Growth in the number of passengers attending special schools, this
has grown by 20% in the last 5 years;

•

Due to the needs of individuals being transported, specialist vehicles
are often required with some vehicles being provided on a one-to-one
basis. For the most complex needs this could be an ambulance, an
accessible vehicle or a one-to-one requirement due to behavioural
issues;

•

Location of the appropriate provision in relation to home address.

Devon County Council’s Transport Coordination Service work with
colleagues in Education to mitigate the impacts described above. These
include:
•
•

12.3

Regular review of transport networks to take into account changing
needs and circumstances and plan the most efficient transport
networks possible;
Deploying Devon County Council’s own fleet where the market may
not provide or represent Best Value;

•

Provide Independent Transport Training where public transport is
available to offer an alternative way of accessing school or college
and provide life skills;

•

Working with colleagues to ensure transport is considered earlier
within the planning process, whether for an individual child or when
planning longer term strategies for SEN provision.

The Council aims for pupils to attend school settings as close to their home
as possible. 61% of children with statutory SEN plans attending mainstream
schools travel less than 3 miles and 35% between 3 and 10 miles. 59% of
those attending Special Schools travel less than 10 miles. 18% of pupils at
mainstream/special schools travel between 10-20 miles to attend their
school and a small proportion travel in excess of 20 miles. These findings

Page 49
27

are also supported by the feedback obtained from children and young
people and parents/carers.
12.4

A detailed analysis of SEN transport has reviewed the number of learners
deemed to receive SEND transport, the home base, their travel
requirements and the wider growth plans of the areas where they are
currently resident. The areas where there are high numbers of learners
accessing Special provision, not within their immediate town, include
Newton Abbot, Tiverton, Bideford, Exmouth and Ilfracombe. The provision
that supports these learners are in areas where there is expected to be
significant housing development including Exeter, Barnstaple and Torbay.

13.0

CONSULTATIONS AND FEEDBACK

13.1

Devon’s Multi Agency Strategy highlights the role of the parent and pupil
voice in their education and the need to seek their views to shape the way
services are delivered. In undertaking this Review plan, the work of the
SEND Improvement Board, engagement workstream & networks were
considered, together with other insight such as the draft engagement report
from the Community Health & Wellbeing Services for Children & Young
People in Devon ‘Shaping Future Services’ (draft engagement report
October 2017).

13.2

Alongside this, schools and governors have been engaged through the
School Organisation Capital and Admissions Board (SOCA).

13.3

In November 2017, Devon county Council undertook surveys with young
people, parents and providers as part of review of SEN provision. The aim
was to obtain up to date, feedback specifically on experiences of those
involved special educational needs, to inform options for service
development and improvement. A total of 298 responses were received by
the deadline of 8 December:




123 from children/young people, approximately 3% of the relevant
cohort
102 from parents/carers
73 from providers

13.4

Consultation with parents and young people continues to be an area of
challenge but is fundamentally key to improve our offer. A key opportunity
identified is to harness the insight through the EHCP annual review process
on the quality of service and parent/learner thoughts on their current offer.

13.5

Key messages from the engagement survey have been identified,
summarised in Appendix D and published on the SEND Local Offer website.
The main feedback identified was:
Buildings & Resources
Responses highlighted the impact that buildings & resources can have on
the experience of pupils and their sense of inclusion as well as the potential
for stigma.

Page 50
28

It is recommended that an allocation of Capital funding be set aside to
support schools in optimising the buildings to improve the
educationally offer for those pupils with high SEN.
Communication & confidentiality
Responses provided positive feedback about how pupils and parents feel
able to raise issues and be kept informed, though there were detailed
comments of the challenges in doing so. There was also interesting insight
of how parents/carers and children/young people can have different
perspectives, which reinforces the importance of ensuring all voices have
the opportunity to be involved in planning and feedback.
The detailed insight from feedback will be shared with the SEND
Engagement network for further consideration.
Location of settings
Feedback supported data which indicated that a small number of pupils
have to travel considerable distances to attend school. It also highlighted the
extent to which pupils attend the school of their choice.
The development of provision especially in Tiverton and Newton Abbot
responds to future housing projections and will provide additional
capacity for more localised services. Further developments in other
areas e.g. North & South Devon will also be developed.
School Offer & Teaching
The majority of respondents reported that they enjoy going to school and
provided detailed insight in to what works well. Feedback indicated there
was room for improvement particularly in respect of providing learning
opportunities in the community, providing challenge, raising aspiration and
ambition and ensuring pupils have an understanding of their progress in
learning.
It is recommended that further work be done to better understand the
needs and offer particularly in respect of those children & young
people with social, emotional and mental health needs and those
young people post 19. Further reviews will also be undertaken in
respect of those learners in Alternative Provision and independent
settings.
Wider Practice
Responses provided feedback on wider practices and support including the
experience of services provided to schools, collaboration between agencies
and opportunities for schools themselves to better support each other.
The insights from this engagement, together with lessons learned in
undertaking the survey, will be considered further via the SEND
Improvement Board (Engagement Workstream).

Page 51
29

Though providing insight, the engagement and responses demonstrated the
challenges and limitations of surveys. There is an opportunity to harness the
feedback in the annual reviews of EHCPs, to offer the potential of a different
perspective on user experiences, which is less disruptive and more planned.
The use of surveys could then be more focussed, if required.
It is recommended therefore that experiences of provision are
captured and reported as part of the routine EHCP process.
14.0

DATA

14.1 There is considerable data relating to SEN, drawn from a range of sources,
reflecting different time periods and used for a variety of purposes. This
creates challenges and current data that is readily available on the broader
population group in Devon is limited in many areas in terms of scope, detail,
completeness and accuracy.
14.2 The multiple IT systems and data flows involved across commissioners
and various providers of healthcare, education and social care in Devon,
mean it is not possible currently to collect and match all available
information about children with disabilities together for analysis and
interpretation. The interface between child and adult services adds
another layer of difficulty in mapping needs across the transition period.
14.3 This is by no means only a local problem; the report of the Children and
Young People’s Health Outcomes Forum in 2015 noted that nationally,
data on children and young people’s health and outcomes, including for
those with disabilities was still insufficient and data was still not being
collected on outcomes important to children and young people. More
recently, the Council for Disabled Children also highlighted the
constraints, gaps and limitations in national data. This is especially
marked in terms of information on the needs and diagnoses of children
with disabilities known to health services; and on wider health outcomes
for children and young people with SEN and disabilities. Information on
young people, aged 16-25, is lacking; routine data often includes this
group within the wider adult population (JSNA 2017).
14.4 A number of developments are taking place nationally. Local authorities
have been recommended to build understanding and data about local
and regional trends in SEN. The Council is therefore using part of the
funding provided for undertaking this Review to procure an SEND
Provision Planning System, to provide a stronger basis for data
management, reporting and scenario analysis at school and other
geographical and planning areas. The benefits of this development will
be available to inform future annual reviews of provision. The Council is
also working with the NHS to create a multi-agency SEND dashboard,
as a foundation of stronger partnership working.

Page 52
30

15.0

CONCLUSIONS

15.1

The Strategic Review on provision for learners with statutory plans has
concluded that:
• Devon learners with statutory plans are educationally performing
either at or above national performance. Exclusions are however high
compared to the national average and some learners can be in
Alternative Provision for long periods;
• The numbers of learners with statutory plans, as a proportion of the
school population, is slightly above national average but in the
median of our statistical neighbours. In terms of these placements,
we are performing above national averages in terms of the
presumption for a mainstream offer. Numbers of requests are on the
increase;
• Demographics are showing an increase in the school population over
the next 10 – 20 years and there will be an increase in the numbers
of learners with a statutory plan. This needs to be seen against a
Special Schools estate which is at capacity;
• ASC and SEMH are the areas of growth which require additional
capacity, in particular at primary age level, the needs of these
learners cut across all of the challenging areas identified in this
review;
• The future of a number of Support Centres will need to be reviewed
principally due to lack of demand/numbers and/or a different
approach to delivery of support to the individual learner;
• The quality of provision commissioned from mainstream/maintained
sector is higher than the independent sector;
• The reasons for commissioning independent provision are directly
linked to Post-19 learners, where special schools have identified they
cannot meet need. Learners primary needs are SEMH and ASD and
primary age numbers have increased.

15.2

Funding from the High Needs Blocks continues to be under pressure, in
particular the costs relating to the use of the independent sector. The
analysis of high cost placements, again, sees SEMH and ASC as the main
areas of need and therefore cost.

15.3

The consultation undertaken as part of the Review, whilst receiving nearly
300 responses, did not provide any clear messages but has supported the
Review, its recommendations and is a ‘line in the sand’ for the future.

Page 53
31

16.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

16.1

There are number of recommendations resulting from this review to ensure
Devon continues to deliver its overarching strategic aims which have
underpinned this review. A number of these recommendations need to form
a part of the development plan work for 2018-19. These include:
Recommendation 1. A detailed review of the challenges around learners
with SEMH is required to provide a system wide approach in particular
supporting mainstream schools. However, in the short term, there is a need
to increase SEMH Special School provision including provision in North
Devon, Marland Day and Barley Lane in Exeter.
Reason: The review has clearly demonstrated that supporting learners
whose primary needs is SEMH cuts across all areas whether it be in terms
of base numbers, growth, exclusions or use of the Independent Sector. It is
clear additional special school places are required particularly in North
Devon. Proposals should not only focus on providing places but developing
outreach support for other schools.
Recommendation 2. New/additional special school provision needs to be
operational in Tiverton (Charlton Lodge) for September 2019 to support high
functioning 11-16 learners with ASC as well as a small provision to support
student with mental health/medical challenges preventing them from
accessing mainstream education. This will potentially require a Free School
Presumption statutory process which will require Cabinet endorsement to
proceed and a commitment to commission places.
Reason: Provision will support the high functioning learners who may
otherwise require Independent provision to meet their educational needs.
Provision is also located in an area where a large number of students travel
to access their provision. The provision of medical places will reduce
learners within Alternative Provision and offer outreach support.
Recommendation 3. Devon needs to continue to strategically support new
special school provision in Newton Abbot, Glendinning Special School,
which will create additional capacity for learners with Autistic Spectrum
Condition 11 – 19.
Reason: Provision will reduce the need to commission places from other
Local Authorities and provide education in an area where currently large
numbers of students have to travel to access provision. It will also provide
access to provision for high functioning learners and as such reduce the
potential use of the Independent Sector, and secure an alternative post 16
offer. The Free School programme is centrally funded and therefore reduces
the impact on Devon’s limited capital funding.
Recommendation 4. Develop proposals at the new amalgamated Ratcliffe /
Oakland School to increase capacity and develop proposals to support post16 learners where FE is not a suitable educational offer.

Page 54
32

Reason: Additional places will meet increasing demand for Special Schools
places as well as provide an alternative post 16 offer/pathway.
Recommendation 5. A capital fund is made for schools to match fund
against, targeted at strategically supporting learners in school, in particular
in areas of high deprivation/need.
Reason: With constraints on funding at school level, it is important schools
have an opportunity to put forward proposals that will support them in
meeting learners needs. It is anticipated these resources will improve
outcomes for learners and ensure they can benefit from the curriculum
opportunities in a mainstream/maintained special school.
Recommendation 6. Commence consultation where necessary, on the
future of a number of Support Centres as highlighted in Appendix B in this
report.
Reason: The pressures on the high needs block combined with different
ways in supporting learners in their community means it is necessary to
review and consult on changes to this provision allowing limited revenue
resources to meet pressures elsewhere within the High Needs Block.
Recommendation 7. Undertake an early review of all learners with statutory
plans in Alternative Provision with a view to reintegration to permanent
settings as soon as practically possible.
Reason: To ensure that students with Statutory plans are in appropriate
education provision and do not stay in Alternative Provision for long periods
of time.
Recommendation 8. Ensure the voice of parents/carers and learners
informs future strategic reviews, in particular through learning from annual
EHCP reviews and the engagement workstream of the SEND Strategy.
Reason: To maximise the opportunity for direct feedback from those with
statutory plans, to identify common issues and themes for improvement.
Recommendation 9. Develop a more detailed Post-19 strategy and
localised offer in partnership with Special Schools and FE providers,
including piloting an offer through the new provision at Bodley House in
Exeter which forms a part of Ellen Tinkham School;
Reason: To ensure there is an appropriate, local offer for post 19 students
that supports them into adulthood and independence including pathways
into employment. To reduce, where appropriate, the use of the Independent
Sector and high cost placements funded from the High Needs Block.
Recommendation 10. A detailed review of learners where Special Schools
cannot meet needs is undertaken alongside the high cost learners in the
independent sector to develop alternative commissioning solutions as well
as ensuring new provision can meet the gaps in current provision.

Page 55
33

Reason: To ensure, where possible, there is a local offer for learners and
that new provision is aligned to meet these learners needs. Analysis will
inform future commissioning of places including negotiating bespoke
packages with maintained special school providers. Analysis should reduce
the number of places commissioned from the Independent Sector.
17.0

NEXT STEPS AND ACTION PLANNING

17.1

Detailed action plans will be drawn up to address the recommendations
contained in this Strategic Review.

17.2

Monitoring of the Action Plan will be undertaken by the Council’s Education
Leadership Team and reported to the SEND Improvement Board.

17.3

Further Strategic Reviews of Provision will be undertaken annually, as
required by the SEND Strategy and Implementation Plan.

Page 56
34

APPENDICES
Appendix A

SEN Annual Report 2015/16

Appendix B

Resource Centre Proposals

Appendix C

Risk Assessment Proforma

Appendix D

Schedule of Capital Funding

Appendix E

Summary of Engagement

Appendix F

Key Sources of Data

Appendix G

Glossary

Page 57
35

APPENDIX A

CHILDREN WITH SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16
Introduction
This report provides information on pupils with Special Educational Needs in Devon. The
report is based on two sets of pupil cohorts, one where pupils are in receipt of a Statement
of SEN or an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and the other where pupils are
recognised as having Special Educational Needs and receive support (known as SEN
Support) but do not have a Statement or EHCP.
Pupil Cohorts
The number of pupils with Special Educational Needs in Devon has steadily been declining
over the last four years, falling from 21,289 in 2013/14 to 17,665 in 2015/16. The number
of pupils classified as SEN Support has seen the greatest decline, with a drop of 18% from
2013/14. This decline is also reflected nationally.
Table 1. Number of pupils with a Statement/EHC Plan or SEN support attending schools in Devon

Pupils with statements/EHC Plans (attending schools in Devon)

2014
3,699

2015
3,597

2016
3,227

Pupils with SEN Support (attending schools in Devon)

17,590

14,926

14,438

Total pupils with Special Educational Needs

21,289

18,523

17,665

Pupils with Statement/EHCP maintained by Devon Local
Authority

3,765

3,570

3,510

Note: Includes maintained and direct grant nursery schools, maintained primary and secondary schools, city technology
colleges, primary and secondary academies including free schools, special schools, special academies including free
schools, pupil referral units, general hospital schools, alternative provision academies including free schools and
independent schools.
Data source: DfE SFR29-2016 Special Educational Needs in England: January 2016, DfE SFR17/2016 Statements of SEN
and EHC plans: England 2016

Table 2. Number of pupils with a Statement/EHCP or SEN Support by school type attended in Devon
Pupils with SEN Support

Pupils with Statements/ EHCPs
2014
2015
2016

2014

2015

2016

primary schools

1,308

1,144

929

9,494

9,060

8,700

secondary schools

1,138

1,125

1,036

6,990

4,966

4,674

special schools

1,030

1,027

1,054

-

-

1

all schools

3,699

3,597

3,227

17,590

14,926

14,438

Note: 2014 and 2015 data assumes all special school pupils are statemented or EHCP
Data source: Local authority tables from DfE SFR30/2013 - SFR26/2014 - SFR25/2015 - SFR29/2016

Whilst Devon has seen a decline in the percentage of pupils with a Statement or EHCP
and pupils with SEN Support, it continues to have a greater cohort than its statistical
neighbours and the regional average. The following graphs illustrate the percentage of
pupils with SEN in Devon across the previous three years.

Page 58
36

Data source: DfE LAIT, based on DfE SFR29-2016 Special Educational Needs in England: January 2016

Special Educational Needs Pupils by Key Stage and NCY Group
The following chart illustrates the percentage of pupils within each year group who either
have a Statement/ EHCP or are classed as SEN Support (not Statemented or EHCP).

Note: pupils in NCY ‘X’ defined by DfE as ‘National curriculum not followed – available only for special schools
where pupils are not following a particular NC year’ are not included in the above chart.

As can be seen from the chart, Key Stage 2 year groups have the greatest percentage of
pupils with SEN Support (5,185 pupils) with 18.4% of pupils in NCY 6 classified as SEN
Support (1,377 pupils). This reflects the national picture where 17.6% of NCY 6 pupils are
SEN Support.
Key Stage3 and Key Stage 4 year groups have the greatest percentage of pupils with a
Statement or EHCP (total of 1,498 pupils). 4.8% of pupils in NCY 9 (314 pupils) and 4.6%
of pupils in NCY 10 (317 pupils) have a Statement or EHCP. This reflects the national
picture but the percentages are lower nationally with 3.7% in NCY 9 and 3.8% in NCY10
having a Statement/EHCP.

Page 59
37

Special Educational Needs Pupils by Gender
A greater percentage of boys in Devon have Special Educational Needs than girls. 4.4%
of boys in Devon have a Statement or EHCP which is slightly higher than the national
average (4.0%). 17.4% of boys and 10.2% of girls in Devon have SEN Support, which is
considerably higher than the national picture.

Data source: England: SFR29_2016 Special Educational needs in England: January 2016, National Tables, Devon: January School Census 2016

Attendance Rates in Compulsory School
2015/16 attendance rates for Special Educational Needs pupils remain relatively unchanged
from the previous year. Pupils with Special Educational Needs have higher absence rates
than their peers who have no SEN. Devon pupils with a Statement/EHCP had an overall
absence rate of 6.7% compared to 4% for Devon pupils with no identified SEN. This is also
reflected nationally.
Overall absence rates for Special Educational Needs cohorts in Devon are lower than
national averages. Devon pupils with a Statement or EHCP have an overall absence rate
of 6.7% compared to 7.6% nationally, whilst Devon pupils with SEN Support have an
overall absence rate of 5.5% compared to 6.2% nationally.

Page 60
38

Absence rates are lowest in primary schools and generally highest in secondary schools.
However the overall absence rates for pupils with statements/EHCPs is highest in special
schools (7.4% absence rate), followed by secondary schools (7.1%). This is due to higher
authorised absence rates with absence reasons of other and holiday (see absence reasons
table below). These are being investigated for further clarification. The chart below
illustrates the absence rates across special, primary and secondary schools.

The percentage of pupils with a Statement/EHCP in Devon that are persistent absentees is
20.09% which is lower than the national rate of 22.57%. The persistent absentee rates for
pupils with Statements/EHCPs and SEN Support are higher than those for pupils with no
identified SEN.

Page 61
39

Note: pupils are classed as persistent absentees if their attendance falls below 90%.

Primary Need of SEN Pupils
Nationally the most common type of Special Educational Needs in 2015/16 was Moderate
Learning Difficulty. However in Devon the most common type of need is Social, Emotional
and Mental Health, with just over one fifth of pupils with Special Educational Needs having
this as their primary need. The second most common need type, both nationally and in
Devon, is Speech, Language and Communication with just under 20% of pupils having this
as their primary need. The table below illustrates the more prevalent need types and
compares Devon against the national picture.

Page 62
40

Over the last five years there has been some change in the primary need of pupils with
SEN. Moderate Learning Difficulty and Specific Learning Difficulty need types have seen
increases in the last few years whilst the majority of the other types of need have seen a
slight decline.

When reviewed at school type, the most common category of need in primary schools is
Speech, Language and Communication (26%) closely followed by Social, Emotional and
Mental Health (23.4%). The picture varies at secondary schools, where the most common
need is Specific Learning Difficulty (28%) followed by Social, Emotional and Mental Health
(21.9%). As can be seen from the chart overleaf, Social, Emotional and Mental Health is
prevalent across all three school types.

Page 63
41

In special schools the most common categories of need are Severe Learning Difficulty
(26%) and Autistic Spectrum Disorder (24.5%) which reflects the specialisms of the
schools.

Attainment Gap across all Key Stages
Pupils with SEN generally do not perform as well as their peers with no SEN. This can be
seen in Devon and nationally. Children with complex and significant special educational
needs face greater difficulties than their peers with no SEN. A more relevant measure of
attainment might be progress made by children with SEN and this information has been
included where data is available. Comparisons against national averages have also been
provided as another measure of performance.

Year 1 and Year 2 Phonics
Recently published information indicates that the percentage of pupils in Devon with an SEN
Statement/EHCP who met the expected standard in Year 1 (23%) continues to be
significantly higher than both the national picture (18%) and statistical neighbours (17%).
Nearly half of pupils in Devon with SEN Support (49%) met the expected standard in Year 1.
This is an increase on the previous year of 2 percentage points. Devon continues to perform
better than both the national picture (46%) and its statistical neighbours (45%).

Page 64
42

By the end of Year 2, 42% of Devon children with Statements/EHCPs met the expected
standard in phonics compared to 29% nationally. Devon children with SEN Support also
performed better than nationally, with 73% meeting the expected standard compared to
69% nationally (data source: RAISEOnline Nov 2016).

Key Stage 1
In 2016 pupils were assessed against the new more challenging national curriculum for the
first time. Results are no longer reported as levels: interim frameworks for teacher
assessment have been used to assess if a pupil has met the new, higher expected standard.
Because of these assessment changes, figures for 2016 are not comparable to those for
earlier years. The expectations for pupils at the end of key stage 1 have been raised.
It should be noted that all results at Key Stage 1 are teacher assessed and as this is the
first year of the secure fit type of assessment consistency across the country cannot be
guaranteed. We are however convinced that all Devon assessments have kept rigorously
to the prescribed secure fit model.
The percentage of pupils with Statements/EHCPs in Devon meeting the expected standard is
better than both regional and national figures. Devon is performing significantly better in
Science (23% compared to 17% nationally) and in Maths (19% compared to 14% nationally).
The percentage of pupils with SEN Support in Devon meeting the expected standard is
highest in Science (49%) which is better than the national picture (46%). Devon’s
performance in Reading is in line with the national average (32%) whilst the other subjects
(Maths and Writing) are slightly below.

Page 65
43

Data Source: SFR42/2016: National curriculum assessments at key stage 1, 2016, 29 Sept 2016

Key Stage 2
The percentage of pupils with Statements/EHCPs in Devon meeting the expected standard is
higher than the national average in each subject area. Devon pupils with SEN Support
meeting the expected standard is higher than the national average in Reading, Mathematics
and the combined Reading, Writing and Mathematics measure (DfE LAIT Feb 2017).
However, progress made by pupils with SEN in Devon is not as good as nationally within each
of the subject areas. The progress score for Devon pupils with Statements/EHCPs was -4.62
in Reading compared to -3.11 nationally, -5.79 in Writing compared to -4.03 nationally and -6.0
in Maths compared to -3.44 nationally. (Data Source RAISE Online Nov 2016).
The table below provides a breakdown of performance by SEN cohort with comparisons
against the national averages.

Data source: DfE LAIT 15/02/17

Page 66
44

Key Stage 4
The percentage of Devon children with Special Educational Needs achieving the English
and Maths threshold at Key Stage 4 is above the national averages. Devon pupils with
SEN Support have performed significantly better than the national averages, with 34%
achieving compared to 29% nationally. Individual results for English and Maths are also
higher than the national averages.
Attainment 8 figures indicate that Devon children with SEN performed significantly better
than the national averages with both SEN cohorts scoring higher than nationally. Progress
at Key Stage 4 is in line with the national average for Devon pupils with a Statement/EHCP
who scored -1.00 compared to – 1.03 nationally. Progress for Devon children with SEN
support was also in line with the national average (Devon children achieving -0.35
compared to -0.38 nationally).
The percentage of pupils in Devon with Statements/EHCPs achieving the EBACC is higher
than the national average, whilst the percentage of pupils with SEN Support is lower than
the national average.
The tables below provide a breakdown of performance by SEN cohort for each key indicator.

Page 67
45

Attainment of Level 2 qualifications by those aged 19
The percentage of 19 year olds with SEN statements qualified to Level 2 (inc. English &
Maths) has significantly improved, with 18.8% in 2016 compared to 11.5% in 2015.
Devon young people are now performing better than nationally and regionally (15.3% and
15.7% respectively).
The percentage of 19 year olds with SEN but without a statement qualified to Level 2 has
dropped slightly but Devon continues to perform significantly better than the national
picture (40.2% compared to 37% nationally).

data source: Level 2 and 3 attainment in England: Attainment by age 19 in 2016, March 2017

It has been identified that English and Maths (grade C+) is the main concern in moving
forward. This has been recognised nationally and from September 2015 FE colleges are
obliged for all young people to study English and Maths (or equivalent) at Post 16 if they
do not already hold the qualification. Work is underway with FE colleges to improve this
picture.

Page 68
46

Permanent Exclusions
The number of pupils with Special Educational Needs who have been permanently
excluded has risen in the last year. This reflects the general increase in exclusions for all
pupils. Although there are no official figures available at this time, this increase reflects
unofficial national trends.
2014/15
% of
% of
PEX
school
cohort pop'n

2015/16
% of
% of
PEX
school
cohort pop'n

DfE
2014/15
% of perm
excns

Table 3. Permanent Exclusions
against;

No's

Pupils with Statements/EHCPs

9

13.4

0.28

14

13.6

0.49

0.16

Pupils with SEN Support

33

49.3

0.23

56

54.4

0.42

0.29

Pupils with No SEN

25

37.3

0.03

33

32.0

0.04

0.04

No's

Data Source: DCC Exclusions Scrutiny Report 2015/16

The percentage of pupils with Statements/EHCPs who have been permanently excluded has
risen (0.49% compared to 0.28% previously). Devon pupils with Statements/EHCPs are
nearly 12 times as likely to be permanently excluded as their peers who have no SEN.
The percentage of pupils with SEN Support who have been permanently excluded as also
risen (0.42% compared to 0.23% historically). These pupils are 10 times as likely to be
permanently excluded as their peers with no SEN.

Data Source: DCC Exclusions Scrutiny Report 2015/16

When reviewed at SEN cohort and NCY group level, permanent exclusions were highest in
NCY10 for pupils with Statements / EHCPs and those with SEN Support. Permanent
Exclusions were also high in NCY3 for pupils with Statements / EHCPs and NCY8 and 9
for pupils with SEN Support.

Page 69
47

The most common reason for the permanent exclusion of pupils with Statements/EHCPs in
2015/16 is persistent disruptive behaviour. Whilst there is a significant increase in the
percentage of exclusions the number of pupils involved is small (6 in 2015/16). Physical
assault against adults and physical assault against pupils are the second and third most
common reasons.

Data Source: DCC Exclusions Scrutiny Report 2015/16

Page 70
48

The most common reason for the permanent exclusion of pupils with SEN Support is
persistent disruptive behaviour. The second most common reason is physical assault
against an adult which has seen an increase this year.

Data Source: DCC Exclusions Scrutiny Report 2015/16

Fixed Term Exclusions
The number of fixed term exclusions against pupils with Statements/EHCPs has fallen
slightly in the last year, whilst the number of exclusions against pupils with SEN Support
has remained relatively stable.

Table 4 Fixed Term Exclusions
against;

No's

% of
FTE
cohort

% of
school
pop'n

No's

% of
FTE
cohort

% of
school
pop'n

DfE
2014/15
% of fixed
term
excns

Pupils with Statements/EHCPs

635

19.6

19.82

503

15.2

17.44

15.13

Pupils with SEN Support

1501

46.3

10.61

1533

46.2

11.55

12.30

Pupils with No SEN

1109

34.2

1.42

1280

38.6

1.61

2.25

2014/15

2015/16

Data Source: DCC Exclusions Scrutiny Report 2015/16

The percentage of pupils with Statements/EHCPs subject to a fixed term exclusion in
2015/16 has fallen slightly (17.44% compared to 19.82% previously). Devon pupils with
Statements/EHCPs are nearly 11 times as likely to have a fixed term exclusion as their
peers who have no SEN.

Page 71
49

The percentage of pupils with SEN Support subject to a fixed term exclusion has risen
slightly (11.55% compared to 10.61% historically). These pupils are 7 times as likely to
have a fixed term exclusion as their peers with no SEN.

Data Source: DCC Exclusions Scrutiny Report 2015/16

When reviewed at SEN cohort and NCY group level, fixed term exclusions were highest in
Key Stage 3 and Key Stage 4 year groups for pupils with Statements / EHCPs and those
with SEN Support. Fixed Term Exclusion rates were higher for pupils with Statements /
EHCPs across Key Stage 1 (NCY2) and Key Stage 2 (all NCYs) but were higher for pupils
with SEN Support across Key Stage 3 (NCYs 8 and 9) and Key Stage 4 (all NCYs).

Page 72
50

The most common reason for fixed term exclusions against pupils with Statements/EHCPs is
Other (where reason does not fall within the available categories). Other common reasons for
fixed term exclusions are persistent disruptive behaviour, physical assault against a pupil/adult
and verbal abuse/threatening behaviour against an adult. The table below provides further
details.

Data Source: DCC Exclusions Scrutiny Report 2015/16

The most common reason for fixed term exclusions against pupils with SEN Support is
persistent disruptive behaviour which has seen an increase on the previous year. The
second most common reason is verbal abuse/threatening behaviour against an adult. The
table below provides further details on the reasons for the exclusions.

Page 73Data Source: DCC Exclusions Scrutiny Report 2015/16
51

Elective Home Education
As can be seen from the table below the number of Elective Home Educated children with
a Statement / EHCP has remained stable over the last two years. However as the overall
number of Elective Home Educated children has increased the percentage with a
Statement / EHCP has dropped slightly from 4.8% to 3.6%.
Academic
Year

Number of EHE
students with
statement

Number of
registered EHE
students

% of students with
Statements /
EHCPs

2015/16

37

1018

3.6%

2014/15

37

766

4.8%

2013/14

44

750

5.9%

2012/13

33

521

6.3%

2011/12

36

560

6.4%

Data Source: Elective Home Education Annual Report 2015/16, Babcock International LDP

There are several reasons why children become home educated. 1.3% of students in
2015/16 cited “Problems with SEN Provision” as the reason for home education, an
increase on the previous year (1%). In 2015/16, 6.9% were home educated due to
medical reasons which is higher than the previous year (5.5%). 1.6% of students cited
“Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties” as their reason for home education which is also
an increase on the previous year (1.2% in 2014/15).

Key Stage 4 (Year 11) Destination Information
This information is based on Key Stage 4 SEN cohorts and identifies education and
employment /training destinations in the subsequent year. The latest available information is
2014/15 destinations for 2013/14 Year 11s. 2015/16 destination information is not yet
available.
The percentage of SEN pupils remaining in Education, Employment or Training at the age
of 17 is on the rise in Devon. Devon is performing similarly to the national picture (90%
compared to 91% nationally) but is slightly below its statistical neighbours (92%).

Data Source: DfE LAIT 15/02/17

Page 74
52

When reviewing the percentage of pupils remaining within education, there is little variation
between the two cohorts of SEN pupils. 84% of pupils with a Statement remained in
education compared to 83% of pupils with SEN (but not statemented). The graphs
overleaf provide comparisons against national and regional averages.

Data Source: DfE LAIT 15/02/17, based on SFR 01/2017: Destinations of Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 students in England 2014/15
(revised), SFR 05/2016: Key stage 4 destination measures 2013/14

When reviewing percentage of Devon SEN pupils in education, employment or training,
fewer pupils with SEN remain compared to their peers who have no SEN. 90% of Devon
pupils with Statements remained in education or employment in 2014/15 compared to 91%
nationally. 89% of pupils with School Action/School Action Plus remained in education or
employment compared to 88% nationally. The chart below provides a breakdown of pupils
in sustained education and those in sustained employment and/or training.
Note: Sustained is defined as participation for the first two terms (October to March) 2014/15.

Data Source: SFR 01/2017: Destinations of Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 students in England 2014/15 (revised)

Page 75
53

As can be seen from the chart, the percentage of Devon SEN pupils with employment
destinations has increased and is greater than national averages. 6% of pupils with
Statements moved on to employment compared to 3% nationally and 6% of School
Action/School Action Plus compared to 5% nationally. However fewer pupils are
remaining in education, 84% of statemented pupils in Devon compared to 88% nationally.
The most common destination for Devon pupils with a Statement and on School Action/
School Action Plus was Further Education (62% and 61% respectively) which reflects the
national picture. Apprenticeships and School Sixth Form destinations have seen an
increase for both Statemented and School Action/School Action Plus young people.
Devon pupils with SEN were more likely to have a destination which was not sustained
when compared to their peers with no SEN. 10% of pupils with Statements and 10% of
pupils with School Action/School Action Plus did not have a sustained destination
compared to 3% of pupils with no special educational needs. The table below provides a
more detailed breakdown of destinations.
Table 5. Percentage of the KS4 cohorts going to, or remaining in, an education or employment destination
School action /
School action plus

Statement
Devon

England

Devon

Non-SEN

England

Devon

England

13/14

14/15

13/14

14/15

13/14

14/15

13/14

14/15

13/14

14/15

13/14

14/15

Apprenticeships

3

6

3

3

8

10

6

7

6

7

5

6

Further education college
or other FE provider, e.g.
higher education institution
with FE provision

71

62

60

61

63

61

53

54

54

55

34

34

School sixth form - state
funded

18

20

20

20

20

21

22

22

36

37

43

43

Sixth form college

0

0

5

5

x

-

7

7

2

2

14

14

x

2

3

3

x

-

-

1

1

1

-

1

5

10

9

8

12

10

13

11

5

3

5

4

Other education
destinations, e.g.
independent schools,
alternative provision,
special schools
Not Sustained, some
participation between Aug
and July but not sustained
from Oct to Mar

Data Source: SFR 01/2017: Destinations of Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 students in England 2014/15 (revised), SFR 05/2016: Key stage 4
destination measures 2013/14

Note: Individual lines may not add up to totals as a small number of pupils were identified in more than one education
destination
Key : x indicate DfE suppression due to low numbers.
- indicates percentage is less than 0.5% but greater than 0%.

Page 76
54

16-17 year olds participating in education and training
This information is based on Local Authority tracking of 16 and 17 year olds and their
participation in education or training. Information is published on a quarterly basis and the
latest available information included in this section is based on young people’s known activity
on the last working day in June 2016.
For the purposes of this data item, the DfE advise that a young person is deemed to have
a SEND if he/she:





had a Statement of special educational need (SEN) at the time of completing
compulsory education; or
is still attending school and has been given a SEN since completing compulsory
education; or
has received a learning difficulty assessment (LDA); or
has an education, health and care (EHC) plan.

When tracking young people's participation in education or training, Devon’s participation
rates are slightly lower than the national average. The highest participation rates occur at
December and lowest participation rates in June, reflecting early completion of education
provision. Therefore comparisons should be made against the same quarter in the
previous year. The table below provides an illustration of the quarterly participation rates
for the last two years.

Data source: DfE Participation in education and training: local authority figures

Page 77
55

Quality of Provision
The graphs below show the percentage of children placed in each category of provision. The graphs on
the left represent children attending Devon LA Maintained Schools and Academies (as this is sourced from
Devon LA School Census). The graphs to the right represent children attending FE & Skills Colleges
(Devon and other LAs), Independent establishments (Devon and other LAs) and non Devon LA Primary,
Secondary and Special Schools (data sourced from DCC 0 to 15 SEN Team). Whilst there are overall
more children in non Devon LA schools and other establishments Requiring Improvement, the importance
of stability is recognised and so a young person is not automatically moved from a provider which became
RI.

Page 78

data source: Spring School Census 2016, Ofsted Outcomes at 31st Aug 2016
- FE Colleges, Independents, Maintained Schools & Academies

Page 79

data source: SEN CSET report Jan 2016, Ofsted Outcome Reports

Part B
This section of the report provides information for the SEN 0-25 service.
Total Statutory Plans managed by the Local Authority
As of January 2017, the local authority managed a total of 3718 statutory plans (including both EHCPs and
Statements) across the 0-25 age range. The majority of these are of compulsory school age; however
following the extended responsibilities in the Code of Practice the numbers post 16 are increasing as plans
are now maintained in the FE sector. (See Chart B3 for further breakdown)
Table B1 Number of statutory plans by primary need and age in Devon
Age as at
31/8/16

ASD

HI

MLD

MSI

PD

PMLD

SEMH

SLCN

SLD

SpLD

VI

Total

Pre School

24

6

5

3

2

6

0

17

7

2

0

72

Primary

207

34

107

5

104

18

205

338

80

5

22

1125

Secondary

317

38

173

3

133

21

494

410

77

67

15

1748

16-19

158

16

80

0

81

10

178

105

60

23

14

725

19+

13

3

11

1

2

0

3

1

11

0

3

48

Total

719

97

376

12

322

55

880

871

235

97

54

3718

Data source: SEN2 Data Return Jan 2017

The top three categories of need are as follows, making up two thirds of the cohort.
 SEMH: Social, Emotional and Mental Health difficulties
 SLCN: Speech, Language and Communication needs
 ASD: Autistic Spectrum Disorder.
These categories have remained the most prolific over the last three years, however ASD has seen the
larger increase.
Chart B2: Three year breakdown of Primary Need of Statutory Plans
1000
900

Total of EHCPs (Statements) Maintained by Devon LA by Primary Need
Jan-2015
Jan-2016
Jan-2017

Number of Students

800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0
ASD

HI

MLD

MSI Primary
PD Need
PMLD SEMH

SLCN

Data source: SEN2 Data Return Jan 2015, 2016 and 2017

Page 80

SLD

SpLD

VI

Statutory Plans issued in timescales within
Calendar Year 2016
The statutory duty of the local authority is to
complete first assessments within the 20 week
timescale as directed by the Code of Practice.

New EHCPs issued in Calendar Year 2016

As of January 2017 only 24% met this
timeframe, a further 31% are met in the
previous 26 week deadline. A significant
number (45%) take longer than 26 weeks.

Within 20
weeks
24%

26+
weeks
45%

20-26
weeks
31%

Data source: SEN2 Data Return Jan 2017

SEN Placements
Learners with statutory plans are mostly placed within mainstream schools and LA maintained special
schools. This is in line with both the Code of Practice and the Devon SEND strategy which outlines the
SEN funding priorities which are
 Ensure statutory provision is in place in mainstream schools
 Ensure there are sufficient special school pace sin Devon to meet demand
 Use of specialist independent providers only when the SEN of a child or young person requires that
level of specific provision and it cannot be met in mainstream or special schools.
As of January 2017 the number maintained in mainstream has decreased, which causes pressure in both
special school places and the High Needs Block due to increased use of the more costly independent
sector.
Chart B3: Two year breakdown of SEN placements

Statutory plans maintained by Devon by placement type
2015 Statutory Plans

2016 Statutory Plans

Early Years
SEN Units (inc.
Academies)
Mainstream (inc.
Academies)
Special (inc.
Academies)
Independent
Alternative (inc.
Academies)
Mainstream FE
Education
Elsewhere

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Data source: SEN2 Data Return Jan 2016 and 2017

New placements following First Assessment

Page 81

1600

1800

2000

In 2016 calendar year the majority of new plans issued were done so specifying mainstream provision. This
was almost double the amount of 2015. In addition there were lower new assessments in the Early Years
sector in 2016.
Chart B4: Two year breakdown of new SEN placements

New EHCPs issued by Placement Type
Statutory Plans issued 2015

Statutory Plans issued 2016

Early Years
SEN Units
Mainstream (inc.
Academies)
Special (inc.
Academies)
Independent
Alternative (inc.
Academies)
Mainstream FE
Education
Elsewhere

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Data source: SEN2 Data Return Jan 2016 and 2017

Age breakdown of Statutory Plans.
The Code of Practice clearly placed a statutory responsibility on local authorities across the 0-25 age
range. The picture of total statutory plans shows that overall the early years are a small number however
this sector was almost a quarter of the amount of first assessments in 2016. In 2016 there was not the
expected increase of first assessments in the post 16 sector.
Charts B5 Total Statutory Plans maintained by age in 2016

Chart B6 New Assessments by age in 2016

Total Statutory Plans maintained by Age Range
- January 2017

New Assessments by Age Range January 2017

1% 2%

4% 1%

20%

22%

30%
31%

47%

Pre School

Primary

16-19

19+

42%
Secondary

Pre School

Primary

Secondary

Data source: SEN2 Data Return Jan 2017

Movement of children and young people with statutory plans from Mainstreams Sector by age

Page 82

There is a consistent movement over the last three years out of the mainstream sector. There has been a
drop in the secondary sector since 2014 however this is increasing again. There is an increase in the
primary sector and we are also now seeing movement from mainstream in Early Years and post 16. This is
causing increased pressure on special school places and creating a demand for independent placements.
Chart B7: Three year breakdown of movement from mainstream sector

Total movement of learners with statutory plans from Mainstream
90
80

Number of learners

70
60
Under age 5
Aged 5 to 10
Aged 11 to 15
Aged 16 to 19

50
40
30
20
10
0
Calendar Year 2014

Calendar Year 2015

Calendar Year 2016

Data source: SEN2 Data Return Jan 2015, 2016 and 2017

Page 83

REVIEW OF RESOURCE BASE PROVISION
Provision

Proposal

APPENDIX B

CAIRB

Tiverton

Castle Primary (Tiverton)

No Change - recommission

CAIRB

Barnstaple

Newport Primary (Barnstaple)

No Change

CAIRB

Tavistock

Tavistock Community Primary

CAIRB

Ivybridge

Manor Primary (Ivybridge)

Closure proposed for 2020, explore School served notice on the local authority.
new provision
Discussions ongoing about whether there is another
host school in the area. If alternative host identified,
children would be relocated.
No Change - recommission

CAIRB

Ashburton

South Dartmoor School (Ashburton)

No Change - recommission

CAIRB

Tiverton

Tiverton High School

No Change - recommission

CAIRB

Barnstaple

Pilton Community College (Barnstaple)

No Change - recommission

Physical
Disability

Barnstaple

Pilton Community College

No Change - recommission

Speech and
Language

Barnstaple

Orchard Vale Primary

Consult on Closure 2019

Speech &
Language

Exeter

Newtown Primary

Consult on Closure

Specific
Learning
Difficulties
Hearing
Impairment

Crediton

Queen Elizabeth Community College

Consult on Closure 2019

Bideford

East the Water Primary

Consult on Closure 2019

Hearing
Impairment

Bideford
College

Consult on Closure 2019

Comment

No children currently on roll and lack of parental
choice/preference due to location. Equity of
provision and need to support learners in local
school rather than bespoke centre.
Due to lack of demand and equity of provision,
parents’ concerns of travel distance for KS1
students. Services to support children in their local
school being developed
Equity of service, only students in locality have
benefitted from provision. Staff now providing
outreach through Babcock.
Due to lack of demand. Advisory teacher element of
service incorporated into Babcock service.
No children currently attending
Due to lack of demand. No children attending centre.

Appendix B

School

Page 84

Area

Hearing
Impairment
Sensory
Impairment
Hub
Physical
Disability

Clyst Vale
Community
College
Countess
Wear
Primary
St Luke’s
(Brunel
Centre)

Notice of reduced numbers issued
November 2016. Centre will continue with
4 planned places reduced from 12.
Will continue 6 planned places

Consult on reduced numbers but
increased offer to support MultiSensory
No Change

8 places

No Change

Lack of demand for HI together with need to provide
more multi-sensory. Outreach for HI managed
through Babcock, equity of service

Page 85
Appendix B

APPENDIX C
Establishment/Department

Establishment Risk
Assessment

RA01

Name and Address of Establishment

Person(s)/Group at Risk

Initial Assessment
Review
Following Incident

*

Activity/Task/Process/Equipment
Date of Assessment:
Assessor(s):

Page 86

Issue

Associated Risks

Are any additional
measures or actions
required? (if yes put on
the Action Plan)
Yes
No

1.

Appendix C

Assessor’s Recommendations - Additional Control Measures or Actions

List Actions / Additional Control Measures

Date action to
be carried out

Person
Responsible

Date action
completed

Signed:
Headteacher__________________________
Chair of Governors________________________________
Date

Page 87

The outcome of this assessment should be shared with the relevant staff
A copy of the completed assessment to be kept on file and copied to the Health & Safety Co-ordinator

Appendix C

Appendix D
Schedule of Capital Funding
Special provision plan
Input form for Local Authority to complete
Local authority

Devon

Date of last update

27/02/2018

Local authority's special provision fund allocation

£2,247,854

Total planned expenditure on projects: special provision fund

Other investment the local authority plans to make in
SEND capital up until 2021

£5,775,000

Total planned expenditure on projects: other funding up until 2021

The local authority is required to consult parents and carers to receive their allocation. Local authorities should use the box to
the right to confirm that they have consulted with parents and carers about their plan and projects and complete the
'Consultation form' below.

£749,285

£5,775,000

Confirm either that the LA has or will be consulting parents
and carers

Project information form
Provision
Provision Provision name and
URN
address

Provision category

Ofsted
Judgement

Age range
for project

Investment in additional places
Number of additional places
(£)
Special provision Other investment Special provision Other investment Total additional
fund investment in in additional
fund additional
additional
planned places
additional places places
planned places planend places

Page 88

113633

Ellen Tinkham School
(Bodley House site)

Special provision

Outstanding

Primary,
secondary
and post-16

£1,855,000

113636

Barley Lane School

Special provision

Good

Primary and
secondary

£20,000

131552

Marland School

Special provision

Good

Primary and
secondary

£150,000

113656

Ratcliffe School

Special provision

Good

Primary and
secondary

£100,000

not yet
known

Charlton Lodge

Special provision

Not yet
inspected

Secondary
and post-16

£149,285

not yet
known

To be decided

Other

Not inspected
by Ofsted

not yet
known

Glendinning

Special provision

Not yet
inspected

25

20

£3,900,000

40

120

Total (£)
Total
investment in
project

Additional Information about each project
Type of SEN or disability that project is
designed to meet.

LAs should use this section of the table to set out more details about the aims of the project. Beyond this further information can be listed
in their strategic plan or directly on their local offer page.

SLD, PMLD, complex needs

Bodley House is a former care home which has been transferred to Educuation & Learning to support the development of additional
SEND provision, specifically post 16 which releases capacity at the ellen Tinkham site.

25

£1,855,000

0

£20,000

SEMH

Feasibility study for additional intervention building on site

20

£150,000

SEMH

Proposals subject to consultation

0

£100,000

40

£4,049,285

0

Primary,
secondary
and post-16

Investment in facilities (£)
Special provision Other investment
fund investment in in facilities
facilities

120

£350,000

Feasibility study to increase capacity

Creation of new special school in Tiverton to address demands arising from local housing growth in the Mid/East Devon area & reduce
travel distances & time of pupils

£350,000

£0

Fund for increase/improvement bids from schools to address Strategic Review priorities (see Devon's SEND Local Offer website).
Initially £350k in 2018/19

ASC & S,L & C

Creation of new free school (centrally funded) in Newton Abbot to address demands arising from local housing need in the South Devon
area & reduce travel distances & time for pupils. Site provided by Devon County Council.

Appendix D

This page intentionally blank

Page 89

Appendix E

Strategic Review of Special Educational
Needs Provision
2017/18
Engagement Report

Page 90

Background
In November 2017 Devon County Council invited young people, parents and providers to complete
surveys as part of our strategic review of SEN provision. We aimed to get up to date,
comprehensive feedback, to inform options for service development and improvement.
The scope of the Review relates to SEN provision for those children/young people with a
Statement or Education, Health & Care Plan (EHCP).

Method
We designed surveys for the key groups: children/young people; parents/carers and providers
(including mainstream & special schools, FE colleges & independent sector providers).
The survey questions, format and promotion were designed with the assistance of the SEND
Improvement Board and its Engagement Workstream members as well as Heads of Special
Schools and commissioning managers.
We designed the surveys to build on but not duplicate previous surveys (SEND Strategy) or
surveys running at the same time (e.g. CCG-led ‘Shaping Future Services’). We combined the
surveys for the SEN review with those planned to quality assure independent providers (survey to
parents) and develop the Accessibility Strategy (survey to providers). The idea was to ask once
and use survey responses for as many purposes as possible.
We timed the surveys to avoid school holidays whilst enabling the outcomes to be received and
analysed within the overall timescales for the review.
The surveys were open for four weeks ending 8 December 2017. They were available
electronically via the SEND Local Offer website, which also provided for content in alternative
formats.

Page 91

The surveys were published via a variety of routes in early November 2017, namely:
 SEND local Offer website


SEND Improvement Board Engagement Workstream members (general awareness &
promotion)



SEND Local Offer Reference Group including Devon Parent Carer Voice



Babcock LDP (disseminating to service users via SENCOs)



DCC Virtual School & Participation Team (in respect of Looked After Children)



Careers South West (for those older young people they work with)



Devon Association of Primary School Heads and Devon Association of Secondary School
Heads (for promotion to primary and secondary schools) *



Devon Association of School Governors (promotion to governing bodies)



Further Education Colleges*



Maintained Special Schools*



Independent Providers (including alternative provision), direct email request*

*We asked providers to complete their survey questionnaire and to promote the survey opportunity
to children/young people and parents/carers.
We sent reminder messages approximately two weeks (i.e. halfway) in to the four-week survey
period.

Findings
We received a total of 298 responses by the deadline of 8 December:
123 from children/young people; (approximately 3% of
the relevant cohort)
102 from parents/carers;
73 from providers.

Page 92

Feedback from children & young people
Most of the 123 responses were from those pupils aged 11-16 and mostly boys (representative of
the gender balance for those with SEN). 90% of those responding said they had a statutory plan.
70% considered they had a disability (and
25% were not sure). Over 90% completed the
questionnaire with help from someone else.
90% of responses were from those attending
special schools. This is disappointing given
the advance notice of the survey, however, it
also suggests that the methods used by
special schools were successful in promoting
and helping their pupils, which might be used
to improve future surveys.

Key messages
Although the above the responses cannot be said to be fully representative of the county, key
messages are as follows.


High awareness of possessing a statutory plan (though may be influenced by the method of
response).



66% of those responding said they were attending the school of their choice.



By far the most prevalent means of attending school was by taxi (mostly with an escort, this
is not unexpected given 90% of the returns were from special schools).



A small number (11% of respondents) had to travel more than 1 hour (one-way) to attend
school.



Only 20% considered they had had a choice about which school they could attend; 48% of
respondents (59) wanted to go to a different school/college. There were no consistent
reasons given for this though given most of the responses related to special schools they
may reflect the limited availability of an appropriate special school offer, as close to home
as possible.

Page 93



Regarding ambitions on leaving school, 48% of respondents wanted to get a job or take up
an apprenticeship. This contrasts significantly with the responses from parents, who were
asked the same question in respect of their child – none of those parents responding
reported this as their ambition. The majority wanted their child to go on to further
education/6th form. Note though that those children and parents responding are not
necessarily from the same family.



Most of those responding enjoy going to school (63%); 18% said they didn’t or weren’t sure



7% said they didn’t feel safe at school



11% said they weren’t involved in their plans



11% did not know about their progress in learning



59% feel challenged when they are learning



20% thought that their school did not help them to be healthy



12% felt they could not participate in all activities and make friends



57% considered that their school helps them to be independent.



12% felt their school did not meet their needs



52% considered their school manages behaviour well and the majority felt it tried to stop
bullying and discrimination.



Only 16% felt they can learn in the community though 64% did not answer the question
(significantly higher than with any other question) which perhaps suggests that the question
is unclear.



Overall 54% of those who responded considered that they go to a good school (11%
disagreed).

Page 94

Feedback from Parents/carers
There was a largely similar number of responses from parents/carers across the county, making
them more geographically representative. Again, the majority related to boys, which is
representative. There was also a more
equitable representation of the ages of
children than had been achieved with the
children’s survey.

Parents would appear to have a clearer
concept of disability than that indicated by
the responses of children/young people
with 84% considering their child had a disability.
The children of those parents/carers who responded received education from 39 different settings,
51% of which were special schools and 36% mainstream (including FE). This is more
representative than had been achieved with the children’s survey but responses were still
dominated by special schools.
In travelling to these settings parents reported more diversity in the transport used than children
with 21% transporting their child themselves and 32% by taxi. 9% of responses involved a journey
to school exceeding 1 hour in length, similar to the level reported by children.

Page 95

30% of respondents stated their education setting was not located in their nearest town. Parents
were asked about where the ideal location would be:


10 indicated towns in South Devon



7 indicated towns in East Devon



5 indicated towns in North Devon

The remainder were spread across the Exeter, Mid and West Devon areas.

“No Special Needs Provision to cater for his
specific needs in further education in the area”
62% of parents responding did not want their child to go to a different setting.
57% considered that there were no local settings that could meet their child’s needs. Of the
remainder 22% considered that alternatives could not meet their child’s needs, for reasons
including lack of space, local authority funding or that class sizes were too big.

Regarding ambitions for their child, 63% reported their child intended to go on to further
education/6th form. None indicated their child would go in to employment.

Page 96

In respect of questions relating to the quality of provision:


71% of those responding considered their child enjoys going to school, similar to that
reported by children



79% considered the setting kept their child safe, higher than that reported by children



77% considered they were kept informed of their child’s progress, significantly more than
that reported by children



58% considered their child was making good progress with their learning



78% of those responding knew who to contact if their child’s education needs were not
being met



53% considered their child enjoys learning and feels challenged, slightly less than that
reported by children



69% considered the setting helped their child maintain a healthy lifestyle, slightly more
positive than that reported by children



24% of those parents responding considered that the setting encouraged aspirations and
ambitions



63% considered the setting encouraged their child to develop skills towards being
independent



25% of those responding considered that the setting did not meet their child’s needs well.



58% considered the setting deals well with poor behaviour, similar to that reported by
children, though 16% would disagree



64% of respondents considered that their setting celebrates individuality and reduces
bullying and discrimination.



68% considered that the setting listens to their suggestions and worries (20% would
disagree).



24% did not think the setting had a range of safe and inclusive learning opportunities in the
community for post 16.

Page 97

Feedback from Providers
The 73 responses received related to 60 different and diverse settings. 51% were mainstream
primary, secondary or FE settings. 18% (13) were from special schools and 14% from
independent providers. Responses were also received from early years settings, Alternative
Provision and Secure Accommodation settings. The settings provided for a wide range of diverse
needs.
In respect of challenges, 30% reported
Funding. Other key challenges cited were
suitably trained staff, premises issues
and impact on whole school outcomes. A
considerable number of comments were
provided which reinforced these as being
key in acting as barriers to mainstream
provision.

Regarding the support provided by others
to the setting, Speech & Language
Therapy, Educational Psychologists and
Babcock communication and interaction
were largely seen favourably. The feedback in respect of Virgin Care CAMHS and other services
was less positive.

Page 98

26% of those responding said they did not work in partnership with other education settings.
Of those who did offer support to other providers there was a wide range of topics as well as a
wide range of other support that could be offered.

“Good working relationship built on trust.”
In response to the consultation undertaken by the local authority when considering an admission,
45% of those responding thought it was appropriate (37% did not). A range of explanations were
given with key issues appearing to relate to the limited availability of information or time available
to consider/respond (though this is set within the SEN Code of Practice).
Where respondents had to decline an admission, 52% cited the reason as the impact on other
pupils.

Page 99

Conclusions
The number of responses received might be seen as disappointing, however it is significantly
higher than that achieved in previous surveys. The distribution of responses is generally
representative other than those relating to children & young people, though those received are still
interesting and valuable.
With no benchmarks, it is hard to determine if responses are ‘good’ or ‘bad’ & often stimulate the
need for further questioning. However, they might be used:
-

To identify areas for further exploration

-

To inform the design of future surveys

-

To act as baselines for comparison in future surveys to identify trends.

Most of the questions appear to have been understood and responded to appropriately, with only
a small number needing further development.
There were interesting differences in the responses by children and parents/carers to the same
questions e.g. ambitions on leaving school. Of course, the respondents are not necessarily from
the same families. However, this appears to reinforce the importance of promoting awareness of
opportunities for involvement and future planning by both children and parents.
The time travelling to school appears considerable for a small number of pupils. Whilst these
travelling times are within legal limits and small in number, this must have a considerable impact
on their education and quality of life for the young person. Travelling distances/time reported by
children/young people however, will be particularly influenced given the majority of respondents
were from special schools.
Other areas for exploration might be:
-

Feeling safe

-

Involvement in planning opportunities

-

Involvement in the community

Page 100

With regard to providers, the questions had a greater proportion requiring a narrative response
than those posed for children and parents. This hindered analysis, however responses will be
used to better design clearer questions in future years. Key areas which might benefit from further
exploration include:
-

Funding, building on the extensive work already being undertaken

-

Services provided by Babcock (largely positive) and VCL (less positive)

-

How to minimise the challenge of impact on other children when considering an admission

-

How to enable schools to further support each other on a diverse range of topics

-

Staff training

-

Premises related issues

-

The examples of misalignment between desired school outcomes and the needs of children

Page 101

Lessons
A number of opportunities have been identified which may improve similar engagement in the
future.
i)

While some stakeholders received instructions about the surveys directly, there was a
reliance on 3rd parties disseminating the surveys. Four weeks may not be long enough
for such parties to reach some stakeholders to raise awareness (though no feedback
about the duration of the survey period was received).

ii)

Questions requiring a narrative response resulted in interesting feedback but hindered
analysis. The responses might be used to design more objective questions in future
surveys.

iii)

Although parents and young people and others assisted in the design of questions there
were a small number where responses indicated that the question was not sufficiently
clear.

iv)

Designing surveys to meet a variety of business needs was helpful in minimising the
impact on recipients but complicated the design process and time required. This
together with the challenges of designing well drafted questions means there is a need
to plan such work well in advance. An annual plan of engagement needs and activities
would help to achieve this, ensure opportunities to engage with stakeholders are
optimised and generally help to improve quality and equity of representation.

v)

Completing the questionnaires as part of a formal lesson appears to be a good
opportunity to obtain feedback from children, particularly in a special school setting.

vi)

A question relating to how the respondent was made aware of the opportunity to
complete the survey, would help to better understand how to promote awareness &
disseminate similar opportunities in the future.

Page 102

Next Steps
The outcomes from the surveys will be used as follows:


To inform the strategic review of SEN provision, including the action plan, to be considered
by DCC Cabinet on the 14 March 2018. This will be published on the DCC website and
SEND Local Offer website at that time and will be monitored by the SEND improvement
board;



To inform the quality assurance work relating to independent providers;



To inform the development of the Accessibility Strategy.

Devon County Council would like to express its thanks to all those who participated in the surveys,
whether contributing to their design and promotion or taking the time to complete them.

Page 103

Appendix F
SEN Review – Key Sources of Data
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

School census data (2010-2017). DCC.
Education Infrastructure Plan (revised) 2016 – 2033. DCC.
District Council housing projections. DCC.
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) (SEN extract) January 2017. DCC.
Engagement undertaken Autumn 2017. DCC.
High Needs Benchmarking tool 2017. DfE
Children with SEN Annual report 2015/16 (24 April 2017). DCC
Local Area SEND Report September 2017. DfE.
Good intentions, good enough? Lenehan and Geraghty, November 2017.
Feedback children/young people and parents/carers obtained via:
-

SEN Engagement Network (2017)
Community Health & Wellbeing Services for Children & Young People in Devon ‘Shaping Future Services’. (Draft engagement report October 2017).

Page 104

SEND Glossary
Topic
AMP
AP
ASC
CAIRB
EHC or
EHCP

Heading
Asset Management Plan
Alternative Provision
Autistic Spectrum Condition
Communication & Interaction
Resource Base
Education, Health & Care Plan

EHE

Elective Home Educated

ESFA
FE
DSG

Education & Skills Funding
Agency
Further Education
Dedicated Schools Grant

HI
HNB
IND

Hearing Impairment
High Needs Block
Independent Mainstream School

INS
ISP

Independent Special School
Independent Special post
16/college provision
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

JSNA

KS 1-4
Local Offer

Key Stage 1-4

MLD
MSI
MSS
NMSS/NSS

Moderate Learning Difficulty
Multi-Sensory Impairment
Maintained Special School
Non-Maintained Special School

Ofsted
PD
PMLD

Office for Standards in Education
Physical Disability
Profound & Multiple Learning
Difficulty

Portage

SALT

Speech & Language Therapy

SEMH
SEN (or
SEND)

Social, Emotional & Mental Health
Special Educational Needs (&
Disabilities)

Appendix G

Explanation
A detailed plan relating to a building (special schools)
Provision for pupils who cannot attend their mainstream setting
A classification of special educational need
Unit within a school or college providing specialist education for
children with significant social communication difficulties e.g. autism.
This replaces Statements of Special Educational Need. A legal
document describing a young person needs, the provision to meet
those needs & the most suitable education placement. If a child/young
person has health or social care needs only, they do not have an
EHCP unless their needs impact on their education.
The term used to describe parents' decisions to provide education for
their children at home instead of sending them to school.
The government agency accountable for funding education & skills
Education below degree level for people above school age.
Money provided to local authorities by government to fund the
schools that they manage.
A classification of special educational need
Funding which supports pupils with SEND aged 0-25.
A school providing mainstream education but not maintained by a
local authority
A profit-making school which is not dependent on public funding
Independent provision for pupils who are post 16
JSNAs analyse the health needs of populations to inform and guide
commissioners of health, wellbeing and care services within local
authority areas. It is the primary evidence base for Health & Wellbeing
Boards to decide key local health priorities.
Fixed stages in to which the national curriculum is divided
Local authorities are required to publish a ‘local offer’, providing
information about provision it expects to be available to children with
SEND in their area inside and outside of school. Local authorities are
required to consult locally on what the Local Offer should contain.
A classification of special educational need
A classification of special educational need
A school maintained by a local authority
A non-profit making school that is not maintained by a local authority
for children and young people with SEN
Inspectorate that visits and inspects schools and local authorities
A classification of special educational need
A classification of special educational need
Planned, home-based educational support for pre-school children with
special educational needs, usually provided by local authorities.
Named after the town of Portage, Wisconsin, USA where the first
home teaching scheme began.
The care, support & treatment for children & adults who have
communication difficulties with eating drinking & swallowing.
A classification of special educational need
A child or young person has SEN if they have a learning difficulty or
disability which calls for special educational provision to be made. A
child of compulsory school age or young person has a learning
difficulty or disability if they:
- Have a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority
of others of the same age, or
- Has a disability which prevents or hinders them from making use
of facilities of any kind generally provided for others of the same
age in mainstream settings (SEND Strategy 2017-2020)

Page 105

SLCD &
SLCN
SLD
SPLD
Special
School

Speech, Language &
Communication Difficulty or Need
Severe Learning Difficulty
Specific Learning Disability

VI

Visual Impairment

A classification of special educational need
A classification of special educational need
A classification of special educational need
A school which is resourced and organised to provide education of
pupils with an Education, Health & Care Plan, who need a high degree
of support in learning & sometimes specialist facilities, equipment and
teaching.
A classification of special educational need

Page 106

Impact Assessment
Version 2016

Strategic Review of Special Educational Needs (SEN)

Service:

Children’s

Head of Service:

Dawn Stabb

Date of sign off by Head Of Service/version:

Impact Assessment commenced 30 June 2017, concluded 14 March 2018.

Assessment carried out by (incl. job title):

Neil Pack (Project Manager)

Page 107

Assessment of:

Section 1 - Background
Description:

Supporting local authorities to create sufficient good school places for all pupils, including those with special educational
needs (SEN) and disabilities, is a high priority for the Government. This is a vital role that local authorities retain in an
increasingly school-led education system and one that requires long-term strategic planning, informed by detailed local
knowledge enhanced through consultation with parents and carers, and good relationships with local schools.
The Children and Families Act 2014 requires local authorities to keep the provision for children and young people with
special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) under review. The Act is clear that, when considering any reorganisation
of provision, decision makers must be clear how they are satisfied that the proposed alternative arrangements will lead to
improvements in the standard, quality and/or range of educational provision for children with special educational needs
(SEN).

1

Funding has been made available by central government for local authorities to undertake a strategic review of provision
for children and young people with SEN and disabilities. Local authorities can use this funding to support them to decide
how to invest their allocation from special provision capital funding being provided by central government for the three
years from 2018/19. More information about strategic planning is available in information about the high needs strategic
planning fund and the high needs funding: operational guide 2017 to 2018.

Page 108
Reason for change/review
and options appraisal:

The outcome of the strategic review and supporting implementation plan (including a concise plan for the use of the
additional capital funding) must be published on the SEND Local Offer website by the 14 March 2018. The key
recommendations arising from the Review will be considered by DCC Cabinet on the 14 March 2018. The recommendations
will:
 Increase provision particularly for pupils with social, emotional & mental health needs as evidence indicates this
will be an area of growth
 Develop provision in Tiverton, Newton Abbot and Dawlish, reflecting current & projected demands
 Improve the reintegration of learners with statutory plans who are educated in Alternative Provision, as part of
reducing exclusions of those with SEN, who are at greater risk of exclusion than those without SEN.
 Consult on the future of a number of specialist support centres where evidence indicates that there no longer
demand for their services or that changes are required
 Develop a more detailed post 19 strategy and localised offer, as evidence indicates that educational outcomes for
this cohort need to be improved
 Strengthen feedback from learners and parents/carers by learning from annual EHCP reviews.
 Undertake further analysis of the needs currently being met by the independent sector and how these may be
met in future by more mainstream provision, reflecting the SEND Strategy priorities.
 Provide access to funding by schools to help create additional capacity or improve facilities for pupils with EHCPs.
Central Government requirement to undertake a review of SEN provision and publish plans; Priority for action under
Devon’s SEND Improvement Plan.

Section 2 - Key impacts and recommendations
2

Social/equality impacts:

Overall impacts are expected to be positive. The Review aims to increase capacity and develop facilities for educational
provision for learners with SEN (statutory plans), supporting the SEND Strategy priority of promoting the use of
mainstream provision, as locally as possible as a key contribution towards promoting inclusion of vulnerable children and
young people. Further consultation will be undertaken in respect of those specialist support centres for which there may
no longer be demand.

Environmental impacts:

No significant impacts have been identified.

Economic impacts:

There is expected to be growth in the provision of education provision, new schools and additional capacity in existing
sites, which will result in additional employment opportunities in key areas in the county, particularly where the
population will increase e.g. as a result of housing development.

Page 109

Further consultation will be undertaken in respect of those specialist support centres for which there may no longer be
demand. Any subsequent notice periods aim to minimise disruption and the potential for unemployment.

Other impacts (partner
agencies, services, DCC
policies, possible
‘unintended
consequences’):

None identified. Progress in undertaking the review and the resulting findings and recommendations have been
considered by the multi-agency SEND Improvement Board, prior to consideration by the Council’s Cabinet in March 2018.

How will impacts and
actions be monitored?

Progress in undertaking the review is monitored by i) Childrens Services Leadership team and ii) SEND Improvement
Board.
The Review action plan will be monitored by the Council’s education management team and CSLT. The SEND Improvement
Board will also receive regular progress reports.
The provision of additional government capital funding each year, is dependent on the Council undertaking a review of
progress and publishing the revised plans as follows.

3

Page 110

Deadline By

Action



14 March 2018

Publish short plan on local offer page (a template has been provided by
Government)



Summer 2018 

Receive first tranche of funding



March 2019



Summer 2019 



March 2020



Summer 2020 



March 2021









Update & re-publish plan
Receive second tranche of funding
Update & re-publish plan
Receive third tranche of funding
Update and re-publish to show how money has been spent



Section 3 - Profile and views of stakeholders and people directly affected
People affected:

Primarily children/ young people with high special educational needs for whom the Council has responsibility (i.e. they
possess a Statement or Education, Health & Care Plan); their parents/carers; providers of education to those
children/young people.

4

Diversity profile and needs
assessment of affected
people:

Devon County Council has responsibility for over 3700 learners up to the age of 25 with special educational needs
identified through a statutory plan.
There has been an absolute rise in the numbers of SEN funded pupils in Devon since 2010. The percentage of pupils in
Devon Schools with a statement or EHC plan has been consistently higher than the national average. However, the trend
has been for a gradual decrease in this proportion over time.
The 2016 JSNA found that pupils living in the most deprived areas are more likely to be identified as having SEN than those
in the least deprived.
In Devon, a number of districts have significantly higher proportion of children with SEN than the Devon average; namely
North Devon and Torridge. In the South Hams, East Devon, Mid-Devon and West Devon the proportion of children with
SEN is significantly lower than the Devon average.

Page 111

Social, emotional and mental health is the largest area of primary need for pupils with SEN in Devon. This is closely
followed by speech, language and communication, and moderate learning difficulty. However, there are differences
between school type.
Children in care are more likely than their peers to be identified as having special educational needs. However, data
indicate that a higher proportion of children in care in Devon have a statement or EHC plan than the national average. This
pattern is also seen in respect of children in need.
Due to small numbers, there is little or no published data or detail on either children in need or children with SEND from
minority ethnic backgrounds at a local level. The School Census (2015) reported there were 69 children identified as being
from a minority ethnic background attending special schools in Devon, out of 993 pupils (6.9%); fewer than 5 were of
gypsy/Roma heritage. The majority (91%) are white, mostly British. The next prevalent are those of mixed race (1.1%).
In terms of educational outcomes, data shows that children with SEN in Devon achieve higher scores than the national
average and this is replicated across early years, school age & young people aged 16-24.

5

Regarding gender, the majority of children/young people with SEN in Devon are male (73%). Nationally it has been
reported that boys are twice as likely to possess SEN than girls.

Other stakeholders:

Mainstream schools or colleges:
Further education (FE) colleges
Special units or resourced provision:
Special schools or academies:

Page 112

Special school (whether maintained or academy, including special free schools)
Non-maintained special school (NMSS)
Independent special school
Special post-16 institution
Hospital school
Pupil referral units and alternative provision academies
Nursery or early years providers
Any other education provision that is attended by pupils who have education, health and care plans and are aged between
0 and 25.
Neighbouring authorities (particularly where children with SEN and disabilities from one local authority area receive their
special provision in another).
6

A key source of evidence for the review is feedback from stakeholders. There is also an explicit requirement to consult key
stakeholders on plans to use capital funding and any significant changes in the provision for SEN. Where the action plan
arising from the review contains such changes then specific consultation may be required on the detail as part of
undertaking the action.

Consultation process:

In the autumn of 2017 a survey of key stakeholders was designed in conjunction with their representatives including SEND
Improvement Board and Engagement workstream, SEND Local Offer Reference groups (including children/young people
and parent/carer representatives), Primary, Secondary and special school head teachers and FE colleges. On-line surveys
were opened for four weeks ending 8 December (& other formats available on request). Promotion of the surveys was
undertaken by SENCOs, representative groups (parents, young people) and headteachers who also provided support to
complete the surveys where needed.

Page 113

A total of 298 responses were received:




Research and information
used:

123 from children/young people
102 from parents/carers
73 from providers
A separate report on the engagement is available at (SEND local offer website when ready).
Analysis of Needs and Provision in respect of services for children with SEN. Specifically:









School census data (20150-2017). DCC.
Education Infrastructure Plan (revised) 2016 – 2033. DCC.
District Council housing projections. DCC.
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) (SEN extract) January 2017. DCC.
Engagement undertaken Autumn 2017 and January 2018 (to follow). DCC.
High Needs Benchmarking tool 2017. DfE
Children with SEN Annual report 2015/16 (24 April 2017). DCC
SEN Scorecard, Quarter 1 2017/18. DCC.
7





Report Card, Quarter 1 2017/18. Babcock LDP.
Local Area SEND Report September 2017. DfE.
Good intentions, good enough? Lenehan and Geraghty, November 2017.

Insight obtained from existing stakeholder feedback
Insight obtained from additional feedback obtained from the review process, described above
SEN benchmarking tool provided by government

Page 114
8

Background Analysis
This section describes how relevant questions and issues have been explored during the options appraisal.

Section 4a - Social Impacts
Giving Due Regard to Equality and Human Rights
The local authority must consider how people will be affected by the service, policy or practice. In so doing we must give due regard to the
need to:

Page 115





Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation
Advance equality of opportunity and
Foster good relations.

Where relevant, we must take into account the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, race, and religion and belief.

This means considering how people with different needs get the different services they require and are not disadvantaged, and facilities are
available to them on an equal basis in order to meet their needs; advancing equality of opportunity by recognising the disadvantages to which
protected groups are subject and considering how they can be overcome.
We also need to ensure that human rights are protected. In particular, that people have:


A reasonable level of choice in where and how they live their life and interact with others (this is an aspect of the human right to ‘private
and family life’).



An appropriate level of care which results in dignity and respect (the protection to a private and family life, protection from torture and the
freedom of thought, belief and religion within the Human Rights Act and elimination of discrimination and the promotion of good relations
under the Equality Act 2010).
9



A right to life (ensuring that nothing we do results in unlawful or unnecessary/avoidable death).

The Equality Act 2010 and other relevant legislation does not prevent the Council from taking difficult decisions which result in service
reductions or closures for example, it does however require the Council to ensure that such decisions are:
• Informed and properly considered with a rigorous, conscious approach and open mind, taking due regard of the effects on the protected
characteristics and the general duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality and foster good relations.
• Proportionate (negative impacts are proportionate to the aims of the policy decision)
• Fair
• Necessary

Page 116

• Reasonable, and
• Those affected have been adequately consulted.

Characteristics

All residents (include
generic equality
provisions):

In what way are you eliminating or reducing the
potential for direct or indirect discrimination,
harassment or disadvantage?

In what way are you advancing equality (meeting
needs, encouraging participation, making adjustments
for disabled people, ‘closing gaps’).

Are there any reasonable and proportionate,
unavoidable negative consequences?

In what way are you fostering good relations between
groups (tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding), if relevant?

The Review outcomes reflect the agreed priorities
defined in the SEND Improvement plan.

The Review outcomes reflect the agreed priorities defined in
the SEND Improvement plan, in particular the inclusion of
children with SEN by promoting mainstream education at every
phase.
10

The outcomes of the review relate to children and young
people aged 0-25.

The outcomes of the review relate to children and young
people aged 0-25. The review has identified the need to
improve provision for those aged 19-25 and plans will be
developed to improve the local offer, in partnership with
Special Schools and Further Education Providers.

Disability (incl. sensory,
mobility, mental health,
learning disability, ill
health) and carers of
disabled people:

The review relates to children & young people who
possess high special educational needs

The review relates to children & young people with a statutory
special educational needs plan,. The review has identified that
provision for those children with social, emotional & mental
health needs need further development

Culture and ethnicity:
nationality/national origin,
skin colour, religion and
belief:

No particular impacts identified

No particular impacts identified

Sex, gender and gender
identity (including men,
women, non-binary and
transgender people), and
pregnancy and maternity
(including women’s right to
breastfeed).

No particular impacts identified

No particular impacts identified

Sexual orientation and
marriage/civil partnership:

No particular impacts identified

No particular impacts identified

Other socio-economic
factors such as families,
carers, single

No particular impacts identified

Research shows a link between deprivation and the likelihood
of SEN. Plans for development of provision reflect the current

Page 117

Age:

11

distribution of need but have also considered how this may
change in the future, in the light of projected demographic
changes particularly driven by the development of new housing
across the county.

people/couples, low
income, vulnerability,
education, reading/writing
skills, ‘digital exclusion’
and rural isolation.
Human rights
considerations:

No particular impacts identified

Section 4b - Environmental impacts

Page 118

An impact assessment should give due regard to the following activities in order to ensure we meet a range of environmental legal duties.

The policy or practice does not require the identification of environmental impacts using this Impact Assessment process because it is subject
to (please select from the table below and proceed to the 4c, otherwise complete the environmental analysis table):
Devon County Council’s Environmental Review Process for permitted development highway schemes.
Planning Permission under the Town and Country Planning Act (1990).
Strategic Environmental Assessment under European Directive 2001/42/EC “on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and
programmes on the environment”.

Describe any actual or potential negative
consequences.

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive
outcomes.

(Consider how to mitigate against these).

(Consider how to improve as far as possible).
12

No specific impacts identified

No specific impacts identified

Conserve and enhance
biodiversity (the variety of
living species):

No specific impacts identified

No specific impacts identified

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of Devon’s
landscape:

No specific impacts identified

No specific impacts identified

Conserve and enhance the
quality and character of our
built environment and public
spaces:

No specific impacts identified

No specific impacts identified

Conserve and enhance
Devon’s cultural and historic
heritage:

No specific impacts identified

No specific impacts identified

Minimise greenhouse gas
emissions:

No specific impacts identified

SEND strategy promotes inclusion in mainstream settings
which are as local as possible for pupils. Achieving this reduces
the need for transport and resulting emissions.

Page 119

Reduce waste, and send less
waste to landfill:

Improvements to buildings use modern materials and design
to minimise emissions, heat loss etc.
Minimise pollution (including
air, land, water, light and

No specific impacts identified

As above
13

noise):
Contribute to reducing water
consumption:

No specific impacts identified

No specific impacts identified

Ensure resilience to the future
effects of climate change
(warmer, wetter winters; drier,
hotter summers; more intense
storms; and rising sea level):

No specific impacts identified

No specific impacts identified

Other (please state below):

Section 4c - Economic impacts

Page 120
Impact on knowledge and
skills:

Describe any actual or potential negative
consequences.

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive
outcomes.

(Consider how to mitigate against these).

(Consider how to improve as far as possible).

No specific impacts identified

In order to promote the use of mainstream provision school
staff receive specialist training and development. This will
increase as a result of increasing capacity and development of
facilities

Impact on employment levels: There is potential for reduced staffing levels from
the closure of specialist support centres (subject to
formal consultation). Notice periods help to
minimise the risk of redundancy, negative impact on
employment levels.

New provision and increase in capacity of existing provision will
result in the increase in staff numbers; Improvements to
buildings utilise local contractors wherever possible. Post 19
strategy will need to support ambitious pathways into
employment
14

Impact on local business:

No specific impacts identified

Improvements to buildings utilise local contractors wherever
possible. Additional schools will increase demand for support
services (utilities, food, cleaning, transport etc.)

Section 4d -Combined Impacts
Linkages or conflicts between
social, environmental and
economic impacts:

The growth in provision helps to address demand, promotes inclusion and positive educational outcomes for a
vulnerable part of Devon’s population. This growth also increases school employment and supporting business and is
expected to reduce transport distances.
No conflicts identified.

Page 121

Section 5 - ‘Social Value’ of planned commissioned/procured services:
How will the economic, social and environmental well-being of the
relevant area be improved through what is being proposed? And
how, in conducting the process of procurement, might that
improvement be secured?

Educational opportunities and outcomes will be maintained and improved
(particularly for SEMH needs, post 19, those with SEN plans in Alternative
Provision) and provide for increasing demand arising from future
demographic changes. There will be increases in employment levels in
some areas as a result of new / increased capacity.

15

Agenda Item 10
HIW/18/17
Cabinet
14 March 2018
Sponsorship of and advertising on Highway Assets
Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and
determination by the Cabinet (and confirmation under the provisions of the
Council's Constitution) before taking effect.
Recommendations: That
(a)
the proposed policy for sponsorship and advertising on Highway assets and
associated infrastructure be approved;
(b)
a procurement exercise is undertaken to manage and deliver this service;
(c)
delegated Authority is given to the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure
Development and Waste and Cabinet Member for Highway Management to
make minor amendments to the policy where appropriate.
1.

Summary

This report outlines a proposed approach to sponsorship and advertising on Highway assets
across Devon, to provide opportunity for organisations to sponsor/advertise on Highway
assets and generate an additional income for the Authority.
2.

Background

Nationally, it is common practice for Highway Authorities to have in place opportunities to
sponsor highway assets; these might include street lighting columns, roundabouts, bridges,
properties, web pages, or fleet vehicles. Our only current offer is that of sponsoring
roundabouts. However, this offer varies in approach across the County which isn’t well
understood or marketed. Devon has a large and varied highway asset and could secure
additional income to assist in general service delivery if this was pursued in a better
managed way.
It is not the intent to proliferate the County with obtrusive signage but merely formalise and
bring a greater level of consistency to how we currently manage our offer.
To date our approach has been to dispose of the maintenance associated with the relevant
roundabout and charge a flat fee of £398 per annum for sponsorship. The expectation being
that sponsors take on grass cutting/planting in relation to that asset. In some areas
responsibility for maintenance/sponsorship was passed onto Town, City, or District Councils
for some or all roundabouts within their boundaries leading to an element of inconsistency in
approach and style around the County.
Sponsorship has not historically been used to create a meaningful funding source for
highways maintenance (or other Council activities). Informal discussions and interest from
managing agents for such activity appear to provide opportunity to create a good return,
albeit that return would depend on constraints placed on any offer.

Page 123

Agenda Item 10
3.

Proposal

A basic desktop analysis suggests we have between 100-120 roundabouts which would be
suitable for sponsorship, similarly we have in excess of 70,000 lighting columns. It should
be stressed that it is likely that only a proportion of lighting stock would likely be appropriate
or commercially attractive for sponsorship.
It is proposed to source a contractor to manage sponsorship and advertising on highway
assets on behalf of the Authority. Having conducted initial market engagement it would not
appear that there would be any upfront costs to the Authority, with the third party taking an
agreed percentage of income to cover the management and signing costs associated with
sponsoring the asset. This model of business will provide the contractor with motivation to
realise the full commercial value of assets and seek sponsors, it would therefore be likely
that rather than a flat fee approach as currently charged different sites would be of different
cost dependent on style, location, and volume of traffic.
Appendix I to this report will act as our policy position to guide on the principles around sign
dimension, content, environmental and safety considerations being required. It will also act
as a framework with which to begin the procurement exercise. This document may need
amendments and it is proposed that the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure
Development and Waste in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highway Management
be given delegated authority to make minor amendments where necessary.
A procurement exercise would be required to establish who can deliver the best managed
solution, with a view to deliver sponsorships and advertising. It would be envisaged that the
initial agreement would include opportunities in relation to roundabouts, street lighting, and
some verges with the opportunity to add potentially to this in future, be it for the immediate
service or wider Council if considered appropriate.
Consideration will be given to securing a number of sites (or utilising sites not yet benefiting
from sponsorship) to promote the activities of the Authority and the City/Borough/District
Authorities.
Depending upon the final procurement arrangement it is likely that the managing agent (or
DCC) would undertake basic maintenance funded by the sponsor, removing the current
requirements for sponsors to undertake/arrange the work themselves. It is likely that this
would be the preference of sponsors, however, options for sponsors to continue themselves
will be a consideration in the procurement exercise.
Where arrangements exist with current sponsors, those sponsors will be given first options
to retain the sponsorship of that asset.
4.

Consultations

Discussions have taken place with the in-house teams responsible for the management of
the assets concerned, including colleagues in Trading Standards, Street Lighting and the
neighbourhood highways teams. Colleagues in Safer Travel, Environmental Audit, and the
Traffic Management Team will also assist in developing how signing associated with
sponsorship will be presented on the Network.
The existing arrangements have been under review for some time, interested parties
contacting the Authority in the past 18 months have been made aware of the ongoing review
and their details have been held so they can be re-engaged by any future agent.

Page 124

Agenda Item 10
There is recognition that historically arrangements have been made with other Authorities in
some parts of Devon to arrange sponsorship and/or maintenance, notably Exeter City
Council, Mid Devon District Council, and Barnstaple Town Council. These Authorities will be
engaged as proposals are further developed.
5.

Financial Considerations

Initial market engagement has indicated suppliers of managed solutions for sponsorship of
highways assets regularly engage with local businesses. By providing local businesses with
additional means to advertise, we can mutually develop our own commercial activities whilst
supporting local economies.
An increased income for the authority will benefit public services.
As any managing agent will require an element of profit share the income could be less than
if managed in-house. However, it is though felt that the organisation doesn’t have the
resource to be able to do this in a cost-effective way given other competing priorities.
6.

Environmental Impact Considerations

Signing relating to sponsorship does already exist on our network but is inconsistent. Whilst
it is accepted that poorly managed advertisements and sponsorships may be visually
intrusive; this can be mitigated by developing a standard that ensures advertisements are of
similar size and form. Similarly, advertisements would not be ostentatious or offensive,
parameters around suitable material can be found in Appendix I and is common to other
Authorities.
There is potential for a positive environmental impact to be achieved if a proportion of
signing opportunities are utilised to promote the sustainable transport/public health initiatives
of the Authority and the City/Borough/District Authorities.
An Impact Assessments has been undertaken for Sponsorship of and advertising on
Highway Assets and circulated separately to Cabinet Members and is also available on the
Council’s website at https://new.devon.gov.uk/impact/published/, which Members will need
to consider for the purposes of this item/meeting.
7.

Equality Considerations

There is not considered any equality consideration in relation to these proposals.
8.

Legal Considerations

The third-party supplier successful in the procurement exercise must ensure that they abide
by any legislation that governs advertisement, see Appendix I.
It may be appropriate for Trading Standards to utilise signage to improve awareness of the
‘buy with confidence’ approved traders scheme, in place to link consumers with reputable
and vetted firms.
9.

Risk Management Considerations

It is proposed that any standards relating to sponsorship will utilise rules and guidelines laid
out by the Advertising Standards Agency (ASA) and uphold the rules laid out in the British
Codes of Advertising and Sales Promotion and the Code of Recommended Practice on
Local Authority Publicity.

Page 125

Agenda Item 10
The basic principles of the codes are contained in Appendix I.
10.

Public Health Impact

There are not considered to be any negative public health impacts of this proposal.
There is potential for a positive public health impact to be achieved if a proportion of signing
opportunities are utilised to promote the sustainable transport/public health initiatives of the
Authority and the City/Borough/District Authorities.
11.

Options/Alternatives

The following options have been considered:
Option A: Do nothing, maintain current arrangements.
Option B: Review how sponsorship and advertising is managed in-house.
Option C: Procure the services of a third-party supplier to manage sponsorships and
advertising, generating revenue for reinvestment in the highway network.
12.

Reason for Recommendation/Conclusion

It is not considered appropriate for existing arrangements to continue as the current
approach is inconsistent and to a degree confusing for potential sponsors. Nor is it
considered appropriate to review and manage in-house due to limited staff resource and
expertise in establishing commercial value and managing these assets in a commercial
manner.
Therefore, it is recommended that the Authority procures the services of a third-party
supplier to provide a managed solution to sponsorships and advertising.
This proposal will provide an opportunity to develop a revenue stream to the authority at no
cost. As profits are shared with the supplier, there is motivation for them to realise the full
commercial value of assets and seek sponsors, with little risk to the authority. Although
there may be officer time spent on procuring the supplier, on-going officer time would be
minimal with the supplier leading on securing new advertisers and sponsors.
Meg Booth
Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste
Electoral Divisions: All
Cabinet Member for Highway Management: Councillor Stuart Hughes
Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers
Contact for enquiries: Matthew Scriven, Traffic Management Group Manager
Room No. Lucombe House, County Hall, Exeter EX2 4QD
Tel No: 01392) 383000
Background Paper

Date

File Reference

Impact Assessment

March 2018

https://new.devon.gov.uk/impact/pu
blished/
ms220218cab sponsorship of and advertising on Highway Assets hk 08 050318

Page 126

Agenda Item 10
Appendix I
To HIW/18/17
Sponsorship Policy Position
Purpose
To provide a consistent framework for organisations wishing to provide sponsorship and
advertising on the Highway Asset.
Indicative sign appearance

Within the sign the Devon County Council logo must be incorporated.
To be added - indicative appearances of lamp column banners will be added in
addition to any other form of sponsorship/advert material.
Standards
Any officer or contractor securing advertising on the Council’s behalf must follow the
guidelines below.
All advertising must comply with legislation and official bodies codes of practice such as:
-

The Advertising Standards Agency (ASA)

-

The Committee of Advertising Practice (CAP).

Advertisements must comply with all acts of Parliament, UK and EU regulation and case law
regarding advertisement.
Advertisements must not be false and must not contain deceptive messages.
Prohibited advertisements
Devon County Council is committed to equality and diversity and challenging discrimination.

Page 127

Agenda Item 10
Advertisements must not feature violent content, discriminate against, or promote violence or
hatred against any organisation, person/s or protected group.
Protected characteristics include:










Age
Disability
Gender reassignment
Marriage and Civil Partnership
Pregnancy and Maternity
Race
Religion or Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation.

Advertisements must not promote:












Sexual or adult content including pornography, lap dancing or prostitution
Weapons including firearms, imitation firearms, knives and toys which imitate firearms,
knives or other weapons
Illegal items such as phone and radar jammers, counterfeit documents and fake IDs
Illegal drugs and drugs paraphernalia
Hate groups such as far right groups or extremist organisations
Events associated with illegal activity, such as unlicensed bars, parties or clubs
Illegal services such as unlicensed taxis
Alcohol
Tobacco
Both illegal and legal gambling
Any other illegal activity.

Advertisements for products claiming a health or medical benefit must comply with the
Medicines Act 1968 as well as guidance from the Medicines Control Agency.
Advertisements for financial services or products must comply with the Financial Services
and Markets Act 2000, as well as follow all guidance and regulations set by the Financial
Services Authority.
In addition to the above, the Council reserves the right to refuse any advert that may bring
the Council into disrepute. Consultation will occur with DCC Trading Standards service in
the event of any proposed messages being of concern prior to use.
Safety Considerations
A basic form of safety audit will be required for each site.
Environmental Considerations
In addition to prescribing maximum dimensions (above) where any new sign is installed the
scope for rationalisation of existing signs will also be investigated.

Page 128

Impact Assessment
Version 2017
To publish, please send a dated PDF to impactassessment-mailbox@devon.gov.uk

Assessment of:

Sponsorship & advertising on Highway Infrastructure

Service:

Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste

Head of Service:

Meg Booth (approved by M Scriven)

Date of sign off by Head Of Service/version:

5/03/2018

Assessment carried out by (incl. job title):

Chris Rook, Traffic Management Team Manager

Page 129

Section 1 - Background
Description:

Nationally, it is common practice for Highway Authorities to have in place opportunities to sponsor highway
assets; these might include street lighting columns, roundabouts, bridges, properties, web pages, or fleet
vehicles.
Our only current offer is that of sponsoring roundabouts. However, this offer varies in approach across the
County which isn’t well understood or marketed, it is also arguably inefficient, in part at least due to higher
priorities on officer time in the service, for example keeping the network safe and moving. Devon has a large and
varied highway asset and could secure additional income to assist in general service delivery if this was pursued
in a better managed way.
A basic desktop analysis suggests we have between 100-120 roundabouts which would be suitable for
sponsorship, similarly we have in excess of 70,000 lighting columns. It should be stressed that it is likely that
1

only proportion of lighting stock would likely be appropriate or commercially attractive for sponsorship.
It is not the intent to proliferate the County with obtrusive signage but merely formalise and bring a greater level
of consistency to how we currently manage our offer.
Historically, our approach has been to dispose of the maintenance associated with the relevant roundabout and
charge a flat fee of £398 per annum for sponsorship. The expectation being that sponsors take on grass cutting /
planting in relation to that asset. In some areas responsibility for maintenance / sponsorship was passed onto
Town, City, or District Councils for some or all roundabouts within their boundaries leading to an element of
inconsistency in approach and style around the County.

Page 130
Reason for
change/review:

It is proposed to source a third-party contractor to manage sponsorship and advertising on highway assets on
behalf of the Authority. Having conducted initial market engagement it would not appear that there would be any
upfront costs to the Authority, with the third party taking an agreed percentage of income to cover the
management and signing costs associated with sponsoring the asset. This model of business will provide the
contractor with motivation to realise the full commercial value of assets and seek sponsors, it would therefore be
likely that rather than a flat fee approach as currently charged different sites would be of different cost dependent
on style, location, and volume of traffic.
It is not considered appropriate for existing arrangements to continue as there is a need to seek new sources of
funding to meet increasing budgetary challenges, the current approach is inconsistent and to a degree confusing
for potential sponsors. Nor is it considered appropriate to review and manage in-house due to limited staff
resource and expertise in establishing commercial value and managing these assets in a commercial manner.
Therefore, it is recommended that the Authority procures the services of a third-party supplier to provide a
managed solution to sponsorships and advertising.
This proposal will provide an opportunity to develop a revenue stream to the authority at no cost. As profits are
shared with the supplier, there is motivation for them to realise the full commercial value of assets and seek
sponsors, with little risk to the authority. Although there may be officer time spent on procuring the supplier, ongoing officer time would be minimal with the supplier leading on securing new advertisers and sponsors.

2

Section 2 - Impacts, options and recommendations
See sections 3, 4 and 5 for background analysis

Options Appraisal and
Recommendations:

The following options have been considered:
Option A: Do nothing, maintain current arrangements
Option B: Review how sponsorship and advertising is managed in-house.
Option C: Procurement the services of a third-party supplier to manage sponsorships and advertising, generating
revenue for reinvestment in the highway network.

Page 131
Social/equality impacts
(summary):

It is not considered appropriate for existing arrangements to continue as there is a need to seek new sources of
funding to meet increasing budgetary challenges, the current approach is inconsistent and to a degree confusing
for potential sponsors. Nor is it considered appropriate to review and manage in-house due to limited staff
resource and expertise in establishing commercial value and managing these assets in a commercial manner.
Therefore, it is recommended that the Authority procures the services of a third-party supplier to provide a
managed solution to sponsorships and advertising.
There is not considered to be any specific social/equality impact.
However, it is worth noting that Devon County Council is committed to equality and diversity and challenging
discrimination. Any advert / sign placed in association with the project would need to comply with legislation and
official bodies codes of practice such as:
-

The Advertising Standards Agency (ASA)
The Committee of Advertising Practice (CAP)
The visual impact of any new signing on the network will be managed via an appropriate policy on the nature of
advertising.
-

Environmental impacts
(summary):

3

There is a potential positive environmental impact as there will be options to use locations to promote
environmental and green travel initiatives of the Authority and other District / Borough / City Authorities.
Economic impacts
(summary):

Some highways assets are currently sponsored or advertised on by local business in partnership with District
councils. These assets remain the property of the Highways authority and we would seek where possible to
retrieve those assets for advertising. This may affect the publicity of local businesses.
This will be mitigated as we will expect any supplier managing sponsorships and advertising to work with existing
sponsors or advertisers wherever possible.
Local businesses that sponsor highway assets will benefit from increased exposure to potential customers and
clients.

Page 132

Other impacts (partner
agencies, services, DCC
policies, possible
‘unintended
consequences’):

There is likely to be a positive impact on local employment as local contractors will be required to undertake
maintenance of assets, and signing works. The promotional benefits of sponsorship will most likely benefit local
businesses.
Discussions have taken place with the in-house teams responsible for the management of the assets concerned,
including colleagues in street lighting, bridges, and the neighbourhood highways teams.
Colleagues in Safer Travel, Environmental Audit, and the Traffic Management Team will also assist in
developing how signing associated with sponsorship will be presented on the Network.
The placing of sponsorship signing will be such as to avoid unintended consequence such as any detrimental
impact to road safety, or the asset itself.

How will impacts and
actions be monitored?

Officers will work closely with suppliers during the setup of the contract to ensure that all advertisements and
sponsors meet the Council’s standards. Additionally, officers will ensure during the setup of the contract that
existing advertisers are considered. Officers will regularly review the performance of the contract.

4

Background Analysis
This section describes how relevant questions and issues have been explored during the options appraisal.

Section 3 - Profile and views of stakeholders and people directly affected
People affected:

External stakeholders include those that currently sponsor highway assets, typically local businesses, and in
some areas City, District or Town Councils
Internal stakeholders include teams responsible for the management of the assets concerned, including
colleagues in street lighting, bridges, and the neighbourhood highways teams. Colleagues in Safer Travel,
Environmental Audit, and the Traffic Management Team will also assist in developing how signing associated
with sponsorship will be presented on the Network.
The proposal has equal neutral impact across all population profiles and characteristics, with a potential benefit
to local businesses.

Other stakeholders
(agencies etc.):

-

Page 133

Diversity profile and
needs assessment of
affected people:

Consultation process and
results:

This proposal is considered low impact. Internal stakeholders have been engaged and will be involved in
developing the Authorities approach to sponsorship. External stakeholders, specifically those that currently
sponsor highway assets will be engaged as the project progresses.
Research and information Research of the approach taken by neighbouring Authorities has been carried out along with initial market
used:
engagement to understand the likely approach taken by third party providers.

Section 4a - Social Impacts
Giving Due Regard to Equality and Human Rights
5

The local authority must consider how people will be affected by the service, policy or practice. In so doing we must give due regard to the
need to:
•
•
•

Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation
Advance equality of opportunity and
Foster good relations.

Where relevant, we must take into account the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and
maternity, marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, race, and religion and belief.
This means considering how people with different needs get the different services they require and are not disadvantaged, and facilities are
available to them on an equal basis in order to meet their needs; advancing equality of opportunity by recognising the disadvantages to which
protected groups are subject and considering how they can be overcome.

Page 134

We also need to ensure that human rights are protected. In particular, that people have:
•

A reasonable level of choice in where and how they live their life and interact with others (this is an aspect of the human right to ‘private
and family life’).

•

An appropriate level of care which results in dignity and respect (the protection to a private and family life, protection from torture and the
freedom of thought, belief and religion within the Human Rights Act and elimination of discrimination and the promotion of good relations
under the Equality Act 2010).

•

A right to life (ensuring that nothing we do results in unlawful or unnecessary/avoidable death).

The Equality Act 2010 and other relevant legislation does not prevent the Council from taking difficult decisions which result in service
reductions or closures for example, it does however require the Council to ensure that such decisions are:
• Informed and properly considered with a rigorous, conscious approach and open mind, taking due regard of the effects on the protected
characteristics and the general duty to eliminate discrimination, advance equality and foster good relations.
• Proportionate (negative impacts are proportionate to the aims of the policy decision)
• Fair
6

• Necessary
• Reasonable, and
• Those affected have been adequately consulted.

Characteristics

In what way can you advance equality (meet needs,
encourage participation, make adjustments for
disabled people, ‘close gaps’).

Are there any lawful, reasonable and
proportionate, unavoidable negative
consequences?

In what way can you foster good relations between
groups (tackle prejudice and promote understanding),
if relevant?

All residents (include
generic equality
provisions):

None

None

Age:

None

None

Disability (incl. sensory,
mobility, mental health,
learning disability, ill
health) and carers of
disabled people:

None

None

Culture and ethnicity:
nationality/national origin,

None

None

Page 135

In what way can you eliminate or reduce the
potential for direct or indirect discrimination,
harassment or disadvantage?

7

skin colour, religion and
belief:
None

None

Sexual orientation and
marriage/civil partnership:

None

None

Other socio-economic
factors such as families,
carers, single
people/couples, low
income, vulnerability,
education, reading/writing
skills, ‘digital exclusion’
and rural isolation.

None

None

Human rights
considerations:

None

Page 136

Sex, gender and gender
identity (including men,
women, non-binary and
transgender people), and
pregnancy and maternity
(including women’s right to
breastfeed).

Supporting independence, wellbeing and resilience?
Give consideration to the groups listed above and how they may have different needs.

8

In what way can you support and create
opportunities for people and communities (of
place and interest) to be independent,
empowered and resourceful?

N/A

In what way can you help people to be safe,
protected from harm, and with good health and
wellbeing?

N/A

In what way can you help people to be
connected, and involved in community
activities?

N/A

Page 137

Section 4b - Environmental impacts
An impact assessment should give due regard to the following activities in order to ensure we meet a range of environmental legal duties.
The policy or practice does not require the identification of environmental impacts using this Impact Assessment process because it is subject
to (please select from the table below and proceed to the 4c, otherwise complete the environmental analysis table):
Devon County Council’s Environmental Review Process for permitted development highway schemes.
Planning Permission under the Town and Country Planning Act (1990).
Strategic Environmental Assessment under European Directive 2001/42/EC “on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and
programmes on the environment”.

Describe any actual or potential negative
consequences.

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive
outcomes.
9

(Consider how to improve as far as possible).

Reduce waste, and send less
waste to landfill:

N/A

N/A

Conserve and enhance
biodiversity (the variety of
living species):

N/A

N/A

Safeguard the distinctive
characteristics, features and
special qualities of Devon’s
landscape:

Signing relating to sponsorship does already
exist on our network, without appropriate policy
there may be a negative impact.

By ensuring signing is of an appropriate size and nature,
and by ensuring there is funding to continue maintenance
of sponsored assets there is potential to maintain and
improve the public realm.

Page 138

(Consider how to mitigate against these).

Conserve and enhance the
quality and character of our
built environment and public
spaces:

Appropriate Policy will be developed to ensure
any signing relating to sponsorship with be of an
appropriate size and nature.
Signing relating to sponsorship does already
exist on our network, without appropriate policy
there may be a negative impact.
Appropriate Policy will be developed to ensure
any signing relating to sponsorship with be of an
appropriate size and nature.

Conserve and enhance
Devon’s cultural and historic
heritage:

Signing relating to sponsorship does already
exist on our network, without appropriate policy
there may be a negative impact.
Appropriate Policy will be developed to ensure
any signing relating to sponsorship with be of an

By ensuring signing is of an appropriate size and nature,
and by ensuring there is funding to continue maintenance
of sponsored assets there is potential to maintain and
improve the public realm.

By ensuring signing is of an appropriate size and nature,
and by ensuring there is funding to continue maintenance
of sponsored assets there is potential to maintain and
improve the public realm.

10

appropriate size and nature.
N/A

There is potential for a positive environmental impact to
be achieved if a proportion of signing opportunities are
utilised to promote the sustainable transport / public
health initiatives of the Authority and the City / Borough /
District Authorities.

Minimise pollution (including
air, land, water, light and
noise):

N/A

There is potential for a positive environmental impact to
be achieved if a proportion of signing opportunities are
utilised to promote the sustainable transport / public
health initiatives of the Authority and the City / Borough /
District Authorities.

Contribute to reducing water
consumption:

N/A

There is potential for a positive environmental impact to
be achieved if a proportion of signing opportunities are
utilised to promote the sustainable transport / public
health initiatives of the Authority and the City / Borough /
District Authorities.

Ensure resilience to the future
effects of climate change
(warmer, wetter winters; drier,
hotter summers; more intense
storms; and rising sea level):

N/A

There is potential for a positive environmental impact to
be achieved if a proportion of signing opportunities are
utilised to promote the sustainable transport / public
health initiatives of the Authority and the City / Borough /
District Authorities.

Page 139

Minimise greenhouse gas
emissions:

11

Other (please state below):

N/A

N/A

Section 4c - Economic impacts

Impact on knowledge and
skills:

Describe any actual or potential negative
consequences.

Describe any actual or potential neutral or positive
outcomes.

(Consider how to mitigate against these).

(Consider how to improve as far as possible).

N/A

N/A

Page 140

Impact on employment levels: N/A

Impact on local business:

Existing sponsors will be engaged with a view to
maintaining their ongoing sponsorship of an
asset. Those sponsors will be given first options
to retain the sponsorship of that asset at the
current market rate

There is likely to be a positive impact on local employment
as local contractors will be required to undertake
maintenance of assets, and signing works. The
promotional benefits of sponsorship will most likely benefit
local businesses.
Local businesses that sponsor highway assets will benefit
from increased exposure to potential customers and
clients.

There is a risk that some will no longer wish to
sponsor at any new commercial rate.

Section 4d -Combined Impacts
12

Linkages or conflicts
between social,
environmental and
economic impacts:

No specific links.

Section 5 - ‘Social Value’ of planned commissioned/procured services:
How will the economic, social and
environmental well-being of the relevant area
be improved through what is being proposed?
And how, in conducting the process of
procurement, might that improvement be
secured?

Local businesses that sponsor highway assets will benefit from increased exposure to
potential customers and clients.
The proposal will ensure that sponsored assets are maintained to a good standard and
provide an opportunity to develop an additional revenue stream to the authority at no cost

Page 141

There is potential for a positive environmental impact to be achieved if a proportion of signing
opportunities are utilised to promote the sustainable transport / public health initiatives of the
Authority and the City / Borough / District Authorities.

13

Agenda Item 11
PTE/18/9
Cabinet
14 March 2018
Department for Transport Consultation on Proposals for the Creation of a Major Road
Network: Devon County Council Response
Report of the Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment
Please note that the following recommendations
recommendation/sare
is/are
subject
subject
to consideration
to consideration
and
and
determination
determination
by the
byCabinet
the Executive
(and confirmation
(and confirmation
under the
under
provisions
the provisions
of the of the
Council's Constitution) before taking effect.
Recommendations: That
(a)
Cabinet agrees to continue to investigate and develop Devon County Council’s
involvement and role in the proposed Sub-National Transport Body for the
South West Peninsula;
(b)
Cabinet approves the draft Devon County Council consultation response
(Appendix I) to the Department for Transport proposals for the creation of a
Major Road Network; and gives delegated powers to the Head of Planning,
Transportation and Environment, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for
Infrastructure, Development and Waste, to make minor amendments to the
draft response in conjunction with neighbouring authorities before submitting
it to the Department for Transport.
1.

Summary

This report summarises the proposed consultation response to the Department for
Transport’s proposals for the creation of a Major Road Network. It also outlines the
desirability for the formation of a South West Peninsula Sub-National Transport Body (STB).
2.

Background/Introduction

As part of the Transport Investment Strategy, published in 2017, the Government committed
to creating a Major Road Network (MRN) across England. The need for a MRN was
identified in the Rees Jeffreys Road Fund Report, highlighting that there are a set of
economically important roads that deserve a similar level of attention to the Strategic Road
Network (SRN) (in Devon the SRN is the M5, A30, A38 and A35). The report indicates that
these roads need to cater for an even broader mix of users than the SRN and that many of
these regionally important roads cross numerous LA boundaries, resulting in potentially
inconsistent management. However, these roads need more consistent and coordinated
management than the rest of the local road network. As part of the local road network, these
roads do not receive the benefits of long-term funding certainty and efficiencies provided by
the Road Investment Strategy (RIS), which is wholly focused on the SRN. There would be
benefits in considering an investment planning pipeline across this new network of MRN
Local Authority ‘A’ roads, and this would help close the funding gap between the two sets of
roads.
A 12-week consultation period is being held on the proposals for the MRN network between
23 December 2017 and 19 March 2018. This consultation outlines the Government’s
proposals and seeks views on its core principles, the definition of the network, investment
planning, and eligibility and investment assessment.

Page 143

Agenda Item 11
The consultation sets out that the MRN will:




Form a consistent, coherent network, alongside the SRN, to allow better coordination of
road investment.
Provide funding certainty to roads in the network through use of the National Roads
Fund (funded by Vehicle Excise Duty), and raise standards and performance across the
new network.
Provide clear roles for local and regional partners, who will support the Government to
develop and deliver MRN schemes.

The document also sets out a preference for Sub-National Transport Bodies (STBs) to be
formed. These will have an important role in the MRN investment planning, as the national
and regional role played by roads in the MRN means that individual Local Authorities should
not plan investments in isolation.
Defining the network
The Government is proposing to shape the MRN using both an objective analytical basis and
local knowledge and requirements. It is proposed that:







Current traffic data is used as the starting point to identify those roads that should be
considered for inclusion in the MRN: ‘A’ roads with greater than 20,000 vehicles per day
or roads with as few as 10,000 vehicles per day provided that at least 5% are heavy
goods vehicles.
To use qualitative criteria in order to create a coherent and consistent network.
To take into account evidence from local and regional partners concerning regional
variations.
To include, where appropriate, previously de-trunked roads.
To review the MRN every five years in line with the existing Road Investment Strategy
cycle.

The consultation document provides an indicative map of the MRN within Devon using the
proposed methodology, provided in Figure 1. This is a key element of the consultation as
discussed later.

Page 144

Agenda Item 11

Figure 1: Proposed Devon MRN

Investment Planning
The Government proposes roles for local, regional and national bodies to support the
long-term strategic thinking about the investment needs of the MRN. Ministers will be the
ultimate decision makers, but local and regional bodies will be expected to work together to
develop and prioritise packages of interventions for consideration. It is proposed that:
 Local authorities and Sub-National Transport Bodies (STBs), or regional groups will
develop Regional Evidence Bases that will include an assessment of the network and
identification of priority corridors.
 Regional Evidence Bases will inform the development of the MRN Investment
Programme.
 The Investment Programme will be reported on periodically, with both the Investment
Programme and Regional Evidence Bases updated every two years.
 There will be a role for Highways England to support local, regional and national bodies
involved in the MRN Programme.
Eligibility and Investment Assessment Criteria
The MRN funding should target significant interventions which offer transformative solutions
to the most economically important local authority ‘A’ roads, as well as providing value for
money for the taxpayer. These solutions will include, but are not limited to, bypasses, major
renewal work, major junction improvements, use of technology and the widening of existing
MRN roads. The consultation seeks views on the following proposals:



MRN schemes will only be considered if they seek funding in excess of £20 million, up to
a maximum ceiling of £100 million, and are supported by a local contribution.
The investment assessment criteria used to assess MRN schemes will be based on the
MRN objectives:
o Reduce congestion
o Support economic growth and regional rebalancing
o Support housing delivery

Page 145

Agenda Item 11
o
o
3.

Support all road users
Support the SRN.

Proposal

A proposed consultation response from Devon County Council is attached as Appendix I.
The main points are summarised in this report.
Defining the MRN
The proposals include both quantitative and qualitative criteria for identifying links that
should be included in the MRN. However, there remain some links that would benefit from
inclusion in the MRN which are currently omitted under the criteria:








The A386 (a vital north-south corridor connecting several market towns)
o Split into two sections; the A386 between Plymouth and Sourton Cross (this is
approaching the defined criteria in terms of flows and is supported by Plymouth
City Council) and the A386 between Sourton Cross and Bideford (this enables
rural connectivity between North Devon and Plymouth)
The A376 (an important commuter corridor along the Exe Estuary)
The A382 (enables significant housing and employment delivery)
Sherford Road between Elburton Road and Deep Lane junction (enables a continuous
MRN/SRN network given Plymouth City Council’s aspirations to promote the A379
between Laira Bridge and Haye Road for inclusion in the MRN)
The A39 between Minehead and Barnstaple (enables a continuous MRN/SRN network
given Somerset County Council’s aspirations to promote the A39 between Bridgwater
and Minehead
The A388 (enables a continuous MRN/SRN network given Cornwall Council’s
aspirations to promote the A388 between Saltash and Launceston)

The proposed amendments to the MRN network are shown in Figure 2 below.

Page 146

Agenda Item 11

Figure 2: Proposed amendments to MRN

Devon has a strong MRN and SRN network running parallel to the north and south coast.
However, this leaves a group of rural market towns, approaching 50,000 population, in the
centre of the county with no north-south link. Additional quantitative and qualitative criteria,
which provide more flexibility and proportionality, are needed to capture all the roads that are
locally significant in Devon and should be included in the MRN. It is proposed that there are
several important factors that should not be overlooked when defining the MRN, including:
 Rural connectivity.
 Linkages to areas of deprivation.
 Linkages to services and facilities.
 Lack of alternative transport corridors.

Page 147

Agenda Item 11
Investment Planning
There are roles proposed for local, regional and national bodies. These need to be defined
clearly to avoid confusion. Clearly, the MRN sits within all three levels of management, with
many of the roads crossing borders between authorities. By working together on investment
planning for the MRN in regions, areas can develop a long-term strategic approach to the
improvement and enhancement of the MRN. Having a “regional” MRN network will help
avoid the cliff edge between funding of the SRN roads and the stretched funding of the Local
Highway Authority road network. The difficulty will come in defining the region and regional
network. The involvement of six Local Authorities with slightly different priorities means
setting a long term, but flexible, programme which will involve a more complex approval
process. This will then be scrutinised by the Department for Transport and there will be
competition between the different regions for funding. Setting up a regional system is going
to require good, efficient, equitable governance and a slick system of appraisal and
long-term funding allocations which are transparent.
It is considered the most efficient way to manage this process will be through the formation
of a Sub-National Transport Body (STBs) for the South West Peninsula. Currently,
decision-making over strategic transport schemes is centralised at the national level.
However, the government recognises that greater local input is needed to drive
transformational growth and rebalance the economy. STBs are bodies designed to enable
regions to speak with one voice on strategic transport planning. STBs have been developed
across the country, such as Transport for the North and Midlands Connect, and the south
west risks losing out if they cannot keep pace with the rest of the country by forming a STB
to carry out the important strategic role needed for the MRN.
To maximise the role of local authorities in the MRN decision making process, local
authorities in South West England are currently engaged in discussions. Consideration has
been given to using the old South West Region as the STB. This would be a large
geographical group with different characteristics stretching from Gloucester (M5),
Bristol/Swindon (M4) and Bournemouth/Poole (A31/M27/M3). Current proposals suggest
two STB’s based on a north / south basis. Regardless of the outcome of this discussion the
South West region will retain a co-operative narrative focussing on shared strategic travel
corridors. The development of the STBs will enable flexibility in determining investment
priorities.
Discussion with the DfT suggest that the Government are looking for a bottom up approach
and do not want to impose groups. As a result, an opportunity to form a regional grouping
with more cohesion is being investigated. Initial discussions have focused around a South
West Peninsula and if this were the case the STB could include:







Cornwall
Plymouth
Torbay
Devon
Somerset
Dorset

This STB would have a population of around 3 million, which is the same as England’s
Economic Heartland STB. The area has similar characteristics made up of a large rural area
with a number of medium size towns and cities. There are no major urban conurbations of
around 0.5 million which would overwhelm and shift the centre of gravity of the decisionmaking process.

Page 148

Agenda Item 11
A combined response to the consultation will be submitted by the above authorities,
representing the joint commitment to working collaboratively with a view to forming a South
West Peninsula STB. With respect to Devon, this response will not include any significant
alteration to that described in this report or the attached paper (Appendix I), but instead
extends on information from the other authorities. This is currently in development.
Eligibility & Investment Assessment
The proposed funding thresholds are for schemes between £20million and £50million, with
some schemes with a strong case being eligible for up to £100million. However, it would be
preferable to lower the minimum cost threshold. An important element of the MRN will be
major structural renewals. However, within Devon, these will always fail to reach the
proposed minimum cost threshold unless included as part of a package of improvements. A
lower threshold of £10m would provide more scope for renewal, localised improvement and
match funded schemes to be included (the DfT are generally looking for 20% matched
funds).
4.

Financial Considerations

The current consultation does not involve any financial commitments. However, reference is
made to any bid requiring a local contribution. As already indicted the cost thresholds are
considerable and as a result, local contributions would be proportionally high. Therefore,
before any bid was made there would be a need to collect contributions from a number of
sources, these could include the Local Transport Plan maintenance and capital allocations,
developer contributions (either Community Infrastructure Levy or Section 106) and Local
Authority capital. Historically we have a good record of putting together funds to support
bids to the DfT and the plan would be to continue with this process whilst being cognisant of
the financial liabilities of the Council.
5.

Equality Considerations

An Impact Assessment has not been considered to be required at this stage.
6.

Legal Considerations

The lawful implications/consequences of the proposals/recommendations/proposed course
of action have been considered and taken into account in the preparation of this
report/formulation of the recommendations set out above.
Before an STB can be set up, the relevant authorities will need to put together a draft
proposal. The authorities will each need to agree to the draft proposal. The authorities must
consult on this draft proposal with various bodies, and allow sufficient time for those bodies
to respond. Once the consultation has been carried out, the proposal can be forwarded to
the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State must be satisfied that the proposal would
facilitate the development and implementation of transport strategies for the area, and that
those strategies would further economic growth in the area.
The members of the STB will be elected members (who will have voting powers) and
non-elected members (who will not have voting powers unless the appointed elected
members resolve that they should have voting powers).
The STB is formalised by the creation of a statutory instrument (“SI”) which sets out the
STB’s constitution and powers. The SI must be approved by the Houses of Parliament.
Once set up, the STB will be a legal entity that can bring legal proceedings, be the subject of
legal proceedings and enter into contracts.

Page 149

Agenda Item 11
The process for setting up an STB is relatively new. Based on the only STB with a statutory
instrument, Transport for the North, the entire process is likely to take several years.
It is possible for a collaborative approach to be taken by the local authorities without
establishing an STB. However, any such collaborative group would not be a legal entity and
therefore could not enter into legally binding contracts. Further, it would not be governed by
a constitution, and so discussions and decision making could be more protracted than within
an STB. A collaborative group may be an acceptable solution in the short term, pending
formation of an STB.
7.

Risk Management Considerations

This proposal has been assessed and all necessary safeguards or actions have been
taken/included to safeguard the Council's position.
No risks have been identified.
8.

Discussion

County council roads deserve to get more funding than is currently available to help raise
their standard and meet the currents needs of the network, such as investments in the
Strategic Road Network (SRN) have achieved in recent years. Those roads included in the
proposed MRN comprises links that are equally important to local economies as the SRN,
providing access to facilities and enabling new developments. Investment in a MRN would
allow a pipeline of improvements to be identified, including opportunities to enhance these
locally important links and overcoming some of the long term systematic maintenance
problems, rather than just short-term repairs.
Whilst the principle of an MRN is a positive proposal which will bridge the gap between the
SRN and local road network, some challenges remain. The governance of the investment at
a regional level will need defining, with the preferred option being the formation of a South
West Peninsula Sub-National Transport Body (STB). The details of this will need
consideration, including the relationship between the STB and the existing regional bodies,
such as the Local Transport Board (LTB) and Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).
The full consultation response makes a number of specific recommendations, and is
provided in the Appendix to this report.
9.

Options/Alternatives

No Consultation Response Provided
Devon County Council could opt to provide no consultation response. However, this would
be akin to accepting the MRN proposals as they currently stand. Whilst there are no
showstoppers identified, the consultation response ensures that Devon priorities are
represented.
Alternative Consultation Response Provided
The current consultation response provided in the Appendix is in draft form. Amendments
prior to submission could be made to reflect feedback from Cabinet should any issues be
highlighted.
No STB Formation
It is possible to represent the local MRN views without the formation of a regional STB. In
this case, Local Authorities and LEPs should, in consultation with the Department for

Page 150

Agenda Item 11
Transport, form agreed regional groups to manage this work, ideally using existing
mechanisms. The DfT have made clear they do not intend to deal with single LA’s.
However, the involvement of six Local Authorities with slightly different priorities means
setting a long term, but flexible, programme will involve a more complex approval process.
This will then be scrutinised by the DfT and there will be competition between the different
regions for funding. All this absorbs time and resources in an already stretched officer and
political process.
STBs are best placed to carry out the important strategic role for the MRN. They are
designed of a scale to enable regions to speak with one voice on strategic transport
planning. A Statutory Transport Strategy will be developed by the STB for which they are
responsible, and this will feed into the Regional Evidence Base required for the MRN
process. In practice this process is already being undertaken albeit in an ad-hoc way.
Bespoke single action groups have been formed to champion the development of the rail
network (Peninsula Rail Task Force) and the “A30/A303/A358 Steering Group”. Potentially a
STB would add more weight and more cohesion to this process and champion the transport
requirements of the SW Peninsula.
10.

Reason for Recommendation/Conclusion

The Government is committed to creating a Major Road Network across England. The
proposed consultation response represents Devon’s interests and priorities.
There are several roads which are currently omitted from the proposed MRN which should
be included in the MRN.
The South West remains one of the few regions not to have progressed in forming an STB.
To ensure it does not continue to miss out on vital funding opportunities, it is essential to
ensure this is formed as early as possible. The current favoured option is for a South West
Peninsula, including Devon County Council as well as the councils of Cornwall, Dorset,
Plymouth, Somerset and Torbay.
Dave Black
Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment
Electoral Divisions: All
Cabinet Member for Infrastructure, Development and Waste: Councillor Andrea Davis
Chief Officer for Communities, Public Health, Environment and Prosperity: Dr Virginia
Pearson
Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers
Contact for enquiries: Dave Black
Room No. Lucombe House
Tel No: 01392) 383000
Background Paper
1.

Date

File Reference

Nil

hc210218exa DfT Consultation on Proposals for the Creation of a Major Road Network DCC Response
hk
04
050318

Page 151

Agenda Item 11
Appendix I
To PTE/18/9
Department for Transport’s Proposals for the Creation of a Major Road Network
Devon County Council Draft Consultation Response
Core Principles
1. Do you agree with the proposed core principles for the MRN outlined in this
document?
Devon County Council agree with the proposed core principles of the major road network
(MRN). County council roads deserve to get more funding than is currently available to help
raise their standard and meet the current needs of the network, such as investments in the
strategic road network (SRN) have achieved in recent years. Those roads included in the
proposed MRN comprises links that are equally important to local economies as the SRN,
providing access to facilities and enabling new developments. Known housing allocations, as
detailed in existing local plans, should therefore be included. Investment in a MRN would
allow a pipeline of improvements to be identified, including opportunities to enhance these
locally important links and overcoming some of the long term systematic maintenance
problems, rather than just short-term repairs.
Defining the MRN
2. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the quantitative criteria outlined and their
proposed application?
There is a concern that the quantitative criteria have a natural bias against predominantly
rural regions, such as the South West Peninsula. This is evidenced by the limited network
which has been identified in Devon, with few roads meeting the defined criteria. This has
resulted in a number of locally important roads that we would wish to be included in the MRN
being omitted. Further consideration should be given to other criteria which encompasses the
needs of more rural regions, such as population along corridors rather than simply within
towns or traffic flow relative to the geometric condition of the road. The flow along some
corridors will be constrained by the existing conditions, such as width, and is therefore unable
to meet the defined criteria, despite a latent demand.
Despite appearing in the MRN investment objectives and criteria, road safety has not been
given a high enough priority throughout the proposals. This could be included in one of the
criteria, for instance, assessing KSI accidents.
Devon County Council agree that future flows should not be used due to the amount of
uncertainty and complex additional analysis these would introduce. Instead, the proposal to
regularly review the network will be more reliable.
However, the future use of the network is one that should remain an important factor. Instead
of using forecast future flows, growth areas could instead be considered as part of the
quantitative assessment. This would help to identify roads that would be in the future MRN
based on local growth to ensure that developments come forward, aligning with the objective
of supporting housing delivery. Including these roads in the current MRN would allow
improvements to be delivered, which in turn support the delivery of developments.
3. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the qualitative criteria outlined and their
application?
Devon County Council agrees with the inclusion of the proposed qualitative criteria. However,
there is a possibility that these do not cover all locally important links that should be included
in the MRN. There are further qualitative criteria that should be considered, such as providing
rural connectivity and improving access to areas of deprivation.

Page 152

Agenda Item 11
4. Have both quantitative and qualitative criteria proposed in the consultation document
identified all sections of road you feel should be included in the MRN?
No, there remain some sections of road that Devon County Council believe should be
included which are currently omitted:


The A386 is a vital north-south corridor, connecting a number of communities, with a
combined population of approximately 50,000, which have no alternative transport in
order to access the facilities and services provided by Plymouth. On the outskirts of
Plymouth in places the road carries approximately 16,000 AADT and 5% HGV. As
the road travels further north traffic flows drop off, particularly after the connection
with the A30 (SRN). High levels of deprivation exist along the corridor, and ensuring
connectivity to the SRN (A30, A39 and A38) as well as the city of Plymouth will be
vital for providing a boost to the local economies. There remains a large area of
Devon with no MRN connections nearby, and a north-south connection to a major
urban area is essential. For the purpose of this consultation, the road has been split
into two sections;
o Plymouth to Sourton Cross carries flows approaching the defined criteria
laid out in the consultation document. The inclusion of this section of road is
complementary to the aspirations of Plymouth City Council.
o Sourton Cross to Bideford enables rural connectivity between North Devon
and Plymouth.



The A376 is an important commuter corridor along the Exe Estuary between
Exmouth (the second biggest settlement in Devon with a population of 33,000) and
Exeter, carrying up to 24,000 vehicles per day. Devon County Council would want
this included, linking to the Exmouth Industrial Estates. Despite meeting the defined
quantitative criteria, this has not been included.



The A382 corridor (18,000 AADT, 3% HGV) would link the A380 MRN to the A38
SRN and enable significant housing and employment delivery in the Newton Abbot
growth area. 6,000 dwellings on this corridor are allocated in the Teignbridge Local
Plan. The road is not constructed to current standards and in its current form would
not support the growth proposed in the area. Improvements on this route are
considered a high priority. Inclusion of this route, between the A380 Penn Inn
roundabout and A38 Drumbridges roundabout, would provide an additional
connection from Torbay and Teignbridge to the SRN along an existing well-trafficked
route and enable high quality infrastructure provision in an area with significant
housing delivery planned for the near future. This route would satisfy a number of
investment criteria, such as:
o alleviating congestion,
o supporting economic growth through improved ability to access new and
existing employment sites,
o support housing delivery by improving access to future development sites
and boosting suitable land capacity,
o support all road users by delivering benefits for non-motorised users and
o support the SRN through improved end to end journey times across both
networks, improved journey time reliability and improved SRN resilience.



Sherford Road between Elburton Road and Deep Lane junction enables a
continuous MRN and SRN network given Plymouth City Council’s aspirations to
promote the A379 between Laira Bridge and Haye Road for inclusion in the MRN.
This would pass through Sherford Main Street, serving an area of significant growth.



The A39 between Minehead and Barnstaple enables a continuous MRN and SRN
network given Somerset County Council’s aspirations to promote the A39 between
Bridgwater and Minehead.

Page 153

Agenda Item 11


The A388 would enable a continuous MRN and SRN network given Cornwall
Council’s aspirations to promote the A388 between Saltash and Launceston

It seems that additional quantitative and qualitative criteria, which provide more flexibility and
proportionality, are needed to capture all the roads (including access to rural areas) that
Devon County Council feel are locally significant and should be included in the MRN.
For instance, Devon County Council would wish to see the A386 corridor, connecting
Plymouth and Bideford, included in the MRN. The corridor covers a large rural area which is
economically dependent on Plymouth. The rural settlements adjacent to the A386, including
Tavistock, Okehampton, Hatherleigh, Great Torrington and Bideford, have no alternative
transport options to access the facilities and services provided by Plymouth. As such, this is
a key corridor which needs to be maintained to at least the MRN standard.
Whilst this corridor does not meet the current criteria identified in the consultation document,
some flexibility in the criteria to ‘link economic centres’ would ensure that a combined
population of nearly 50,000 along the A386 corridor are able to access the city of Plymouth.
Indices of deprivation could be an additional factor considered as part of the MRN criteria.
Better transport connections, feeding into the MRN, could help the economic performance of
these areas and should therefore be considered for inclusion, where suitable road links exist
– such as the A386. This would help align the MRN investments with the Rebalancing Toolkit,
published by the Department for Transport in December 2017.
5. Have the quantitative or qualitative criteria proposed in the consultation identified
sections of road you feel should not be included in the MRN?
No
6. Do you agree with the proposal for how the MRN should be reviewed in future years?
Yes, Devon County Council supports the proposal for reviews every 5 years.
Investment Planning
7. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the roles outlined for local, regional and
national bodies?
Local: clearly in the case of Devon, where there are 13,000km of local roads, there is a need
to have a Local Highway Authority maintaining these roads in a hierarchical manner. The
problem is scale. Although it is possible to fund the more important roads to a higher
standard, the level of complaints from the public on the smaller roads is substantial.
Consequently, the funding has to be spread thinly. The advantage is the allocation of funds
to individual projects is quick and easy. There is a high level of certainty and a strong
ongoing pipeline of work which minimises resources in analysis and evaluation. The
evaluation is the democratic election process.
Regional: having a regional MRN network avoids the cliff edge between funding of the SRN
roads and the stretched funding of the Local Highway Authority road network. The difficulties
come in defining the region and then defining the regional network. The involvement of a
number of Local Authorities with slightly different priorities means setting a long term, but
flexible, programme will involve a more complex approval process. This will then be
scrutinised by the DfT and there will be competition between the different regions for funding.
All this absorbs time and resources and increases waste and inefficiency. Setting up a
regional system is going to require good, efficient, equitable governance and a slick system of
appraisal and long-term funding allocations which are transparent
National: recognise the need for national bodies to maintain and develop the SRN. These
roads are funded to a much higher level of maintenance. This in turn provides extra capacity
and safer roads. One problem is the roads at the bottom of the national hierarchy suffer from

Page 154

Agenda Item 11
lack of funding. This is the case for the SRN roads in the South West Peninsula. The A30
between Honiton and Southfields is of a poorer standard than some of the county roads being
5.5 metres wide in place, have regular congestion and a high accident rate.
8. What additional responsibilities, if any, should be included? Please state at which level
these roles should be allocated.
There will be some confusion from the public on the role of the different regional
responsibilities. LEP areas are large and have many roles related to “Enterprise”. They also
have a role related to transport. If Sub-National Transport Bodies (STBs) are to be set up
they need to take over the LEP’s role in transport otherwise it will be too confusing and there
will be various regional bodies coming to different decisions with different funding streams.
9. Do you agree with our proposals to agree regional groupings to support the
investment planning of the MRN in areas where no sub-national transport bodies
(STBs) exist?
Devon County Council agrees with this proposal and is investigating opportunities for regional
groupings in the South West Peninsula.
To maximise the role of local authorities in the MRN decision making process, local
authorities in South West England are currently engaged in discussions to determine options
for forming at least two STBs for the region. Current proposals have this split on a
north/south basis. Regardless of the outcome of this discussion the South West region will
retain a co-operative narrative focussing on shared strategic travel corridors. The
development of the STB will enable flexibility in determining investment priorities.
This has progressed to a level for the South West Peninsula grouping where there is tentative
political agreement and officers have had an initial meeting.
The STB could include:
Cornwall
Plymouth
Torbay
Devon
Somerset
Dorset
This STB would have a population of around 3 million which is the same as England’s
Economic Heartland. The area has similar characteristics made up of a large rural area with
a number of medium size towns and cities. There are no major urban conurbations which
would overwhelm and shift the centre of gravity of the decision-making process.
10. Are there any other factors, or evidence, that should be included within the scope of
the Regional Evidence Bases?
The regional evidence base should be a relatively easy database to develop as much of the
data is readily available in terms of traffic flow (by time of day and season), vehicle type,
safety characteristics and proposed development. There may also be a need to incorporate
physical characteristics such as geometry, road condition and structural issues. This could be
more complicated, although most areas have their own highway maintenance inventories. To
do this, the inventory would have to be segmented and linked to existing systems - which
could present organisational difficulties.
The timescales involved in bringing schemes to Outline Business Case stage are lengthy.
Devon County Council therefore agree with the statement that it would not be a good use of
money to develop OBCs for all schemes that might be submitted for consideration. Instead, it
should be noted that the proformas used for Highways England’s Pinchpoint Fund and
National Productivity Investment Fund have worked well.

Page 155

Agenda Item 11
11. Do you agree with the role that has been outlined for Highways England?
Devon County Council agrees that there may be a role for Highways England in some areas,
particularly when proposals impact on the SRN, which provide opportunities for collaborative
working. However, where there is no impact on the SRN, the involvement from Highways
England should be limited as their processes can be overly complex for the type of scheme
that may be more proportional and appropriate. Also, it is recognised that HE uses large
international consultants and contractors. This again may not be appropriate for smaller
schemes with local contractors. Developing local skills and resources would assist the local
economy and create more resilience in the industry.
Eligibility & Investment Assessment
12. Do you agree with the cost thresholds outlined?
It would be preferable to consider whether the minimum cost threshold (£20m) could be
lowered. An important element of the MRN will be major structural renewals. However, major
structural renewals on the Devon network would always fail to reach the proposed minimum
cost threshold, unless included as part of a package of improvements. A lower threshold of
£10m would provide more scope for renewal, localised improvement (e.g. junction capacity
improvements) and match funded schemes to be included. It is assumed that LTP can be
used as a local contribution for match funded schemes.
13. Do you agree with the eligibility criteria outlined?
Yes. However, Devon County Council would prefer to see the section on public transport
currently in the exclusion section to be reworded and moved to the eligibility section. This
would provide better clarity and a more positive message on the eligibility of public transport
schemes.
It is also proposed that the first point, which states that schemes on roads not on the MRN but
are simply connected to it would not be eligible for funding, also includes an additional
exception, in the instance that the road would feature on the future MRN and supports
housing delivery.
14. Do you agree with the investment assessment criteria outlined?
Yes. However, the elements that form the criteria do not seem to be emphasised enough
within the main body of the consultation document. These should be present and apparent
within the other proposals, such as the eligibility criteria and quantitative/qualitative
identification of the MRN extent.
Despite the presence of ‘rebalancing’ in the MRN investment assessment criteria and
objectives, this does not seem to be apparent in the assessment criteria, with inflexible criteria
favouring networks linking urban centres and omitting locally important routes within rural
areas. As explained in the consultation document, the ‘Transport Investment Strategy set out
objectives and priorities for ensuring that regional rebalancing is taken into account as part of
transport investment decisions. This included making sure investments reflect the needs and
priorities of different areas’. However, under the current criteria, the South West Peninsula is
set to lose out, with large areas not covered by the SRN or MRN and locally important roads
omitted from the network. SRN investments through RIS1 and RIS2 funding do not have any
investments in Devon, and without the inclusion of the roads highlighted, a further network of
crucial roads in the region will not be able to have much needed improvements invested in.
Given the lack of RIS investments in the South West Peninsula, this would not be in
accordance with the Rebalancing Toolkit aspirations.
15. In addition to the eligibility and investment assessment criteria described what, if any,
additional criteria should be included in the proposal? Please be as detailed as
possible.

Page 156

Agenda Item 11
Maintaining road safety and air quality standards across our local road network is a key
element of Devon County Council’s highway authority responsibilities. As such, the
importance of these should be reflected in the Major Road Network eligibility and investment
assessment criteria. However, these are currently only mentioned briefly despite both
appearing in the Investment Assessment criteria.
In addition to this, it is felt that the need to support all road users should be more emphasised
throughout the document.
Other Considerations
16. Is there anything further you would like added to the MRN proposals?
Devon County Council believe that there are several important factors that should not be
overlooked when defining the Major Road Network. These include:





Rural connectivity
Linkages to areas of deprivation
Linkages to services and facilities
Lack of alternative transport corridors

It is the roads that satisfy the criteria above that form the locally important network which is
not currently represented in the proposals for the MRN. Currently, Devon has a strong MRN
and SRN network running parallel to the north and south coast. However, this leaves a group
of rural market towns, approaching 50,000 population, in the centre of the county with no
north-south link. It would be desirable to see this remedied. The A386 corridor provides the
opportunity to do so whilst also meeting the criteria above.

Page 157

Agenda Item 12
ACH/18/81
Cabinet
14 March 2018

HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION IN DEVON
Report of the Chief Executive
Recommendation
1. To note the key features of an emerging Devon Integrated Care System being
a single Integrated Strategic Commissioner, a number of Local Care
Partnerships, a Mental Health Care Partnership and shared NHS corporate
services.
2. To consider the proposed arrangements in Devon as set out in para 3 and to
report to the Appointments and Remuneration Committee as necessary.
3. To approve the co-location of NHS and DCC staff within the Integrated
Strategic Commissioner, subject to agreement of the business case.
4. To invite Health and Care Scrutiny to include Integrated Care System
governance in its work programme.
1. National Context
1.1.

There has long been a national policy driver towards the integration of health
and social care with successive governments using the term without
prescribing a solution or answer. The key national initiatives since 1999 and
legislative requirements are laid out below. Rather than requiring a top down
structural change, there have been a range of national policy directives and
inducements to achieve integration including:





Requiring local authorities and NHS partners to work together in
Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships
Encouraging joint governance through structures such as Health and
Wellbeing Boards
Introducing pooled budgets that requires joint decision making such as
the Better Care Fund
Developing a Five Year Forward View for the NHS encouraging New
Models of Care and a pioneer programme to test their effectiveness

Page 159

Agenda Item 12

Key:
Green - Initiatives
Purple - Legislation

Current government policy is to encourage local health and care systems to focus
services on the individual without the need for top-down structural change imposed
from the centre.
1.2.

In 2016 the Local Government Association, the Association of Directors of
Adult Social Services, the NHS Confederation of Providers and NHS Clinical
Commissioners published a vision for the integration of adult social care
(Stepping Up to the Place) and made a shared commitment, focussing on:
 Local systems to embed integration as ‘business as usual’
 A collective approach to achieving integration by 2020
 Consensus and action on the barriers to making integration happen
 Dialogue with national policy makers on ensuring integration is
effective
 Ongoing testing and evaluation to develop the evidence base

2. Local Devon Context
2.1.

Within this national context, Devon has been developing its integrated
working and there is much in place already.
The further development of proposals for an Integrated Care System in
Devon is the latest phase in an ongoing journey towards a fully integrated
health and care system across wider Devon and the timeline below indicates
development since 2005:

Page 160

Agenda Item 12
In the Devon County Council area, we:
 Entered into a Section 75 agreement for the provision of services to
working age adults with mental health needs in 2004 with Devon
Partnership Trust. Note: A Section 75 partnership agreement details
arrangements between local authorities and the NHS for pooling
resources and delegating certain NHS and local authority functions to
other partners.
 Agreed co-location and co-management of community health and
social care services in 2007
 Established joint commissioning management posts and functions
from 2008
 Began the joint commissioning of services from 2010, with a range of
shared contractual frameworks e.g. services to carers, personal care
services
 Have furthered this approach by agreeing lead responsibilities on
common functions e.g. market management
 Introduced the joint governance of pooled budgets, including of the
Better Care Fund from 2015
2.2.

We are now working together around a common set of objectives and
outcomes:

Enabling more
people to be and
stay healthy

Enhancing selfcare and
community
resilience

Integrating and
improving out of
hospital care

Outcomes for People









Delivering
modern, safe
and sustainable
services

More people living independently in resilient communities.
More people choosing to live healthy lifestyles and fewer
people become unwell.
People have the knowledge, skills and confidence to better
manage their health conditions.
The health and care systems is equipped to intervene early
and rapidly to avert deterioration and escalation of problems.
More care is available in the community and fewer people
need to visit or be admitted to hospital.
People have greater control over health services and will be
equal partners in decisions about their care.
People who need treatment will be treated effectively and
quickly in the most appropriate care setting.
People go into hospital when necessary and will be discharged
efficiently and safely with the right support in their
community.

Since December 2016, partners in the health and care system (via the
sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP)) across Devon have
been working with a shared purpose to create a sustainable health and care
system that will improve the health, wellbeing and care of the population.
This report aims to set out the way forward to bring about further health and
care integration in Devon. It is to be noted that there is no proposed changes
to the formal governance of health and Care in Devon as proposed.

Page 161

Agenda Item 12
2.3

To support the most effective delivery of health and care and achieve the
outcomes of improving quality, lowering costs and enriching user experience
through stronger care integration, partners in Devon are planning to further
develop partnership working across health and care through the
establishment of an Integrated Care System (ICS). An ICS are those in which
commissioners and NHS providers, working closely with GP networks, local
authorities and other partners, agree to take shared responsibility (in ways
that are consistent with their individual legal obligations) for how they operate
their collective resources for the benefit of local populations (NHS 2018/19
Planning Guidance Para 5.2). This goes alongside the statutory duty of the
local authority to co-operate with NHS partners and collaboration and
partnership are key features and components of an ICS approach
The NHS planning guidance 2018/19 is also clear that public engagement is
essential and as systems make shifts towards more integrated care, we
expect them to involve and engage with patients and the public, their
democratic representatives and other community partners (Para 5.10).

2.4

The ICS is not an Accountable Care Organisation (ACO) which has been
subject to national consideration and debate including judicial challenge over
any future contractual arrangement. The ICS is not about changing
organisational accountability or privatisation of NHS or council services and
the local authority will remain responsible for all its existing statutory
obligations. NHS statutory obligations also remain unchanged.
The approach has potential to:


Greatly enhance how health and social care services are
commissioned and delivered to those living in our communities.



Result in services that are far more joined up, less confusing and
better coordinated especially for primary, secondary and social care.



Oversee – but not control the use of the annual healthcare budget
(£1.5 billion) and social care budget (£227 million) across Devon.



It will also reduce the administration involved in managing these
services.

The development of an Integrated Care System in Devon mirrors the
approach being taken nationally.





Creating more robust cross-organisational arrangements to tackle the
systemic challenges facing the NHS and social care;
Supporting population health approaches that facilitate the integration
of services focused on populations that are at risk of developing acute
illness and hospitalisation;
delivering more care through re-designed community-based and
home-based services, including in partnership with social care, the
voluntary and community sector; and
allowing systems to take collective responsibility for financial and
operational performance and health outcomes.

Page 162

Agenda Item 12
3
3.1

Integrating the Health and Care system in Devon
ICSs bring together aspects of health and social care, enabling organisations
to share services, budgets, staff and resources where appropriate to best
meet the needs of the populations they serve.
In each ICS, the commissioners and providers of acute hospital and
community services, primary care, mental health and social care will work
increasingly in partnership to plan, finance and run services.
Staff are currently working across organisations, on behalf of the people they
jointly serve, to plan for these changes.
The NHS Constitution and Local Authority Constitution will remain at the heart
at everything we do, meaning anyone can receive high-quality NHS care, free
at the point of access, whenever they need it. People will still see a GP when
they need it and there will still be hospital care. Social care will continue to
operate as it does now but integration will mean services are increasingly
organised around the needs of individuals and not organisational boundaries.
Working in partnership across a wide range of services, people will be helped
to stay healthy, receive more support and treatment at home rather than
having to go into hospital and see their GP more quickly.
If people do need to be admitted to hospital, they will be supported to get
home more quickly with the support they need.
An ICS is not the creation of a new organisation, but rather a new way of
partnership working. This is known as integrated care and will mean health
and care organisations working more closely together than ever before to the
benefit of our population.
With NHS and Local Authorities now working more closely together than ever,
we should give our doctors, nurses and social care staff the best chance of
success.

3.2

In Devon we have agreed the following:
(i)

A single integrated strategic commissioner

Devon’s ambition is to have a single strategic commissioner for health and
social care, primary care and specialised commissioning and the three
health commissioners (two CCGs and NHSE) and three local authorities
(Devon County Council, Plymouth City Council and Torbay Council) are
developing plans for this.
The first step of this will see the county’s two Clinical Commissioning
Groups – NEW Devon CCG, and South Devon and Torbay CCG –
working together to:




Manage the overall annual NHS budget of £1.5 billion.
Set strategic direction for the healthcare services
Co-commission services

Page 163

Agenda Item 12



(ii)

Develop plans for the future – including possible moves to take on
more specialised commissioning services and primary care
services from NHS England.
Work more jointly with Local Authority Partners – where this is in
the best interests of population health and well-being.
A number of local care partnerships and integrated mental
health

Local care partnerships will look at how budgets, services and resources
are planned and used for specific local populations across Devon.
Mental health services will be placed on an equal footing as physical
health and ensure that specialist mental health services become more
integrated within primary and secondary care. To support this,
commissioners and providers for mental health will be working in a more
joined up way with each other and with the place based local care
partnerships.
(iii)

Shared corporate services across Devon for the NHS

This will see key corporate services (such as IT, finance and HR) in all
NHS organisations moved into a shared service across Devon so that
there is greater cooperation, less duplication and greater efficiencies.
4. Proposed Arrangements in Devon
4.1.

To support the development of integrated strategic commissioning, local
authorities and NHS in Devon have been exploring how plans and resources
can start to align better. This will allow joint influence and more effective
deployment of skills and resources.
It is expected that each area evolves its plans into one of an ICS or Integrated
Health and Care system as described. Locally the ambition is that we
commence this enhanced model of partnership working from April 2018
where possible.
This mirrors national direction which sees integration of the role of the
Secretary of State for health and social care. Recent national planning
guidance for 2018/19 provides clear direction on this.
NEW Devon CCG and South Devon and Torbay CCG have been aligning
their resources and executive teams to ensure that local health
commissioning is more streamlined and in a good position to become more
integrated with both local authorities and health commissioning currently
being undertaken at regional level (primary care and specialised
commissioning by NHSE). Consultation on a single CCG executive structure
is currently underway and due to be concluded at the end of February 2018
with implementation as soon as possible thereafter.

4.2.

To support the development of integrated commissioning at strategic
commissioner level, it is proposed that there is a senior leadership team
which includes joint appointments between local authorities and the NHS. In
particular for Devon County Council:

Page 164

Agenda Item 12
Three positions jointly funded by DCC and CCGs at Executive Team Level.
The current posts impacted by this are:
(1) Head of Adult Commissioning and Health
- Currently DCC funded
(2) Joint Strategy Director
- Currently NHS funded
(3) Joint Commissioning (South Devon)
- Currently joint funded by NHS and DCC
This will be cost neutral and detailed arrangements for the new joint
posts are still subject to consultations within the CCG and DCC.
4.3.

There is also an ambition for co-location of teams, based in the Exeter area.
Options for this are currently being explored with a view to making a decision
about location in the spring of 2018. This is very timely as the current lease
arrangements with NEW Devon CCG at County Hall end in August of this
year.

4.4.

Additionally, joint arrangements with Plymouth City Council and Torbay
Council at strategic commissioning level are also being explored, and
interfaces at Local Care Partnerships level will need to be agreed.
Through the joint arrangements it brings greater involvement of the council in
the broader decisions for health and wellbeing of our population, and
confirming these arrangements will allow us to work more effectively together.

5. Governance
5.1.

As outlined, there is no change to legislation, statute or constitutions. The role
of the Health and Wellbeing Boards will remain and options on governance of
these new integrated arrangements will need to be explored. Similarly, the
role of scrutiny committees will remain a key function so it is important that
Scrutiny members are involved in the planning for these integrated
arrangements. It is recommended that Cabinet invites Health and Care
Scrutiny to consider this issue to inform future decision making. For the
avoidance of doubt there will be no change to existing arrangements of
governance or accountability from 1 April 2018.

6. Conclusions
6.1.

Devon is already well placed to deliver on national policy around integration.
Changes will be incremental and constructing a broad consensus will be an
essential part in the success of any ICS.

Phil Norrey
Chief Executive

Page 165

Agenda Item 12
Electoral Divisions: All
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Health Services
Councillor Andrew Leadbetter
Chief Officer for Adult Care and Health: Jennie Stephens
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972: LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
Contact for Enquiries:
Tel No: 01392 383000
BACKGROUND PAPER

Tim Golby
Room: A109
DATE

Nil

Page 166

FILE REFERENCE

Agenda Item 13
CSO/18/11
Cabinet
14 March 2018
NOTICES OF MOTION
Report of the County Solicitor
Recommendation: that consideration be given to any recommendations to be made to the County
Council in respect of the Notices of Motion set out hereunder having regard to the relevant factual
briefing/background papers and any other representations made to the Cabinet.
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
The Notices of Motion submitted to the County Council by the Councillors shown below have been
referred to the Cabinet in accordance with Standing Order 8(2) - for consideration, reference to another
committee or to make a recommendation back to the Council.
A factual ‘Briefing Note/Position Statement’ prepared by the relevant Head of Service is also included
where appropriate or available, to facilitate the Cabinet’s discussion of each Notice of Motion.

(a) Accountable Care Systems (Councillor Shaw)
This Council is concerned by the decision of the Devon Clinical Commissioning Groups to
introduce an Accountable Care System for Devon’s NHS and adult social care services from 1st
April 2018, without the full agreement of this Council.
In view of the widespread public concern over Accountable Care Systems and Accountable
Care Organisations, and the decision of NHS England to hold a 12-week consultation on ACOs,
this Council calls on the Devon CCGs to put the introduction of the ACS on hold until local
people have been fully consulted on the plans’.

Briefing Note/Position Statement from the Head of Adult Commissioning and
Health
A factual briefing was distributed electronically to all members on 9 February 2018 on this
matter, the key points of which are highlighted below.
Accountable Care Systems are now more commonly known nationally as Integrated Care
Systems and this is the term the Council is using). At its simplest, an Integrated Care System is
way of working, collaboratively, between a range of health and social care organisations, to help
improve people’s health, therefore organisations work together in a shared way; sharing
budgets, staff, resources where appropriate, to best meet people’s needs.
It is not the creation of a new organisation, or some other body seen as being undemocratic, or
‘privatisation by the back door’.
It’s important to draw that distinction, because there has been criticism at a national level that
creating new commissioning organisations can lead to a place where people’s care needs come
second to the needs of those undemocratic organisations and Devon has no intention of going
along such a route.
By working collaboratively with a range of organisations, Integrated Care Systems (ICS) aim to
help people stay healthy, tackling the causes of illness and wider factors that affect health such
as education and housing. Commissioners and providers of acute hospital and community
services, primary care, mental health and social care work increasingly in partnership to plan,
finance and run services.

Page 167

Agenda Item 13
From the patient or service users’ point of view, it will be a joined-up health and social care
service that works for them. Their care, however simple or complex it is, is planned. And the
Council, the CCGs, the hospitals, the GPs, are all working together to that same plan.
Whilst there is a statutory obligation for health and social care organisations to work together, it
makes sense to do so.
This is not a new concept. Integration of care is something that Devon has been providing for
some years, with front line health and social care staff working together in the same teams. So,
an Integrated Care System builds on the solid progress already established.
The NHS Constitution and Local Authority Constitution remain at the heart of everything done,
meaning anyone can receive high-quality NHS care, free at the point of access, whenever they
need it. People will still see a GP when they need it and there will still be hospital care. Social
care will continue to operate as it does now but integration will mean services are increasingly
organised around the needs of individuals, not organisational boundaries.
Working in partnership across a wide range of services, people will be helped to stay healthy,
receive more support and treatment at home rather than having to go into hospital if it’s not
necessary, and see their GP more quickly.
If people do need to be admitted to hospital, they will be supported to get home quickly with the
support they need.
With NHS and Local Authorities now working more closely together than ever, this should give
our doctors, nurses and social care staff the best chance of success by enhancing our
partnership working.

(b) Sunset for the Royal Marines and Future Resilience (Councillor Greenslade)
The County Council expresses concern at the conclusions of the Defence Select Committee
report “Sunset for the Royal Marines” regarding the future strength of the Royal Marines and the
implications for the economy of the county and the viability of Royal Marine bases in Devon
such as those in Plymouth and at RMB Chivenor.
Devon County Council resolves to play an active part in lobbying to retain Royal Marine bases in
our County’.

Briefing Note/Position Statement from the Head of Economy and Skills
Background
(1) Devon County is home to three Royal Marine bases: Royal Marines (RM) Chivenor in North
Devon, which is home to 1,200 personnel; Commando Training Centre Royal Marines
Lympstone in East Devon, which trains around 1,400 recruits a year; and Bickleigh
Barracks, just north of Plymouth, which hosts 42 Commando.
(2) The Royal Marines also have a number of key bases in the City of Plymouth, including RM
Tamar, RM Stonehouse, the Royal Citadel and at Devonport.
(3) These bases make a significant contribution to the economies and communities in which
they are sited. The wages of military personnel tend to be above the local average, and the
direct contribution of the service personnel and their families is multiplied by the local supply
chains that each base supports.

Page 168

Agenda Item 13
A Better Defence Estate
(4) On 7 November 2016 the Ministry of Defence (MoD) published A Better Defence Estate
which outlined its plans to make more efficient use of the Defence Estate. This included the
announcement that the MoD intends to close RM Chivenor by 2027 and to consolidate the
units currently based at Chivenor (24 Engineer Regiment and the Royal Engineers &
Commando Logistics Regiment) in the Plymouth/Torpoint area. It was also announced that
the Royal Citadel and RM Stonehouse in Plymouth and RM Norton Manor Camp in
Somerset would also be closed, with a similar consolidation of capabilities in the
Plymouth/Torpoint areas.
(5) Subsequent to that announcement, Sir Michael Fallon visited Chivenor on 17 March 2017 at
the invitation of Peter Heaton-Jones MP. At the end of his visit, Sir Michael was quoted as
saying that “there is no final decision. The overall intent is to close some of the smaller
Royal Marine bases and cluster all the Royal Marine units together in the Plymouth
Devonport area. That’s the overall intent. We now have to work through the detail and see
exactly what it would cost to move the particular units, so that’s work that will now go on for
the next year and a bit. We’ll know in a year or two what the final decision will be.” 1
(6) Since then, the MoD has said very little. That is despite Peter Heaton-Jones MP asking
questions in Parliament seeking an update to the situation, including most recently in
November 2017. On 15 January 2018, however, Minister of State Mark Lancaster stated to
Parliament that “I can confirm that it remains the intention to dispose of the Royal Citadel
and Stonehouse in 2024 and Chivenor in 2027, and to provide units for the Royal Marines in
either Plymouth or Torpoint. I cannot confirm exactly what form that will take at this stage,
as further work is required, but I will update the House in due course.”
Defence Select Committee Report
(7) On 1 February 2018 the Defence Select Committee published a report entitled “Sunset for
the Royal Marines? The Royal Marines and UK amphibious capability”.2 The report
explained that “following the Government’s announcement of the National Security
Capability Review (NSCR), unofficial reports have emerged suggesting that major
reconfigurations to the United Kingdom’s amphibious units are being considered, with
specific threats to the strength of the Royal Marines and to the Royal Navy’s Albion class
amphibious ships. The review process has been almost entirely closed and Parliament has
not been involved in the discussion of what would represent a drastic reduction in defence
capability.”
(8) The report made a number of recommendations, including for the MoD to be more
transparent about what it is planning and cautioned strongly against any reduction in the
capability of the Royal Marines.
(9) On the question of base closures the Committee said that it “welcome[s] the decision to
consolidate HQs of a number of units in 3 Commando Brigade to a new location in the
Plymouth/Torpoint area. This is in keeping with the Department’s overall objectives to make
better use of the Defence Estate and reduce its cost, and will have the benefits of
consolidating units within the Brigade. But the Department should communicate clearly and
often with the personnel affected and their families as the reforms to the Defence Estate
proceed, and we would urge that the work in relation to Plymouth/Torpoint site is completed
and its outcome communicated as soon as is possible.”
Future of the RM Chivenor site
(10) The economic contribution of the Chivenor base has not been formally evaluated since the
1990s, when activities and staffing levels at the base have changed significantly. However,
any closure of RM Chivenor or any significant reduction in activity at the base would
undoubtedly have a negative impact on the local economy in the short to medium term as
1
2

North Devon Gazette, 17 March 2017
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmdfence/622/62202.htm

Page 169

Agenda Item 13
jobs are lost at the base and in the supply chain. There would also be consequences for
local public services, particularly schools in the Chivenor area. The Marines’ integration into
the local community also means that there will be some significant social implications.
Marines provide examples of role models for young people and in an area where levels of
aspiration are low.
(11) In the longer term, the site could have significant potential for economic development: it is
over 250 Ha and located on a level and accessible spot adjoining the attractive North Devon
coast in an area that suffers from a lack of housing supply and employment opportunities.
(12) However, the precise potential for the site is unclear. Successfully regenerating such a site
and mitigating the negative economic impacts from closure would require significant
advanced planning and investment.
External funding to support the development of options for the future of the site
(13) In late 2017, the Devon & Torbay One Public Estate partnership, which includes both
Devon County Council and North Devon Council, was awarded £50,000 by the Cabinet
Office to support a “visioning exercise” that would explore possible future economic uses of
the Chivenor site in the event that the MoD withdraws from the base. Similar visioning
exercises have been undertaken elsewhere in the UK when the closure of a major military
base has been anticipated (e.g. RAF Mildenhall in Suffolk; army bases in Wiltshire) and
have helped to plan a sustainable economic future for the communities affected by the
closure.
(14)The Cabinet Office has made a similar award to Somerset County Council to support similar
visioning work around RM Norton Manor Camp, while the Heart of the South West LEP has
also pledged £40,000 to support an analysis of the economic potential/opportunities around
Chivenor, Norton Manor Camp, and the reconfiguration of units in the Plymouth area. We
have therefore been exploring the scope for commissioning a study jointly with North Devon
Council, Somerset County Council, Taunton Deane Borough Council and Plymouth City
Council.
(15)However, no work has yet been initiated. We had been told to expect an update on the
Ministry of Defence’s broader estates strategy before Christmas and were awaiting details
of that. No update has been forthcoming, however, other than what was said by the Minister
of State in Parliament on 15 January 2018 (see above). If this work is to be progressed then
the input and co-operation with the Ministry of Defence will be crucial.
(16)As stated above, it would be preferable if any representation to the Ministry of Defence from
Devon County Council could be made jointly with North Devon Council. We have discussed
this with officers at North Devon Council, who are supportive of this approach. We
understand that North Devon Council is preparing to take a paper on this issue to its
Executive in early April.
~~~~~~~~~~~~~
This Report has no specific equality, environmental, legal or public health implications that will not be
assessed and appropriate safeguards and/or actions taken or included within the detailed policies or
practices or requirements in relation to the matters referred to herein.
JAN SHADBOLT

[Electoral Divisions: All]

Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries: K Strahan
Tel No: 01392 382264
Room: G31
Background Paper
Date
File Reference
Nil

Page 170

Agenda Item 15
CABINET

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education: 6/02/18

STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION
6 February 2018
Present:Group A: Christian and Other Religion and Belief Communities (with the exception of the
Church of England)
M Miller, F Abdo, K Denby, R Nathwani, J Taylorson and G Winnall
Group B: The Church of England
T Wilson
Group C: Teachers’ Associations
J Gooddy (Vice-Chair), P Hammett, W Harrison, L Clay, R Flanagan (for K Walshe) and S
Shute
Group D: The County Council
E Brennan and C Channon
Co-opted Members
R Khreisheh, J Roberts, S Spence and B Twiggs
Advisor
E Pawson
Apologies
H Hastie, M Hext, B Lane, N Nation, C Hulbert, M Dearden, P Cornish, E Mihas, K Walshe,
G Teece, I Chubb, P Colthorpe and G Hook
(J Gooddy in the Chair)

29

Minutes
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2017 be signed as a
correct record.

30

Items Requiring Urgent Attention
There was no matter raised as a matter of urgency.

31

Devon SACRE Membership
Mr Pawson reported the appointment to the Council of Fuad Abdo as the Muslim
representative and welcomed him to his first meeting. Fuad had recently been appointed to
the post of Exeter Mosque Centre Manager.

32

Holocaust Memorial Day (HMD) - January 2018
Mr Pawson reported on the very successful Holocaust Memorial Day, themed ‘The Power of
Words’. The whole event had been hugely inspiring and it had been particularly impressive
to see so many school age children involved. Letters of thanks had been received from the
Lord Mayor of Exeter and Dr Phil Norrey, Chief Executive of Devon County Council.
The Committee wished to express their gratitude to Mr Pawson and the HMD Task Group for
their hard work and commitment in the preparation and organisation, and to Mr Street from
Exeter City Council for his co-ordination of the Cathedral event.

Page 171

Agenda Item 15

CABINET
Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education: 6/02/18

Mr Roberts reported that the Dean of Exeter, the Very Reverend Jonathan Greener, had
expressed a wish to become involved in next year’s event.
Photographs for the ‘Inherit the Truth’ event at the Cathedral could be seen at:
https://500px.com/photo/244725967/inherit-the-truth-2018-by-ideasofinterest

33

Learn/Teach/Lead Religious Education (LTLRE): hub groups update and
request for Devon SACRE to make further contributions to fund hubs for
Devon schools
Mrs Wilson reported that, in Devon, LTLRE had started around five years ago and was a
learning partnership project for RE with a focus on creating a community of enquiry and
professional development across the peninsula and was available to state funded primary,
secondary, special and private schools. Devon had five LTLRE hubs, namely North, South
East, West and Exeter. An Annual Conference was held in the Autumn of each year and Mr
Denby advised that LTLRE was seen as exemplar and highly praised by author Alan Brine.
Indeed, LTLRE had become a national voice having been invited to sit on national panels.
Mrs Wilson further explained that LTLRE was now requesting further funding from Devon
SACRE to sponsor two hubs at a cost of £900, to cover supply and Hub meeting expenses,
which would increase SACRE support from £500 to £1800 a year. Cornwall, Plymouth and
Torbay had each secured funding.
It was MOVED by Mrs Khreisheh, SECONDED by Mr Nathwani and
RESOLVED that sponsorship of two hubs at a total cost of £1800 a year be agreed in
principle, subject to detailed accounts being made available and considered at the next
meeting.

34

Interfaith Focus: Interfaith Conference 2018: Dying well: Shared perspectives
on death and dying from faith and belief communities
Mr Roberts reported on planning for the 2018 Conference and the following was noted:






35

that The Revd Canon Dr John Searle OBE could be a useful contact;
reference to the Royal College of Psychiatry’s interest group on Interfaith;
the Conference would have a secondary educational focus as well as a community
focus;
there would be a workshop on 10 November; and
working with Exeter Hospice

Reviewing SACRE documentation: RE Agreed Syllabus
Mr Pawson suggested that a task group be set up at the next meeting to work on the Agreed
Syllabus Conference. Collaborative working with Torbay and Plymouth was ongoing but
needed to be widened. National discussions were also taking place.
RESOLVED that contact be made with Cornwall and Somerset SACREs to ascertain their
interest in working with Devon SACRE in reviewing the Agreed Syllabus.

36

National Developments: RE Commission, Ofsted
Mr Pawson reported on an ITV South West TV interview with 17 year old Alizeh Abdul
Rahman and her campaign to highlight the benefits of religious education in schools. The
interview could be seen at the Fixers website below. It was suggested to involve Fixers in the
planning for next year’s Holocaust Day.

Page 172

Agenda Item 15
CABINET

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education: 6/02/18

http://www.fixers.org.uk/index.php?module_instance_id=11312&core_alternate_io_handler=vi
ew_fixer_news_video&data_ref_id=16587&news_data_ref_id=16586&video_no=1#.WjV5xoL
JpJc.facebook
Mr Pawson also reported on the Commission on Religious Education’s aims to review the
legal, education and policy frameworks for RE and its interim report and key
recommendations which included:






a National Entitlement for Religious Education;
holding schools to account for their provision and quality of RE;
a renewed and expanded role for SACREs;
a national plan for improving teaching and learning in RE; and
exploring right to withdrawal.

The final report was due to be published in September and a copy sent to the Secretary of
State.
Mr Pawson apprised Members of the correspondence between Gill Tewkesbury, Peter
Heaton-Jones MP and the Rt Hon Nick Gibb MP, Minister of State for School Standards,
raising concerns at the low number of children being taught RE in schools. The Minister’s
letter explained that an Independent Commission on RE, partly informed by the ‘State of the
Nation’, was currently reviewing the delivery of RE in schools and recently published its
interim report, with a final report due next year.
RESOLVED that a letter be sent in response to the Minister of State for School Standards
reiterating the concerns raised.

37

Monitoring RE in Devon schools
SACRE members were asked to undertake some monitoring of RE on the curriculum from
their local school websites and to feedback their findings to Mr Pawson. All schools had to
have a curriculum statement available online. Mr Pawson would circulate some instructions
on how to search the school websites.
It was questioned if there was any data available for special schools and it was suggested to
raise this point with the Sentient Trust, who dealt with special schools.

38

Launch of RE definitions
Mr Pawson advised of the launch of a new website re-definitions.org.uk and app for RE
teachers giving them handy access to the pronunciation and meaning of more than 200 key
terms, covering all religions and beliefs.

39

Planned CPD for Devon schools
Planned courses for RE CPD:




Primary course – 1 March 2018
GCSE updates for North Devon schools, Ilfracombe Academy – 27 March 2018
Raising the Grade at GCSE, Tiverton Hotel – 11 June 2018

Further information on courses and bookings were available at www.babcockeducation.co.uk/ldp/cpd

40

SW SACRE Conference: Monday 5th March 2018, Dillington House
Those interested in attending the SW SACRE Conference on 5 March 2018 were Mrs T
Wilson, Mrs J Taylorson and Mr J Roberts.

Page 173

Agenda Item 15

CABINET
Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education: 6/02/18

The course was at Dillington House in Somerset and car sharing was suggested.

41

Next Meeting
Tuesday 5 June 2018 at County Hall, Exeter at 10.00 am.

42

Introduction to Exeter Mosque
Imam Mohamed Abrah was welcomed to the meeting and gave an introduction to the Exeter
Mosque. He explained that around 4000-5000 visitors were welcomed to the Mosque each
year and, although its resources were limited, it did have many volunteers. There were
approximately 3000 Muslims in and around Exeter.
The Imam advised that the Mosque had various safeguarding policies in force and that DBS
checks were carried out on members of the Mosque in contact with children.
The Mosque also carried out school visits and Open Days were held every few months. The
next Open Day was on 18 February 2018 from 2 – 5 pm and would be open to all.
SACRE extended their thanks to the Imam for speaking to the meeting and for allowing the
Mosque to be used for its meeting.

The Meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 12.32 pm

Page 174

DEVON AUTHORITIES STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE
7/02/18

DEVON AUTHORITIES STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE
7 FEBRUARY 2018
Present:Councillors Wood (Chair), A Davis (Vice-Chair), K Lake, R Sampson, T Wright, R Cann and
C Eginton
Apologies:Councillors M King and R Gilbert

*

19

Minutes
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2017 be signed as a correct
record.

*

20

Items Requiring Urgent Attention
There was no item raised as a matter of urgency.

*

21

Chair's Announcements
The Chair made the following announcements, namely:(a) that Mr Hipkins attended the meeting in his capacity as a Co-opted Member of the
Council’s Standards Committee to observe and monitor compliance with the Council’s
ethical governance framework.
(b) an invitation was extended to the Committee to attend the Recycle Devon Thank You
Awards for Recycling Heroes, taking place on 16 March 2018 at 2.00pm at County
Hall.

*

22

Waste Compositional Analysis - October 2017
The Committee received the Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure
Development and Waste (HIW/18/4) setting out the results of the Waste Compositional
Analysis carried out on residual waste in October 2017, compared with the analysis carried
out in 2012.
The Chief Officer advised that Devon was the top county in the UK for residual waste
disposed of per house in 2016/17 and ranked third in the recycling league at 55.7% which
was good news for Devon in highlighting the significant in-roads that had been made into
reducing, reusing, recycling and composting household waste, which meant reduced costs
and reduced environmental impact of waste management.
The Chief Officer further reported, however, that one of the key findings in Devon indicated
that there was still a significant amount of food waste in the residual bins. The percentage of
food waste in residual waste varied across districts. In Devon and Torbay, 83.7% and 79.5%
respectively, was deemed avoidable waste.
It was MOVED by Councillor Wood, SECONDED by Councillor Davis and
RESOLVED that the Report be noted and that its data be used to inform future behavioural
change work and service changes; and that a waste compositional analysis be carried out
every five years, subject to the availability of funding.

Page 175

2
DEVON AUTHORITIES STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE
7/02/18
*

23

Waste Education
The Committee received the Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure
Development and Waste (HIW/18/4) which presented Devon’s Waste Education Strategy and
Action Plan and a summary of the Waste Education Programme available to schools. The
Strategy’s aim was to promote and encourage learning and practical action to reduce waste
and improve resource efficiency in Devon’s schools and their surrounding communities.
The Chief Officer explained the Waste Action Support Programme (WASP), which aimed to
engage schools with targeted workshops and assemblies, with Whitchurch Primary School
and Withycombe Raleigh Primary School highlighted as being examples of good practice,
having significantly increased their recycling and composting rates.
The Chief Officer further advised that the Council had worked with contractors and Waste
Collection Authorities to offer school visits to Recycling Centres and Energy from Waste
facilities in both Plymouth and Exeter. Resources included a Zone Website
http://zone.recycledevon.org, a Sustainability Bulletin and Waste and Recycling collection
provisions in schools. Further, following the recent publication of the Government’s new Litter
Strategy for England and the increased public interest in plastics, the Waste Education team
would be promoting the litter resources to both schools and community groups, such as
scouts and guides.
It was MOVED by Councillor Wood, SECONDED by Councillor Davis and
RESOLVED that the Committee endorse the new Waste Education Strategy and Action Plan.

*

24

Community Action Groups Devon (CAG Devon)
The Committee received the Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure
Development and Waste (HIW/18/5) summarising the CAG Devon project, which was a
Community Engagement project providing support to community groups, schools and
individuals in organising community events and projects in Tiverton and the surrounding area.
Resource Futures were awarded the Council’s contract in May 2016 for development of the
community project.
The Report highlighted the work that Resource Futures had undertaken with Oxford County
Council in developing an online tool, Resource CIT and explained that the data collected via
this tool had been used to create an infographic showing that the project was already making
good progress working with the local communities of Mid Devon.
The Committee also received a presentation delivered by the Community Engagement Coordinator for Resource Futures, Ruth Leonard-Williams, highlighting, in particular, close
working with Tiverton Area Communities Transition (TACT); Repair Cafes, Sewing Sessions
and the Refill Devon initiative. Information was available on the website at
www.cagdevon.org.uk.

*

25

Hot Topic: Plastics
The Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste reported on the Hot
Topic of Plastics which highlighted the following, in particular:







types of plastic recycled and amounts collected in 2016/17;
impact of China and impact on Devon’s plastic markets;
DEFRA 25 Year Environment Plan;
work with the Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP);
charging at household waste and recycling centres; and
fly tipping data.

A copy of the presentation would be circulated to Members.

Page 176

DEVON AUTHORITIES STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE
7/02/18
*

26

Future meetings
27 June 2018 and 17 October 2018.

*DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT
The Meeting started at 2.15 pm and finished at 3.38 pm

Page 177

1
FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE
12/02/18

FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE
12 February 2018
Present:County Councillors:
Councillors C Chugg (Chair), J Brook, J Berry, A Dewhirst, T Inch, C Whitton and J Yabsley
Co-opted Members:
Mrs L Warner (Tenants’ representative)
In attendance
Mr C Latham
*

31

Minutes
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2018 be signed as a
correct record.

*

32

Items Requiring Urgent Attention
There was no item raised as a matter of urgency.

*

33

Tenants' Representation
The Chair welcomed Mrs L Warner to the Committee as the new Tenants’ representative in
place of Mr C Latham. The Chair also extended her thanks to Mr Latham for his involvement
and contribution to the Committee.

*

34

Revenue Monitoring (Month 9) 2017/18
The Committee received the Report of the County Treasurer (CT/18/14) on the County Farms
Estate Month 9 Revenue Monitoring Statement for 2017/18, noting the target surplus of
£382,000 and detailing income and expenditure to date.
Members raised concern at the limited amount of actual expenditure at Month 9 and asked if
the planned expenditure would be delivered by year end. The Director of Estate and Asset
Management at NPS explained that he had been assured that, although not an ideal position
to be in, the substantial programme of maintenance work committed and being committed
would be spent by year end and thus the target surplus of £382,000 would be deliverable.
The Property Maintenance and Compliance Manager for the County Council stated that the
County Farms Estate were in a similar position to the Corporate Estate in that, whilst it would
be preferable to spread the programme of work over the full year, by avoiding the peak times
for contractors to be working on other larger Council maintenance work programmes, could
generate better value for money for the Corporate and Farms Estates.
The Director of Estates and Asset Management at NPS added that some of the 2018/19
programmed maintenance works, such as the external decorations programme, had already
been commissioned so that the works could be specified and tendered in advance of the peak
summer school holiday season when most Council contractors would be working on other
Council work programmes.

Page 179

2
FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE
12/02/18
*

35

Capital Monitoring (Month 9) 2017/18
The Committee received the Report of the County Treasurer (CT/18/13) on the County Farms
Estate Month 9 Capital Monitoring Statement for 2017/18, noting that the approved capital
programme for 2017/18 included schemes totalling £600,000 and with scheme slippage of
£1,483.554 resulted in a capital programme for 2017/18 of £2,083.554.
The budgeted programme for Enhancements and Improvements stood at £1,050,209 and
was forecast to come in at £585,629, resulting in £374,258 slippage and £90,322 costs
savings.
The Committee were happy to note the cost savings of £90,322, but raised concern at the
amount of slippage, which the Director of Estate and Asset Management at NPS explained
was because of the works to be carried out being dependent upon suitable timing (as
mentioned above) and weather conditions.

*

36

Management and Restructuring Issues
The Committee received the Report of the Head of Digital Transformation and Business
Support (BSS/18/01) on County Farms Estate Management and Restructuring issues.
(a) Churchlands Farm, Ermington
It was MOVED by Councillor Brook, SECONDED by Councillor Berry and
RESOLVED that the reletting of the farmhouse, buildings and 37.19 acres or thereabouts of
land at Churchlands Farm, Ermington as an equipped residential mixed livestock holding on
the open market to new entrants on a Farm Business Tenancy commencing 25 March 2019
and expiring 25 March 2026, be approved, subject to terms being agreed.
(b) The Rose Ash and Knowestone Estate
It was MOVED by Councillor Brook, SECONDED by Councillor Berry and
RESOLVED
(i) that the acceptance of the tenant’s early surrender of East Catkill Farm, Rose Ash
effective at 29 September 2018 be endorsed; and
(ii) that the reletting of the house, buildings and 188.08 acres or thereabouts of land at
East Catkill Farm, Rose Ash as an equipped residential dairy holding on the open
market to new entrants and on a Farm Business Tenancy commencing 29 September
2018 and expiring 25 March 2026, be approved, subject to terms being agreed.
(c) The High Bickington Estate
It was MOVED by Councillor Brook, SECONDED by Councillor Inch and
RESOLVED that advertising locally the 0.27 acres of land to let on a series of fixed term
licences until further notice, be approved, subject to terms being agreed.

*DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT
The Meeting started at 2.15 pm and finished at 2.43 pm
1. The Minutes of this Committee are published on the County Council’s Website.
2. These Minutes should be read in association with any Reports or documents referred to therein, for a complete record.
3. Members of the Council have been granted a dispensation to allow them to speak and vote in any debate as a consequence
of being a representative of the County Council on any County Council wholly owned, controlled or joint local authority
company or Joint Venture Partnership unless the matter under consideration relates to any personal remuneration or
involvement therein.

Page 180

3
FARMS ESTATE COMMITTEE
12/02/18

Page 181

Cabinet
14 March 2018

SCHEDULE OF CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE PREVIOUS MEETING
Cabinet Remit/Officer
Matter for Decision
Community, Public Health
Transportation & Environment
Economy & Skills
Children’s
Services
and
Schools

Approval to the proposed methodology for calculating and requesting developer contributions
towards the expansion of GP surgeries.
Devon County Council Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) Annual Review 2016-2017
Approval to consult on a proposal to enlarge Culmstock Community Primary School from a capacity of
105 places to 140 places with effect from September 2018
Approval to proceed to bring the management, delivery and employment for the Portage service
directly within the remit of the Council.

Effective Date
14 February 2018
23 February 2018
27 February 2018
1 March 2018

Page 183

The Registers of Decisions will be available for inspection at meetings of the Cabinet or, at any other time, in the Democratic Services & Scrutiny
Secretariat, during normal office hours. Contact details shown above.
In line with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014,
details of Decisions taken by Officers under any express authorisation of the Cabinet or other Committee or under any general authorisation within the
Council’s Scheme of Delegation set out in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution may be viewed at https://new.devon.gov.uk/democracy/officer-decisions/

Agenda Item 16

1

DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL

COUNCIL/CABINET FORWARD PLAN

In line with the public’s general rights of access to information and the promotion of transparency in the way which decisions are taken by or on behalf of the Council, Devon
County Council produces a Forward Plan of any Key Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet and any Framework Decisions to be made by the County Council. The Plan normally
covers a period of a minimum of four months from the date of publication and is updated every month.
The County Council has defined key decisions as those which by reason of their strategic, political or financial significance or which will have a significant effect on communities in
more than one division are to be made by the Cabinet or a Committee of the Cabinet. Framework Decisions are those decisions, which, in line with Article 4 of the Council’s
Constitution must be made by the County Council.

Page 185

The Cabinet will, at every meeting, review its forthcoming business and determine which items are to be defined as key decisions and the date of the meeting at which every such
decision is to be made, indicating what documents will be considered and where, in line with legislation, any item may exceptionally be considered in the absence of the press and
public. The revised Plan will be published immediately after each meeting. Where possible the County Council will attempt to keep to the dates shown in the Plan. It is possible that
on occasion may need to be rescheduled. Please ensure therefore that you refer to the most up to date Plan.
An up to date version of the Plan will available for inspection at the Democratic Services & Scrutiny Secretariat in the Office of the County Solicitor at County Hall, Topsham
Road, Exeter (Telephone: 01392 382264) between the hours of 9.30am and 4.30am on Mondays to Thursdays and 9.30am and 3.30pm on Fridays, free of charge, or on the County
Council’s web site, ‘Information Devon’, (http://www.devon.gov.uk/dcc/committee/) at any time.

1

Agenda Item 17

Copies of Agenda and Reports of the Cabinet or other Committees of the County Council referred to in this Plan area also on the Council’s Website at
(http://www.devon.gov.uk/dcc/committee/mingifs.html)

All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise indicated for the reasons shown
Any person who wishes to make representations to the Council/Cabinet about (a) any of the matters proposed for consideration in respect of which a decision is to be
made or (b) whether or not they are to be discussed in public or private, as outlined below, may do so in writing, before the designated Date for Decision shown, to The
Democratic Services & Scrutiny Secretariat, County Hall, Exeter, EX2 4QD or by email to: members.services@devon.gov.uk

PART A - KEY DECISIONS
(To Be made by the Cabinet)
Date of
Decision

Matter for
Decision

Consultees

Means of
Consultation**

Page 186

Documents to be considered in making decision

County Council
Electoral Division(s)
affected by matter

Regular / Annual Matters for Consideration

11
April
2018

County Road Highway Maintenance Revenue
Budget and On Street Parking Account
Allocation of highway maintenance funding
allocated by the Council in the budget for the
current/forthcoming financial year

N/A

N/A

Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure
Development and Waste outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

11
April
2018

County Road Highway Maintenance Capital
Budget
Update on current years programmes and
approval of schemes and proposed programmes
for forthcoming financial year

N/A

N/A

Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure
Development and Waste outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

8 February
2019

Admission Arrangements and Education Travel
Review: Approval to admission arrangements for
subsequent academic year

Schools, GBs
and Phase
Associations

Formal
consulation
and Devon
Education
Forum

Report of the Chief Officer for Childrens Services
outlining all relevant considerations, information and
material including any equality and / or impact
assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

2

Agenda Item 17

FORWARD PLAN

8 February
2019

Target Budget: Target Budget: Impact of the
Provisional Local Government Settlement for
forthcoming year on the preparation of that year's
budget and affirmation/re-affirmation of service
expenditure targets

N/A

N/A

Report of the outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Specific Matters for Consideration
Future Direction of Network Management

n/a

n/a

Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure
Development and Waste outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

14 March
2018

Flood Risk Management Action Plan – Update on
the current year’s programme and approval of
schemes and proposed investment in 2018/19

All other Risk
Management
Authorities

Liaison
through Devon
Operational
Drainage
Group

Report of the Head of Planning, Transportation and
Environment outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Page 187

14 March
2018

Strategic Review of Special Educational Needs
Provision

Report of the Head of Education and Learning
outlining all relevant considerations, information and
material including any equality and / or impact
assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

14 March
2018

Budget Monitoring: Month 10

Report of the County Treasurer outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

14 March
2018

Department for Transport Consultation on
Proposals for the creation of a Major Road
Network: Devon County Council response

N/A - DCC is a
consultee

DfT
Consultation

Report of the Head of Planning, Transportation and
Environment outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

14 March
2018

Sponsorship of Highway Assets

N/A Consultations
post Cabinet
decision

N/A

Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure
Development and Waste outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

14 March
2018

Integration Update with NHS

TBC

TBC

Report of the Head of Adult Commissioning and
Health outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

3

Agenda Item 17

14 March
2018

Public, HoSW
LEP\LTB,
District
Councils,
Stakeholders
and Delivery
Partners

LTP 20112026
consultation,
meetings,
planning
applications
and local plan
consultation

Report of the Head of Planning, Transportation and
Environment outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Between
11
April
2018 and 9
May 2018

Regional Adoption Agency:
Approval to Options Appraisal and Business Case
for the interim Devon Single LA Hosted RAA
(Minute *181/12 April 2017 refers)

Partner
Authorities

Meetings and
correspondenc
e

Report of the Head of Children’s Social Care (Deputy
Chief Officer) outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

11
April
2018

Technology Enabled Care and Support (TECS)
Strategy

Report of the Head of Adult Commissioning and
Health outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Report of the Chief Officer for Childrens Services
outlining all relevant considerations, information and
material including any equality and / or impact
assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Report of the Chief Officer for Childrens Services
outlining all relevant considerations, information and
material including any equality and / or impact
assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Report of the Head of Planning, Transportation and
Environment outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

Bickleigh & Wembury;
Ivybridge; South Brent
& Yealmpton

11
April
2018

Children in Care - Placement Sufficiency

11
April
2018

Children and Young People Plan
Approval to Children & Young People’s Plan for
2018 onwards

11
April
2018

Sherford Main Street: Approval to appointment of
contractor and construction

TBC

Community
and
Stakeholders
as part of
planning
process and
Highways
England,
Plymouth City
Council, and
South Hams
District Council
as part of
design
process.

TBC

Community
and
Stakeholder
consultation as
part of
planning
process.

4

Agenda Item 17

Transport Capital Programme 2018/19
For approval

Page 188

11
April
2018

11
April
2018

Vision for Adult Social Care

Report of the Head of Adult Commissioning and
Health outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

11
April
2018

Update of Adult Social Care Five Year Plan

Report of the Head of Adult Commissioning and
Health outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

16
May
2018

Accommodation Strategy

Report of the Head of Adult Commissioning and
Health outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

16
May
2018

Strategic Intent: Doing What Matters
Review of existing Strategic Plan

Report of the Chief Executive outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

n/a

n/a

Page 189

16
May
2018

Adult Services Market Sufficiency

Report of the Head of Adult Commissioning and
Health outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

16
May
2018

Disabilities Delivery Plan

Report of the Head of Adult Commissioning and
Health outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Agenda Item 17

5

(Requiring approval of the County Council)
Date of
Decision

Matter for
Decision

Consultees

15 January
2019

Pay Policy Statement
Recommendation to County Council in February of
each year to approve, in accordance with the
provisions of the Localism Act 2011 of the
Councils Annual Pay Policy Statement setting out
its policy for each financial year relating to
remuneration of Chief Officers and other
employees and the relationship between the pay of
chief officers and other employees

Appointments
&
Remuneration
Committee

Revenue Budget, Medium Term Financial
Strategy & Capital Programme for next subsequent
financial year and beyond

Public,
Stakeholders,
Trades
Unions,
Business and
Voluntary
Sectors and
public

Page 190

14
February
2019

8 February
2019
14
February
2019

Means of
Consultation**

Documents to be considered in making decision

County Council
Electoral Division(s)
affected by matter

Public Meeting

Report of the outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Statutory
consultations,
meetings, fora
and public
meetings,
correspondenc
e and website

Report of the County Treasurer outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

6

Agenda Item 17

PART B -FRAMEWORK DECISIONS

PART C - OTHER MATTERS
(i.e. Neither Key Nor Framework Decisions)
Date of
Decision

Matter for
Decision

Consultees

Means of
Consultation**

Documents to be considered in making decision

County Council
Electoral Division(s)
affected by matter

Regular / Annual Matters for Consideration
As necessary

Report of the outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Between
14 March
2018 and 1
May 2021

Standing items on the future management,
occupation, use and improvement of individual
holdings and the estate, monitoring the delivery of
the Budget & the Estate Useable Capital Receipts
Reserve in line with the approved policy and
budget framework
[NB: Items relating to the letting or occupancy of
individual holdings may contain information about,
or which is likely to reveal the identity of, an
applicant for a holding and about the financial and
business affairs of the Council and any prospective
or existing tenant that may need to be discussed in
the absence of the press and public]

To be
considered at
the Farms
Estates
Committee,
including any
advice of the
Council’s
Agents NPS
South West
Ltd

Report of the County Treasurer, Head of Digital
Transformation and Business Support outlining all
relevant considerations, information and material
including any equality and / or impact assessments, as
necessary.

All Divisions

16
May
2018

Public Health Annual Report
Receipt of statutory annual report on the health of
people in Devon by the Director of Public Health.

N/A

JSNA

Report of the Chief Officer for Communities, Public
Health, Environment and Prosperity outlining all
relevant considerations, information and material
including any equality and / or impact assessments, as
necessary.

All Divisions

Between
16
May
2018 and
14
June
2018

Approval to Revenue & Capital Outturn, for the
preceding financial year

N/A

N/A

Report of the County Treasurer outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Between
14 March
2018 and 1
May 2021

7

Agenda Item 17

Standing Items, as necessary (Minutes,
References from Committees, Notices of Motion
and Registers of Delegated or Urgent Decisions)

Page 191

Between
14 March
2018 and
31
December
2019

July

Annual Childcare Sufficiency Report:
Endorsement of Annual report outlining how the
Council is meeting its statutory duty to secure
sufficient early years and childcare places and
identifying challenges and actions for the coming
year in relation

Interested
parties and
partners and
schools and
parents

11
2018

July

Treasury Management Stewardship Outturn
Report

Corporate
Services
Scrutiny
Committee

Devon Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report
2017
To receive the Annual Report of the Devon
Safeguarding Adults Board
Treasury Management Stewardship - Mid Year
Position

14
November
2018

Page 192

12
December
2018

Report of the Head of Education and Learning
outlining all relevant considerations, information and
material including any equality and / or impact
assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

n/a

Report of the County Treasurer outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

N/A

N/A

Report of the Democratic Services and Scrutiny
Manager outlining all relevant considerations,
information and material including any equality and / or
impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

N/A

N/A

Report of the County Treasurer outlining all relevant
considerations, information and material including any
equality and / or impact assessments, as necessary.

All Divisions

Specific Matters for Consideration

8

Agenda Item 17

11
2018

